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1 Accell Group at a glance

 Highlights 2015

Profile
Accell Group is active across the world in the middle and higher segments of the markets for bicycles and bicycle
parts and accessories. The company is market leader in Europe and is among the largest players in North America
in terms of sales via specialist bicycle and sports retailers. Accell  Group is also Europe’s market leader in electric
bikes.The  company’s  portfolio  includes  strong  national  brands  and  leading  international  (sports)  brands  that
together provide an extremely complete and complementary range of products. 

Accell  Group has  around 3,000 employees in  18 countries,  with  its  own support  facilities  for  the  assembly  and
spray painting of bicycles in six countries. In 2015, Accell Group sold a total of 1.6 million bicycles in more than 70
countries  (including  export).  The  group  booked  a  total  turnover  of  €  986  million.  The  company  head  office  is  in
Heerenveen.  Accell  Group  shares  are  traded  on  the  official  market  of  Euronext  Amsterdam  and  included  in  the
Amsterdam Small Cap Index (AScX).

Turnover 

Board of Directors



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Accell Group at a glance 3

History

Awards 2015

Brands

 



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Accell Group at a glance 4

Company profile

Profile
Accell Group is active across the world in the middle and higher segments of the markets for bicycles and bicycle
parts and accessories. The company is market leader in Europe and is among the largest players in North America
in terms of sales via specialist bicycle and sports retailers. Accell  Group is also Europe’s market leader in electric
bikes.  The  company’s  portfolio  includes  strong  national  brands  and  leading  international  (sports)  brands  that
together  provide  an  extremely  complete  and  complementary  range  of  products  to  meet  every  bike-related
demand. Accell Group has around 3,000 employees in 18 countries, with its own support facilities for the assembly
and spray painting of bicycles in six countries. In 2015, Accell Group sold a total of 1.6 million bicycles (2014: 1.7
million) in more than 70 countries. The group booked total turnover of € 986 million (2014: € 882 million).

Ambition
Accell  Group  wants  to  be  a  leader  in  the  development  of  sustainable  consumer  products  for  short-distance
mobility, active leisure activities and sports. The company focuses on the middle and top segments of the market,
with high-quality, distinctively branded products with a high level of design, comfort and service.

The company believes that providing consumers with added value is crucial in the middle and higher segments of
the  market.  This  is  why  Accell  Group’s  investments  in  innovation  are  above  average  for  the  bicycle  sector.  The
Group’s  innovations  are  focused  primarily  on  applications  for  electric  bikes  and  high-quality  sports  bikes,  both
sectors with strong growth potential.

Accell Group also works very closely with the specialist bicycle and sports retail trade (via both physical stores and
the internet) to ensure they can provide consumers with the best possible individual advice, personal attention and
service.   Accell  Group  uses  this  approach,  combined  with  its  benefits  of  scale,  the  strengthening  of  positions  in
existing markets and the development of new leading market positions in other countries, to realise growth and
value creation for its stakeholders.

Brand portfolio
The  bicycle  market  is  highly  diverse  in  terms  of  characteristics,  preferences  and  taste.  The  Accell  Group  brand
portfolio  can  be  divided  into  two  quite  distinct  groups:  strong  national  bicycle  brands  and  international  (sports)
brands with a greater focus on specific sectors and niches.

Examples of the company’s strong, national bicycle brands include Batavus, Koga and Sparta in the Netherlands,
Winora in Germany, Tunturi in Finland and Raleigh in the United Kingdom and North America. Accell’s well-known
leading international (sports) brands include Koga, Lapierre, Haibike and Ghost. In the bicycle parts and accessories
segment,  Accell  Group has brands such as XLC, which is sold via the specialist bicycle and sports retail  trade. All
brands have their own, specific, strong positioning and are leaders in the country or market in which they operate. 

Culture and organisation
Accell Group has a flat organisational structure with an open culture. Subsidiaries have a high level of operational
responsibility, primarily related to the positioning of their brand(s) in their own markets, while the brand strategy
for  the  country  or  market  is  determined  in  consultation  with  the  holding  company.  This  encourages  an
entrepreneurial  spirit  within  the  Group,  with  a  continuous  focus  on  innovation,  design,  brand  experience  and  an
active approach to the market, through both online and offline channels. 
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Listing
The  Accell  Group  share  has  been  listed  since  1998  and  is  traded  on  the  NYSE  Euronext  Amsterdam  stock
exchange. The share has been part of the Amsterdam Small Cap Index (AScX) since 2008. The listing increases the
transparency  and  discipline  of  the  company’s  management  and  operations  and  provides  additional  access  to
external capital to finance growth and thereby contributes to the realisation of Accell Group’s ambitions. 
 
 
 Reporting framework and guidelines
 
Financial administration
Financial  department  personnel  are  provided  with  directives  and  instructions  pertaining  to  the  set-up  and
maintenance  of  the  financial  administration  and  reporting  systems.  Details  of  these  are  provided  in  a  reference
document. The directives and instructions comply with the prevailing IFRS standards.
 

Transparency benchmark
Accell  Group participates in the Transparency Benchmark (TB),  an annual study of the content and quality of the
corporate social responsibility reports of Dutch companies, and was ranked 74 in 2015 (2014: 77).
 

Global Reporting Initiative
Global  Reporting  Initiative  (GRI)  is  the  international  standard  in  the  field  of  sustainability  reporting.  Accell  Group
reports on the basis of the GRI G4 ‘Core’. You can find the GRI list of contents on the Accell Group website. Accell
Groupdid  not  receive  external  assurance  with  respect  to  the  GRI  G4  ‘Core’  because  it  did  not  ask  the  auditor  to
provide such assurance.
 

Corporate Governance code
Compliance  with  the  Corporate  Governance  code  is  described  in  chapter  6  -  'Governance  &  Compliance'  of  this
annual report.
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Worldwide

 



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Accell Group at a glance 8

Business model

Accell Group is active in two segments: bicycles, and bicycle parts & accessories. The two
sets of products are complementary, which means Accell Group can provide both dealers
and  consumers  with  the  most  complete  selection  possible.  At  the  same  time,  each
segment  has  its  own  dynamics,  which  results  in  clear  differences  in  terms  of  market
approach and business model.
 
 

Bicycles

Season
Accell Group operates in an international bicycle market, which has a fixed seasonal pattern but can still vary per
country. The bicycle season in Europe and North America, our primary markets, runs from September to August.
And each year at the start of the new season Accell Group launches its new bicycle collections, including product
launches at all the major international bicycle trade fairs.

Peaks  in  bicycle  deliveries  across  the  season vary  from year  to  year,  but  are  virtually  always  in  the  period  from
February through August. The diagram below shows what a typical bicycle season looks like:
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Product range
Accell Group’s bicycle product range covers all key bicycle categories, with high-quality products at all price points
in  the  middle  and  higher  segments  of  the  market.  The  group’s  main  bicycle  categories  are  bikes  used  for
recreational  purposes,  sports bikes and e-bikes.  The product  range per  brand and annual  collection averages 80
different models with a total of 500-700 different products (such as models for women and men, different frame
sizes and colour variations, etcetera).

Close to the market
The  bicycle  market  can  be  strongly  differentiated  in  different  countries.  Each  country  has  its  own  market
characteristics  with  variations  in  popularity,  preferences and taste  in  terms of  bicycle  type and design (look  and
feel). There are also marked differences per market in terms of average price, quality and service, plus distribution
and sales methods. Operating close to each market is crucial to success in the middle and higher segments of the
bicycle  market.  Accell  Group  therefore  combines  one  or  more  strong  national  brands  with  international  sports
brands  in  every  country.  Those  international  brands  target  specific  sectors  and  niches  in  the  market,  niches  in
which the tastes and preferences of end users across the world are far more similar. These brands are exported
across the globe, each from their own sales and distribution centre.

Knowing what consumers want
The  sheer  diversity  of  the  bicycle  markets  in  which  Accell  Group  operates  requires  a  carefully  balanced  brand
strategy geared towards an individual look and feel for each brand, segment and country. Accell  Group’s country
organisations regularly conduct market research in the field of bicycles, at brand level and at segment and country
level.  This  research is  conducted directly  among consumers via  consumer panels  or  targeted studies,  as  well  as
through intensive contacts and consultations with the bicycle and sports retail trade.
The market data are collected and analysed at group level,  and key changes in consumer behaviour, preferences
and trends are communicated to the country organisations. This is how we provide ‘efficiency in inspiration’. After
all, this prevents any overlaps in research and ensures the optimal exchange of additional market information and
ideas that is often not an option for smaller players.

Informing consumers well
The bicycle is a complex product with many moving parts and prone to maintenance. Information provision to the
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consumer, directly and through the dealer network is therefore essential. Through the websites of the brands the
consumer is informed in detail about product data, technical specifications and usage. Not only to choose the right
product,  but  also  how  to  use  it  safely  and  correctly.  Every  product  comes  with  a  comprehensive  manual  in  the
language of the country of sale. The dealer network is intensively trained and periodically provided with the latest
information  to  properly  address  the  consumer.  Besides  websites,  we  also  actively  work  with  social  media  like
Facebook to be easily accessible to consumers, also if these are complaints. Every organization has a complaints
procedure to ensure that these are properly  received and processed,  whether coming by mail,  via  the consumer
line, webpage, social media, or through the dealer.

Alert to market developments
To make we have  a  complete  picture  of  the  market,  we maintain  regular  contacts  with  suppliers  and  check  out
developments  at  international  bicycle  trade  fairs.  We  keep  an  eye  out  for  new  materials  and  material-uses,
technology  and  other  innovations,  and  analyse  whether  these  offer  interesting  opportunities  for  (application  in)
Accell Group bicycles. Accell Group also shares this market information with its country organisations.

Distinctive in design, innovation and style
Every bicycle brand has its own design and development team and each year they design new bicycle collections.
Their task is to design new and up-to-date models that meet market demands. Design is extremely important to
remain distinctive. Consumer demand is also important but not the main driver for all companies. Some companies
(such as Koga,  Winora and Lapierre)  develop bicycles beyond expectations.  They provide pleasant surprises with
unexpected, smart innovations.  Accell  Group regularly carries out market research among consumers to conduct
interim assessments of new products and make adjustments.

Each  brand  has  its  own  unique  position.  The  positioning  of  the  individual  brands  is  supported  and  optimised  at
group level through portfolio management per brand, segment and country.

Gaining and sharing know-how
The Accell Group companies devote considerable attention to various short and long-term innovation projects and
know-  how  exchange.  The  focal  points  are  comfort,  safety,  riding  properties,  weight,  use  of  electronics,
sustainability and all technology relating to electric bikes.
Accell  Group  stimulates,  organises  and  facilitates  know-how  sessions  for  product  developers  and  product
managers  several  times  a  year,  giving  them  the  opportunity  to  exchange  new  ideas,  share  progress  in
developments  within  projects,  plus  general  market  information.  Cooperation  and  team  formation  in  product
developments and production result in cost savings and the acceleration of innovation projects. This helps Accell
Group realise a short time-to-market.
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Award-winning and patented innovations
Every  year,  various  innovations  find  their  way  through  Accell  Group  and  into  the  bicycle  collections,  whenever
possible with international  patent protection.  Each and every national  and international  award that  Accell  Group
wins  each  year  for  its  new  models  serves  to  confirm  the  group’s  leading  role  in  the  field  of  design  and  the
application  of  innovations  in  bicycles.  You  will  find  the  key  awards  won  in  2015  in  section  3.4  ‘Awards’  of  this
annual report.

Leisure, commuting, home to school
Accell  Group  devotes  special  attention  to  the  development  of  electric  bikes.  The  market  for  electric  bikes  is
changing rapidly. The traditional image of the electric bike as a ‘bike for senior citizens’ is changing to encompass
new  users  and  a  much  broader  range  of  uses,  such  as  active  leisure  time  and  short  and  mid-range  mobility,
including  commutertravel  and  more  frequent  use  for  home-to-school  travel  as  well.  We  expect  the  growth
potential to remain high for this type of bicycle in the long term. The assisted pedalling feature means electric bikes
are both sustainable and relatively high-tech, with lots of room for innovation and the continued development of
applied  technology.  The  available  technology  is  used  across  the  entire  group  and  Accell  Group  subsidiaries
translate it in line with their own brand positioning and values.

Sports bikes
In addition to electric bikes, Accell Group also devotes a great deal of attention to the development of high-grade
sports bikes. We focus on the introduction of new technologies and innovations to help the brands maintain their
leading positions. This market is developing on an international scale and it is therefore far more homogenous than
the local  markets in which Accell  Group is  active.  Accell  Group‘s international  sports brands,  like Lapierre,  Ghost,
Haibike and Koga, work closely together on the development of bicycles, and parts and accessories. Each year, we
introduce key improvements in the field of frames, forks and suspension systems in racing bikes, time trial bikes,
track bikes, MTBs and downhill bikes.
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Targeted marketing
As outlined above, the characteristics of the bicycle market vary widely per country, which makes operating close
to  the  market  crucial.  That  also  applies  to  the  marketing  of  Accell  Group’s  products.  Accell  Group  has  a
decentralised marketing organisation, which ensures that the company has the best possible brand and marketing
strategy for the various markets a brand serves. We use an ingenious marketing communication of traditional and
new media, with both themed campaigns and direct marketing geared at consumers and specialist retailers. The
company also makes sure experiences and best practices are shared across the group on a regular basis.

Sponsoring
Sponsoring  is  an  increasingly  important  marketing  tool,  especially  for  Accell’s  internationally  operating  bicycle
brands.  Brands  like  Koga,  Lapierre,  Ghost,  Haibike,  Diamondback  and  Raleigh  are  highly  visible  at  all  the  major
international cycling events in Europe and North America. For other brands with a much stronger national profile,
the company focuses on local sponsoring.

Efficient sourcing
Accell  Group  cooperates  closely  with  a  number  of  suppliers  in  Europe  and  Asia  for  the  sourcing  of  its  bicycle
components.  Accell  Group  coordinates  this  sourcing  more  and  more  on  central  level,  for  both  the  assembly  of
bicycles and for the sales of parts and accessories,  which enables the company to generate economies of scale.
The  company  regularly  assesses  whether  existing  cooperation  with  suppliers  is  optimal  and  identifies  any
potential efficiency measures and improvements. These assessments take into account both economic criteria and
corporate social responsibility criteria.

Production
Around 60% of all bicycles are assembled in our own production facilities. The 40% of bicycles sourced elsewhere
are mainly children’s bicycles, entry-level mountain bikes and virtually all bicycles for the North American market.
The purchased bicycles are produced in Asia and Europe.

Assembly
Assembly of bicycles close to the market increases flexibility and enables Accell  Group to respond quickly to the
wishes  of  its  customers.  The  company  outsources  (parts  of)  the  assembly  process  whenever  this  generates
attractive cost benefits,  without having to make any concessions in terms of quality and flexibility.  The ability to
produce small series quickly and efficiently is a key criterion, due to Accell Group’s focus on the middle and higher
market  segments.  The  increasing  interest  in  specialties  and  custom-made  products  makes  this  even  more
important. This is why most assembly takes place close to Accell Group’s key markets, which are largely in Europe
and partly in Turkey.

Accell Group production facilities
Accell  Group has production facilities in  the Netherlands,  Germany,  France,  Belgium, Hungary,  Turkey and China.
The  vast  majority  of  bicycle  assembly  is  done  by  hand.  All  production,  assembly  and  paint  technologies  are
employee-friendly and trendsetting in the bicycle industry. All production facilities devote considerable attention to
internal  training  and  the  versatility  of  the  employees.  A  considerable  number  of  employees  in  the  production
facilities  work  on  the  basis  of  flexible  and  temporary  contracts,  which  means  we  can  respond  effectively  to
changes in production levels during the season.
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Sales to specialist retail trade, online support and service
Professional advice and service play a key role in bicycle sales. Accell Group bicycles and parts and accessories are
therefore sold to consumers primarily via bicycle and sports retailers. The online platforms of Accell Group’s brands
play a supporting role in this, in terms of brand experience, product selection and ease of purchase. Whenever
possible, the country organisations and their own brands cooperate closely in their approach to the retail trade.
Consumers  can  order  bicycles  made  according  to  their  own  specifications  via  the  internet,  often  in  cooperation
with a retail specialist - the custom-made bicycle. Among the brands offering custom-made bicycle programmes
online are Koga (‘Koga Signature’), Lapierre (‘Webseries’), Staiger (‘Sinus’) and Haibike.

The specialist retail trade is changing rapidly. Points of sale are becoming larger and more modern.  Internet and
e-commerce  are  creating  new  opportunities  to  increase  brand  experience,  choice  and  selection  and  ease  of
purchase.  These  trends  also  increase  the  opportunities  for  more  intensive  cooperation  between  brands  and  the
retail trade in terms of service and support; in other words, more in-store marketing and direct marketing.

The vast majority of consumers see the specialist retailer as a key partner in terms of advice and service. Not only
in the purchase stages, but also in terms of after sales, when it comes to checking, final assembly and preparing
the  bicycle  for  use,  as  well  as  in  terms  of  buying  parts  and  accessories.   Accell  Group  works  very  closely  with
dealers  selling  our  own  XLC  brand  to  generate  consumer  attention  for  XLC  bicycle  parts  and  accessories  using
special presentation systems and exclusive XLC displays.
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Bicycle parts and accessories

The season for bicycle parts and accessories has a more level sales pattern than the
season  for  bicycles  and  runs  from  February  through  November.  Unlike  the  bicycle
activities, sales of bicycle parts & accessories is a pure trading activity, so Accell Group
has no in-house production activities or new product launches.

Product range
In the bicycle parts and accessories business, it is essential to have a broad and carefully selected product range.
Accell  Group’s  ranges  include  between  10,000  and  20,000  different  products  and  cover  all  key  price  points.  In
addition  to  third-party  brands,  Accell  Group  also  sells  an  extensive  collection  of  parts  and  accessories  under  its
own A-brand XLC. The XLC brand parts and accessories are sold right across the Accell Group organisation, as well
as  via  numerous  distributors  in  countries  where  Accell  Group  has  no  sales  organisation  of  its  own.  The  sales
coverage is virtually worldwide, in terms of countries with a well-developed bicycle culture.

Close to the market
Bicycle parts & accessories depend much more on availability and delivery speed than the bicycle business, while
brand and brand experience are less important. Unlike in the bicycle business, there is no order book for parts and
accessories. Export is often limited to neighbouring countries. To create a Europe-wide network, it is essential to
have local sales organisations with local distribution centres so we can deliver to the bicycle and sports retail trade
within 24-48 hours.

Knowing what consumers want
While  consumers  may be  willing  to  wait  for  delivery  of  a  bicycle,  this  is  different  for  parts  and  accessories.  The
main concern of retailers and consumers is easy availability and short delivery times for parts and accessories. So
the differentiating factors on this front are the availability of a broad, carefully selected product range, an ordering
system  that  is  available  24/7  and  an  efficient  supply  chain.  The  online  market  is  also  more  important  in  this
segment than in the bicycle segment.

Consumers  are  also  far  less  concerned  with  brands  for  bicycles  parts  and  accessories  than  they  are  about  bike
brands, with the exception of the top segment of the market.
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Distinctive in design, innovation and style
In parts and accessories, we have less in-house technological product innovation, and design and style are seen as
secondary factors. However, parts and accessories are adjusted annually to keep them in line with the product and
design innovations of the Accell Group brands. Differentiating potential and individual design and style only play a
role in very specific product categories within accessories, such as helmets, clothes and bags, for instance in the
collections sold under our own XLC brand.

Targeted marketing
Marketing efforts for bicycle parts and accessories are aimed primarily at specialist retailers and less so directly at
consumers.

Efficient sourcing and production
Parts and accessories are pure trading activities for Accell Group. The products sold under our own XLC brand are
unique and always selected in-house. We cooperate closely with the suppliers in this area and they are often the
same  producers  of  the  bicycle  components  and  accessories.  This  means  we  can  safeguard  the  high  quality
requirements we demand for all our products.

Sales via specialist retailers, online support and service
As with bicycles, professional advice and quality service play a key role in the sale of parts and accessories. These
sales are primarily via specialist bicycle and sports retailers, while the online platforms of Accell Group brands play
a supporting role. The various Accell Group country organisations cooperate closely with each other and approach
specialist  bicycle  and  sports  retailers  together  where  possible,  both  in  the  field  of  bicycles  and  parts  and
accessories.
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Keyfigures

(in euros, unless stated otherwise)

  2015 2014 2013 2012
Results (in millions of euros)
Net turnover  986.4 882.4 849.0 772.5

Operating profit (EBIT)  58.5 44.1 33.9 32.7

Net profit  32.3 26.5 19.0 23.3

Free cash flow 1  -31.1 38.3 -30.9 -19.9

 
Balance sheet data (in millions of euros)
Group equity  305.9 281.1 240.0 239.8

Net debt  200.0 152.3 183.5 143.8

Balance sheet total  729.7 631.8 582.1 589.7

Capital employed 2  530.3 461.2 449.6 407.5

Investments in property, plant and equipment  10.8 10.6 6.8 22.8

 
Ratios (in %)
ROCE  11.0 9.6 7.5 8.0

ROE  10.6 9.4 7.9 9.7

Operating profit/turnover  5.9 5.0 4.0 4.2

Net profit/turnover  3.3 3.0 2.2 3.0

 
Data per share 3

Number of issued shares at year-end  25,270,327 24,864,956 24,402,849 23,863,432

Weighted average number of issued shares  25,116,249 24,685,681 24,195,467 22,897,471

Net profit  1.29 1.06 0.76 0.96

Free cash flow 1  -1.24 1.53 -1.23 -0.82

Group equity  12.18 11.21 9.59 9.90

Dividend 4  0.72 0.60 0.53 0.71

 
Average number of employees (FTE's)  3,037 2,796 2,926 2,776
 1) Free cash flow is defined as the balance of the net cash flow from operating- and investing activities.

 2) Capital employed is the balance sheet total minus cash and cash equivalents and current non-interest bearing obligations (including current part of
provisions).

 3) The data per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of issued shares. The data per share for the years 2012-2014 have been
adjusted for the dilution resulting from the issue of stock dividend charged to the share premium reserve in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IAS33). The adjustment factor that was applied in the reporting year for 2014 and for previous years is 0.98422.

 4) The dividend per share relating to the financial year 2014 concerns the proposal to be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Accell Group shares
 
Stock exchange listing
Accell  Group  shares  have  been  traded  on  the  NYSE  Euronext  Amsterdam  stock  exchange  since  October  1998
(symbol: ACCEL / ISIN: NL0009767532). The share has been part of the Amsterdam Small Cap Index (AScX) since
2008. 

As  per  31  December  2015,  25,270,327  ordinary  shares  with  a  nominal  value  of  €  0.01  had  been  issued.  The
closing price at year-end 2015 was € 21.07 (2014: € 13.60). Around 6.1 million Accell group shares were traded in
2015 (2014: 4.0 million),  with an average of around 23,000 shares traded per trading day. The closing price of €
21.07 on 31 December 2015 constitutes a share price gain of around 55% compared with the closing price as at 31
December 2014 (€ 13.60).

 

Share price development
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Disclosures of major holdings and capital interests
In  the  context  of  the  act  on  disclosures  of  major  holdings  and  capital  interests,  the  Financial  Markets  Authority
(AFM) has published the following statement of interests of 3% or more in Accell Group.
 

 

Dividend policy
Accell  Group  strives  for  a  stable  dividend  policy,  aimed  at  paying  out  at  least  40%  of  net  profit.  In  2015,  Accell
Group paid out an optional dividend for 2014 of € 0.61 per outstanding ordinary share. The pay-out ratio was 58%
of net profit and the dividend yield was 4.5% (based on the 2014 closing share price). At the close of the optional
period, 43% of Accell Group shareholders had opted to receive a stock dividend.

Dividend proposal 2015
Given the developments of the financial results Accell Group strives to reduce the pay-out ratio of dividends to an
historically more normal level of around 50%. At the same time, Accell Group feels that in determining the amount
of dividend the costs related to the incident in Taiwan should not be taken into account.  In the fiscal  year 2015,
therefore, shareholders will be proposed to receive a dividend of € 0.72 per share (2015: € 0.61) either in cash or in
stock. Herewith the pay-out ratio amounts to 56%. Based on the closing price of 2015 (€ 21.07) dividend yield is
3.4%.

The use of an optional dividend means a higher pay-out ratio can be used while also maintaining a healthy balance
sheet  for  future  acquisitions.  Accell  Group  believes  this  is  entirely  in  line  with  the  group’s  growth  strategy.  The
optional  dividend  enables  Accell  Group  to  offer  its  shareholders  a  high  dividend  yield  while  also  improving  its
solvency ratio.  The Board of Directors believes that this dividend yield and this form of dividend are competitive
when compared to other listed companies.
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Investor Relations
Accell  Group strives  to  provide  its  shareholders,  potential  shareholders  and  other  financial  stakeholders  with  all
relevant  strategic,  financial  and  other  material  information,  accurately,  meticulously  and  in  a  timely  fashion,  to
improve  insight  into  the  company,  current  developments  and  the  market  in  which  it  operates.  Accell  Group’s
financial year is the same as the calendar year and runs from January through December. Accell Group publishes its
full  financial  results  annually  and  semi-annually.  Accell  Group  also  publishes  qualitative  trading  updates  on  the
company’s  financial  and  operational  developments  in  April  and  November.  Such  publications,  as  well  as  other
(non-financial)  announcements,  appointments  and  explanations  will  also  be  made  in  accordance  with  the
prevailing  regulations  and  the  guidelines  of  Euronext  Amsterdam  and  the  Dutch  financial  markets  regulator
Autoriteit Financiële Markten (AFM).

The  company  organises  meetings  with  (major)  shareholders,  analysts  and  the  media  for  the  presentation  and
explanation of the annual and interim results. Prior to the publication of annual and interim results, Accell  Group
maintains  closed  periods  of  6  and  3  weeks  respectively.  During  these  periods,  there  are  no  meetings  or
conversations with (potential) shareholders, analysts or other financial stakeholders.

In  the  course of  the  year,  Accell  Group conducts  an investor  relations  policy,  both  for  institutional  investors  and
private  investors.  In  the  course  of  the  year  and  outside  the  closed  periods,  members  of  the  Board  of  Directors
regularly  have  one-to-one  meetings  with  major  shareholders  and  interested  institutional  investors.  It  is  worth
noting that the awareness of and interest in Accell Group among foreign investors is increasing. The same is true
for the interest from investors that focus on sustainability and corporate social responsibility, themes Accell Group
also focuses on via  its  products  and strategy.  You will  find more information about  the bilateral  policy  on Accell
Group’s website.

As  in  previous  years,  in  2015  Accell  Group  arranged  meetings  and  company  visits  for  (private)  investors  and
shareholders  at  the  various  Accell  Group  companies.  The  company  also  arranged  regular  interviews  with  the
(financial) media, both during the financial results publication period and outside those periods.
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Financial calendar 2016
The following publication dates and other relevant dates are on the calendar for 2016:

29 March 2016
Registration date General Meeting of Shareholders

26 April 2016
Trading update

26 April 2016
General Meeting of Shareholders

28 April 2016
Ex-dividend listing

29 April 2016
Registration date dividend entitlement

2 May 2016 - 17 May 2016
Optional period dividend

18 May 2016
Determination swap ratio optional dividend

20 May 2016
Dividend payable

22 July 2016
Publication interim results

15 November 2016
Trading update
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Board of Directors

 

Composition of the Board of Directors:

R.J. (René) Takens (1954)
Chairman of the Board of Directors (CEO)

Mr. Takens joined Accell Group in 1999 as CEO. After graduating with a degree in Mechanical Engineering from the
Twente University of Technology, Mr. Takens began his career at the Svedex Bruynzeel Group, where he remained
for  ten  years,  ultimately  in  the  position  of  managing  director.  He  subsequently  spent  seven  years  as  CSM’s
Managing Director for Italy.
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H.H. (Hielke) Sybesma RC (1967)
Member of the Board of Directors (CFO)

Mr. Sybesma joined Accell  Group in 1995 as Finance Manager for subsidiary Batavus. In the years that followed,
Mr.  Sybesma  was  closely  involved  with  various  Accell  Group  subsidiaries.  Mr.  Sybesma  has  been  Accell  Group’s
CFO since April 2001. After graduating in Business Economics from Groningen University, he worked as a financial
consultant with PricewaterhouseCoopers for five years. Mr. Sybesma is also an Executive Master in Finance and
Control (1995, Free University (VU), Amsterdam).

J.M. (Jeroen) Snijders Blok (1959)
Member of the Board of Directors (COO)

Mr. Snijders Blok studied Business Economics at the Twente University of Technology and joined Accell Group in
1992,  initially  in  the  Automation  department.  In  subsequent  years,  he  held  the  position  of  logistics  manager  at
Batavus and Hercules and was later appointed managing director of Batavus. Following the acquisition of Sparta in
1999, he was appointed Managing Director of that subsidiary. He has been COO of Accell Group since April 2004.



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Accell Group at a glance 24

J.J. (Jeroen) Both (1964)
Member of the Board of Directors (CSCO)

Mr.  Both joined Accell  Group in  2015.  After  studying Economy in Groningen,  he began his  professional  career  at
British American Tobacco in 1989. Mr. Both held various positions in supply chain, procurement and production. He
has  extensive  international  experience,  in  both  western  and  eastern  Europe,  as  well  as  in  Asia,  where  he  was
supply  chain  director  and  in  charge  of  the  introduction  and  management  of  British  American  Tobacco’s  central
supply chain organisations in Moscow and Singapore.
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Message from the CEO
 
We  look  back  at  the  year  2015  with  satisfaction.  Accell  Group  booked  excellent  results  on  many  fronts.  The
popularity of e-bikes in our neighbouring countries had a particularly strong positive impact on sales figures.
We have a strong position in this market segment. On the performance e-bikes front,  we are the undisputed
market  leader.  The  traditional  bicycle  is  losing  ground  a  little,  but  this  is  in  favour  of  the  e-bike.  The  United
States has so far not embraced the e-bike. The return on investment in that market remains below the desired
level.  However,  the  market  is  growing  and  we  are  keeping  a  close  eye  on  developments.  In  addition  to  an
increase  in  the  bicycle  market,  our  bicycle  parts  and  accessories  segment  is  also  showing  healthy  growth.
Turnover  was  up  9%  and  19%  respectively.  Numbers  we  are  pleased  with.  Comet  in  Spain  and  the  Danish
company  Cycle  Service  Nordic  made  a  contribution  to  that  success,  so  the  acquisition  of  those  companies  in
2014 and 2015 is now bearing fruit.

In  2015,  our  employees  demonstrated  just  how  much  innovative  power  the  company  has.  They  once  again
succeeded in developing new technologies and innovations, which resulted in an excellent range of new bicycles.
So  I  am  very  proud  of  the  awards  they  received  in  this  past  year.  No  less  than  13  in  various  categories.  These
successes  also  contributed  to  the  strong  growth  in  Accell  Group’s  turnover  and  result  in  2015.  We  continue  to
make above-average investments in innovation and designs. Developing new ideas has always been our strength,
and our passion.

The picture in the United States is mixed. While we continue to struggle in the traditional bicycle retail sector, we
saw our position improve in the multi-sports chains,  with our brands Diamondback and Ghost doing particularly
well  there.  We  also  introduced  our  Haibike  brand  to  American  consumers  for  the  first  time.  We  have  high
expectations for 2016 on that front. We lost ground on the bicycle parts and accessories front. The developments
in the United States have our full attention. We are working with the management to investigate the repositioning
and the distribution strategy of the Raleigh brand. The same applies to the segment bicycle parts and accessories.

A major shock came with the revelation of a criminal act at an Accell Group subsidiary in Taiwan. However, we are
not letting this setback overshadow the successes of our companies over the past year.
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We  continue  to  professionalise  our  organisation.  We  have  a  strong  foundation  and  are  ready  to  translate
opportunities  and  challenges  into  healthy  growth  figures.  I  am  therefore  also  very  pleased  with  the  arrival  of
Jeroen Both in the Board of Directors. As Chief Supply Chain Officer, he will professionalise the supply chain even
further,  so  we  can  work  together  with  our  suppliers  on  reduced  capital  requirements  at  lower  cost  and  greater
reliability  throughout  the  supply  chain.  We  expect  to  see  the  first  results  of  this  initiative  in  the  second  half  of
2016.

Looking to the future,  we see a positive picture with opportunities for growth in multiple markets.  Trends in the
field of lifestyle, mobility, sustainability, health and exercise will boost the popularity of cycling internationally. We
are ready to grasp our opportunities on that front, too. 

With this Annual Report 2015 we provide insight into both financial and non-financial value creation. Sustainability
and corporate social responsibility are part of our products. It means that we are open to social developments and
include them in our products and activities. Accell Group endorses the principles inherent in the OECD Guidelines
for Multinational Enterprises.

On behalf of the entire Board of Directors, I thank our stakeholders for the trust placed in us. In particular, I thank
our colleagues across the world. Their efforts made an undeniable contribution to our success in 2015. Thank you!

René Takens
Chief Executive Officer Accell Group
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2 Looking to the future

 
 Mission
Accell  Group’s  ambition  is  to  be  a  trendsetter  in  the  development  and  sale  of  sustainable  consumer  goods  for
short-distance mobility and active recreation and sports.
 
 Vision & Strategy
Accell Group’s strategy is built on the following premises:

Safeguarding and strengthening its market positions■

The launch of appealing and distinctive bicycle collections■

Focus on R&D know-how and innovative strength■

Protection of intellectual property■

Active support for the specialist retail trade■

Maintaining its number one position in the growing e-bike market■

Active cost and inventories management■

Realising organic growth and growth through profitable acquisitions■

Utilising synergies and benefits of scale■

Recruiting and retaining talented employees■

Actively responding to sustainable trends such as ‘more exercise and healthier living’ and sustainable mobility■

and stay mobile longer
To build the production and processes in the most friendly way for humanity and the environment.■
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Safeguarding and strengthening the market positions of Accell Group’s strong national brands and
international expansion of the position of its sports brands
Consumers  are  willing  to  invest  in  high-quality  products  and  this  makes  recognisable  and  well-positioned
nationally  strong  brands  important.  A  focused  and  consistent  brand  policy  enhances  our  ability  to  constantly
provide added value to both consumers and the specialist retail trade.

Accell Group’s international top sports brands create excellent opportunities for growth in the countries in which
they are active and for expansion to new countries. Continuous investments with a strong focus on innovation and
design is crucial on this front.

Accell Group’s country organisations operate close to the market and this means they can respond quickly to the
specific demands of consumers, for instance in the production of small(er) series and custom-made bicycles.

We continue to innovate and adapt our products to the tastes and preferences of consumers to ensure the Accell
Group brands remains attractive to their specific target groups. Innovative strength and consumer-focus are the
tools we use to continuously strengthen the market positions of  our brands nationally and internationally on an
organic basis.
 
 

Continuous introduction of appealing and distinctive bicycle collections and increasing added value
The delivery of innovative bicycles is the underlying theme of Accell Group’s brand strategy. Products that appeal
to  consumers.  Although  consumers  are  keeping  a  close  eye  on  their  disposable  income,  there  is  still  a  huge
demand for quality and added value. Delivering added value and maintaining differentiating potential are very likely
to  become  even  more  important.  Ease  of  use,  design  and  safety,  together  with  complementary  parts  and
accessories, play a significant role on this front. Accell Group focuses on active support, intensive cooperation with
the  bicycle  and  sports  retail  trade  and  targeted  marketing  at  the  points  of  sale  in  the  retail  sector,  plus  direct
marketing targeting consumers.
 
 

Focus on R&D know-how and innovative strength
Innovations appeal to consumers. Accell Group invests relatively large amounts in (technical) innovation and aims
to be a leader in this field. The company therefore invests more in product development than the average company
in the bicycle sector. These innovations are increasingly focused on electric bikes and high-grade sports bikes, the
market sectors with attractive growth potential.
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Over the years, the group has built up a strong track record when it comes to innovative potential. The R&D teams
of the country organisations introduce new innovations and product improvements every single year.  And every
year, Accell Group’s strong brands successfully launch bicycle collections with various innovations.

These  innovations  include  spoke  patterns,  the  integration  of  batteries  in  frames,  the  detachable  battery  in  the
frame  and  various  frame  suspension  systems,  such  as  the  new  E:I  system,  all  confirming  the  leading  position
Accell Group and its brands occupy on this front. Another example is the development of the new Speed Pedelec
(up to 45 km/h).
 
 

Protecting the intellectual property of brands, bicycle designs and innovations
The  name  recognition  and  strong  brand  image  Accell  group  has  developed  over  the  years,  together  with  the
development of recognisable bicycle designs within the collections, represent considerable value and Accell Group
protects this value against potential misuse and infringements. In case of misuse by third parties the company will
take action.

Accell  Group  has  contracted  a  consultant  who  specialises  in  this  field  to  combat  both  fakes  and  trademark
infringements using state-of-the-art methods. The protection of intellectual property also extends beyond brand
and model protection to cover specific innovations and product improvements, for which Accell Group holds more
than 40 international patents.
 
 

Actively helping specialist retailers to provide quality in service and sales to consumers and
increasing complementary sales
Close  cooperation  with  the  retail  trade  is  essential  if  you  want  to  make  a  real  difference  in  the  bicycle  market.
Consumers  attach  enormous  importance  to  the  service  provided,  especially  since  they  are  making  a  relatively
expensive  purchase.  Specialist  bicycle  and  sports  retailers  are  in  a  prime  position  to  guarantee  end-users  of
bicycles the very best  possible  service,  specifically  during the purchase process,  with professional  advice,  and in
after sales, with services such as inspection, final assembly and ready-to-ride delivery.
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The use of internet and e-commerce plays a significant role in our cooperation with the specialist retail trade. The
online  functionalities  Accell  Group  offers  via  the  websites  of  its  brands  and  via  social  media  make  it  easier  for
consumers to make well-informed choices when they purchase bicycles and bicycle-related products. We can use
these channels to provide consumers with all the relevant information they need and offer additional services to
increase the ease of purchase in the store.

Accell Group continues to provide the option of assembling and ordering custom-made bikes online. An advanced
application  offers  the  consumer  and/or  dealer  the  opportunity  to  design  a  bike  according  to  their  own
specifications. The company uses data linking to record the information and ordering requirements of the specialist
retailer and the bicycle details.

Accell  Group  is  also  actively  working  to  make  the  back-end  of  the  distribution  chain  more  effective  and  more
efficient.  The  company  is  actively  developing  new  digital  solutions  and  functionalities  that  help  retailers  to
optimise and simplify their store management.
 

Realising growth by maintaining Accell Group’s number one position in the growing market for
electric bicycles, plus strengthening the company’s market position in bicycle parts and
accessories
The electric bike is popular for both leisure activities and for short and medium distance travel. It is a popular mode
of  transport  in  major  cycling  nations  like  the  Netherlands  and  Germany.  On  an  international  level,  demand  for
electric bikes is still limited, but that also means there is considerable potential for growth.

This  is  a  market  with  a  relatively  high  level  of  technology,  which  makes  it  an  excellent  fit  with  Accell  Group’s
innovation-driven approach. The company is well prepared to maintain and expand its leading position in this high
growth market.

Accell  Group is  also  focusing  on  growth in  the  market  for  bicycle  parts  and  accessories.  The  company has  been
active in this steadily growing market for many years. This is a market driven by the growing demand for parts for
maintenance and repairs,  plus  increasing  demand for  accessories  aimed at  increasing  comfort  and functionality.
The  market  for  bicycle  parts  and  accessories  is  complementary  to  the  market  for  bicycles,  but  less  brand
dominated and very strongly service-oriented. Key service aspects are availability, delivery time, a broad product
range and technical support from the specialist bicycle and sports retail trade.

Accell Group has built up strong market positions in various countries and exports parts and accessories across the
world.  Additional  increases  in  scale  and  an  efficiently  structured  supply  chain  are  crucial  to  maintaining  the
company’s differentiating potential and gaining a competitive edge in this market. This makes a Europe-wide – for
the time being - network indispensable.

Accell Group wants to be a highly attractive player for suppliers of parts and accessories and aims to supply them
across Europe, as much as it can via a single point of contact.
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Active cost and inventories management
Active  cost  management  is  a  key  tool  in  Accell  Group’s  aim  to  improve  its  operating  margins  and  competitive
position. The company aims not only for moderate increases in wage costs, for instance, but also actively works to
realise structural cost savings within the group by:

increasing the efficiency of its purchasing and logistical process;■

combining activities;■

creating more integrated country organisations;■

relocating production and assembly when this is considered worthwhile;■

increasing the flexibility of our cost base, so we are in a better position to anticipate shifts in demand across each■

season.

The  seasonal  nature  of  Accell  Group’s  activities  makes  effective  inventories  management  a  major  priority.
Inventories management is the most important tool Accell Group has to optimise its working capital utilisation and
by  doing  so  reduce  costs  and  improve  profitability.  Inventory  levels  vary  greatly  across  the  bicycle  season  and
Accell Group aims to create the best possible balance between sufficient availability during the season and limiting
the  discounts  given  to  retailers  at  the  end  of  the  season  to  reduce  inventory  levels  in  the  run-up  to  the  next
season.
 
 

Realising organic growth and growth through acquisitions
The global bicycle market and related complementary market for parts and accessories are relatively fragmented,
with very few major international players and numerous smaller players in each country. Market consolidation has
accelerated in recent years.

In  terms  of  bicycles,  Accell  Group  targets  not  only  organic  growth  with  its  existing  brands,  but  is  also  explicitly
looking  to  generate  growth  through  acquisitions.  These  may  be  acquisitions  in  markets  where  Accell  Group  is
already active or in attractive new markets.

Accell Group is also actively looking for suitable acquisition candidates to boost its network in the field of parts and
accessories  in  terms  of  returns  and  synergies.  This  means  that  Accell  Group  assesses  potential  acquisitions  in
terms of value and it does not believe in making acquisitions at any price.
 
 

Utilising synergies and benefits of scale
Its scale in the global bicycle market gives Accell Group more commercial power than most of the competitors in its
markets. Accell Group realises scale and synergy benefits in a variety of ways across the group and between the
country organisations. These include:

integration of back office systems;■

centrally coordinated sourcing;■

continued intensification of cooperation with suppliers;■

combining or outsourcing production activities;■

exchange of best practices and know-how in the field of product development, innovations and marketing.■

Initiatives in all of these areas have already resulted in tangible efficiency improvements, but there is still room for
improvement.
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Recruiting and retaining talented employees
Talented  and  motivated  employees  are  important  to  the  realisation  of  Accell  Group’s  ambitions.  Accell  Group
wants  to  offer  its  staff  a  challenging  working  environment  that  suits  their  personal  abilities  and  ambitions.  Our
employees  experience  an  open  and  professional  corporate  culture.  The  company  attaches  a  great  deal  of
importance to the health of the employees, by offering them a safe workplace, training and good career prospects.
Many of the employees are entitled to a share in the profits.
 
 

Actively responding to sustainable trends such as ‘more exercise and healthier living’ and
sustainable mobility and stay mobile longer
The bicycle market is benefiting from a number of key demographic and sustainable social trends that also affect
consumers’ lifestyles. Sustainable mobility solutions also play a role on this front and the purpose of Accell Group’s
products makes them a perfect fit for these trends.

Consumers  are  increasingly  aware  of  their  environment  and  more  and  more  of  them  are  consciously  choosing
environment-friendly  modes of  transport  as an alternative to cars  or  scooters.  Consumers are also more health
conscious and are therefore also choosing to use bikes as a way to keep fit, get regular exercise or get into sports.
Urbanisation is boosting the demand for alternative short-distance mobility solutions, which is in turn increasing
demand for bicycles. Electric bikes also make medium distances easier to bridge for consumers. The ageing of the
population and the fact that people are living longer, stay active for longer and remain healthy until later in life are
also  key  factors  on this  front.  Numerous national  and local  governments  have been encouraging bicycle  use  for
one or more of the above reasons for many years.
 
 

To build the production and processes in the most friendly way for humanity and the environment
Accell Group’s ambition is to integrate sustainability and corporate social responsibility in the company’s strategy
and  operating  processes  as  much  as  possible.  For  Accell  Group’s  strategy  on  corporate  social  responsibility,  we
refer you to chapter 5 of this annual report.
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Targets
In the context of its mission and strategy, Accell Group has set itself the following targets:

an improvement in operating margins;■

a healthy and sustainable return for its shareholders;■

a stimulating working environment for its employees;■

an increase in market share for its existing brands;■

a further strengthening of its leading positions in various countries;■

a greater geographical reach and the acquisition of complementary business;■

a complete range of choices for consumers;■

a healthy financial position;■

responsible and sustainable production.■
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Stakeholder dialogue and materiality

Stakeholders  are  important  to  Accell  Group and have an  impact  on  the  company’s
policies. We are in constant dialogue with our stakeholders and we ensure that dialogue
is followed-up on. For instance, once a year we assess whether we need to amend our
material  themes.  In  addition to the regular  contacts,  Accell  Group holds a  dialogue
session with its stakeholders or a consultation on a specific theme once a year.

Local and regional importance

In  2015,  Accell  Group  companies  initiated  a  dialogue  with  local  authorities  and  advocacy  groups  about  the
importance  of  Accell  Group  to  the  region.  These  contacts  revealed  that  Accell  companies  are  valued  greatly
because  of  their  economic  contribution  to  the  region.  This  is  especially  important  to  smaller  cities,  in  particular
because  of  the  employment  created.  There  was  also  appreciation  for  the  fact  that  Accell  Group  companies  hire
young  people  and  provide  jobs  for  people  with  low-level  education  and  those  who  have  difficulty  accessing  the
labour market. Local authorities experience their relationship with Accell Group as pleasant and without exception
hope that the companies will remain in their city or region for a long time. They consider Accell Group’s innovation
strategy as crucial to safeguarding a long-term perspective for the companies in question. Accell Group added one
material theme in 2015: (local) employment.
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Stakeholders
Below is an overview of Accell Group’s main stakeholders. We describe each group and outline how often and the
methods we use to communicate with them on a regular basis. You will find a description of the material themes
our stakeholders find important in the chapter 5 - 'Society and the Environment' (page 61 onwards).

Employees

People with a fixed, temporary or flexible contract at Accell Group or one of Accell Group’s companies.

Communications
Regular contacts supported by internal newsletters. Accell Group publishes a special CSR newsletter twice a year.
The newsletters and the annual report are the most important sources of information for employees to follow the
developments within the group.

Dealer network

Specialist bicycle and sports retailers that sell Accell Group’s bicycles and parts and accessories.

Communications
Accell  companies  are  in  contact  almost  daily  with  the  dealers  in  their  network,  via  the  visits  of  their  sales  staff.
They organise events for their dealers and meet at (inter)national bicycle trade fairs.

Consumers – bicycles

People who own or will in future own an Accell Group bike.

Communications
In addition to online channels, we target consumers primarily via specialist bike and sports retailers. They receive
information in the form of brochures, for instance. We take stock of the information and product requirements of
this target group by means of dealer visits and through dealer and consumer panels. 
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Shareholders – analysts – regulators

Current and potential shareholders, analysts, and regulators such AFM and DNB.

Communications
Accell Group organises regular contact moments for this target group, such as sessions for analysts and investors
and the annual shareholders meeting. We are also present at conferences and road shows. In addition, we publish
interim and annual results, trading updates, other relevant messages and obviously the annual report itself.

(Local) Authorities

Public sector bodies in charge of (inter)national legislation and the governing bodies or provinces and municipalities
where Accell Group is located.

Communications
Accell  Group  actively  seeks  a  dialogue  with  the  various  public  sector  bodies  if  there  is  reason  to  do  so,  either
directly or indirectly.

Trade organisations – advocacy groups

National and international industry organisations such as WFSGI, EBMA, CONEBI, RAI (NL) and Univelo (FR).
National and international organisations that have a connection with the products of Accell Group, such as ECF, the
Dutch Cyclists Union, and the ADAC in Germany.

Communications
Accell  Group  and  its  companies  are  represented  on  the  boards  of  various  organisations.  In  addition,  we  make
contact at various bicycle-related events and trade fairs.

Suppliers

Companies that supply Accell Group, either directly or indirectly, with bicycles, parts and accessories or services.

Communications
Accell Group companies are in daily contact with their suppliers via their purchasing organisation. Accell Group also
has regular contacts with the main suppliers. (Inter)national trade fairs also provide good contacts.
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Accell Group companies

Companies that are currently part of Accell Group, or will be in the future.

Communications
In addition to the daily regular contacts, Accell Group has specific group consultations with its companies two or
three times a year for each focus area. These are meetings such as the General Managers Meeting (GMM), R&D,
and meetings related to marketing, after-market, production and controllers (finance).
 

 

Value chain
Accell  Group  companies’  main  activity  is  the  development  and  marketing  of  bicycles,  parts  and  accessories.  A
number of companies also carry out production activities, such as the assembly and painting of bicycles.

Aside from the group’s own production activities, we also purchase a major proportion. These are mainly designs
we have developed ourselves, but also standard parts. Transport is almost entirely outsourced to logistics partners
and takes place by truck, boat and train. Bicycles are sold to consumers primarily via the specialist retail trade.
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The  material  themes  for  Accell  Group  have  been  determined  in  consultation  with  our  stakeholders,  taking  into
account the entire value chain. The following steps were taken in this process:

The selection of possibly relevant aspects through a study of current literature, GRI indicators, ISO 26000 and1.
talks with stakeholders.
The assessment of the importance of every aspect through stakeholder consultations and dialogue.2.
The prioritisation of aspects by Accell Group management, taking into consideration the interests of3.
stakeholders, as well as the extent to which Accell Group can influence an aspect.
The determination of the indicators for reporting.4.

 Value chain and innovation
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Vision of socially responsible and sustainable business

“Accell  Group manufactures a sustainable product in a socially  and environmentally
responsible  manner,  based  on  the  premise  that  a  responsible  organisation  is
transparent about its operating methods”

Corporate social  responsibility  to  us  means keeping an open mind to  developments in  society  and incorporating
those  in  our  products  and  activities.  Accell  Group  supports  the  principles  laid  down  in  the  OECD  directives  for
multinational companies.

Sustainable product
Accell  Group  produces  a  sustainable  product  that  contributes  to  a  healthy  lifestyle  and  a  reduction  in  CO2
emissions. We constantly work on the continued development of this sustainable product. A second key priority is
ensuring that production is as friendly as possible in terms of its impact on people and the environment. 

Working on sustainability
We  have  made  enormous  progress  in  the  field  of  sustainability  and  the  environment.  The  policy  for  the  coming
period has a number of focal points:

creating a stimulating working environment for employees, with a focus on enjoyment in their work, safety,●

health and development. People are the heart of the organisation. 
contributing to more sustainable mobility with our products●

boosting our contribution by supporting initiatives that promote sustainable mobility, sports and exercise●

be innovative in making our own activities more sustainable and thus be a trendsetter in the sector●

encouraging suppliers, dealers and customers to operate sustainably●

this is aided by Accell Group’s key position in the value chain and its pivotal function between the various groups●

We consider some aspects of CSR pre-competitive. A joint approach is the most effective in significant collective
aspects. We often take the lead in those instances. For instance, in promoting CSR in the supply chain.
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Organisation
Accell Group has a horizontal organisational structure. The size of the subsidiaries varies from 20 to more than 500
employees.  Subsidiaries  have  considerable  operational  responsibility,  which  focuses  primarily  on  the  position  of
their  brand(s)  in the markets.  They determine the company strategy and related CSR strategy together with the
holding. 

CSR responsibility 
In each of the Accell Group companies, one of the managers is responsible for CSR. These managers are all part of
the ACSI network (Accell Corporate Sustainability Network) and are supported by the holding. The Chief Operations
Officer of Accell Group has final responsibility for the CSR policy.

Membership of industry bodies
Accell Group is a member of various national and international industry organisations and initiatives. A number of
these focus specifically on CSR. Accell  Group has a seat on a large number of boards, such as that of the WFSGI
(World  Federation  of  Sporting  Goods  Industry),  in  national  organisations  such  as  the  Dutch  RAI  association  and
Univelo  in  France,  plus  the  European  umbrella  organisation  CONEBI.  Accell  Group  also  has  a  seat  on  various
committees that draw up safety standards at a European and global level.
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3 Performance of the group

The Accell Group companies were once again successful in 2015. Accell Group intensified
the cooperation between the companies and we are initiating numerous improvements,
especially in the supply chain, and we expect to see the first benefits of these measures
in 2016. Together with the acquisitions in late 2014 and early 2015, Accell Group booked
positive results both in operational terms and in financial terms.

Acquisitions
In early January 2015, we acquired the Danish company Cycle Service Nordic. This acquisition constituted a further
expansion in the parts & accessories segment and is a good fit with our international growth strategy. We strive to
create a full-coverage parts and accessories network in Europe and North America, to ensure we can provide our
markets with optimum service and realise benefits of scale. At the same time, this approach enables us to further
boost cooperation with our dealers and increase opportunities for  cross-selling with bikes.  Our own parts brand
XLC plays an important role in this drive.
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Incident Taiwan
It recently emerged that an employee of one of Accell Group’s own Asian organisations (Accell Asia Taiwan) stole
money  from  the  company’s  bank  account.  Accell  Group  subsequently  initiated  an  investigation  into  the  nature,
cause and impact of this theft. Accell Group hired an international forensic accountancy firm for this investigation
and has immediately requested legal support in Taiwan and reported the theft to the local authorities. After careful
analysis, the investigation resulted in the conclusion that this was an isolated incident occurred at AAT in Taiwan.
The damage to Accell Group is estimated at a maximum of € 4 million. The conclusions of the investigation have
been incorporated in a project plan to further tighten the internal control systems.

 Financial results
Group  turnover  came  in  12%  higher  at  €  986.4  million  in  2015.  Turnover  increased  by  9%  organically.  Currency
exchange  effects  had  a  positive  impact  of  €  34.4  million  in  2015,  largely  due  to  the  exchange  rates  for  the  US
dollar, Pound sterling and the Taiwanese dollar.

Added value (net turnover less material costs and inbound transport costs) as a percentage of turnover came in at
31.7% (2014: 30.4%). Absolute added value rose by more than 17% to € 313.0 million (2014: € 268.3 million). The
added value in 2015 was influenced by improved underlying margins, less discounts and sales mix. The sales mix
was more favourable  in  2015,  due to  an increase in  the sales  of  electric  bikes.  On top of  this,  the acquisition of
Comet and CSN made a positive contribution to the higher added value.

Staff costs fell to 12.1% of turnover (2014: 12.2%). The other costs (excluding incidental costs) increased to 12.3%
of  the  turnover  (2014:  12.1%).  Total  operating  costs  (excluding  exceptional  costs)  came  in  at  €  250.5  million  in
2015, or 25.4% of turnover (2014: 25.3%).

The  operating  profit  (excluding  exceptional  income  and  expenses)  rose  to  €  62.5  million  in  2015  (2014:  €  44.8
million). Currency exchange effects had a minimal impact on the operating profit. The result from minority interests
came in at € 0.9 million in 2015 (2014: € 0.4 million), due to a provision on a loan to a minority interest.

The  balance  of  financial  income  and  expenses  amounted  to  €  9.1  million  negative  in  2015  (2014:  €  8.8  million
negative).  The  higher  financial  expenses  compared  with  2014  were  due  to  higher  average  positions  on  bank
accounts.

The  effective  tax  rate  rose  to  33.5%  in  the  year  under  review  (2014:  25.9%)  and  the  incident  in  Taiwan  had  a
negative impact on this rate. Excluding the incident in Taiwan, the effective tax rate was 31.0% and was influenced
by the higher results in Germany and non-capitalisation of compensable losses in North America.

Net  profit  for  the  financial  year  2015  came  in  at  €  32.3  million  (2014:  €  26.5  million).  Net  profit  excluding  the
impact of the incident in Taiwan came in at € 36.3 million, 37% higher than in 2014.
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Financial position
Accell Group’s balance sheet total stood at € 729.7 million at year-end 2015 (2014: € 631.8 million). Total working
capital amounted to € 337.7 million in 2015 (2014: € 269.2 million);  working capital as a percentage of turnover
came in at 34.2% (2014: 30.5%).

The value of inventories increased due to the higher cost prices in general and due to the increase in the number of
more expensive bikes,  which are subject  to a longer than average turnover time.  The value of  the parts in  stock
was up in 2015, due to higher costs prices and accelerated production planning to ensure improved availability for
the market. The total value of inventories stood at € 338.7 million at year-end 2015 (2014: 244.5 million). Accell
Group is planning to take measures to reduce inventory levels.

Accounts receivable stood at € 134.6 million at year-end 2015 (2014: € 133.3 million). With the influence of higher
cost price of the goods in transit and higher inventories of goods the total trade accounts payable increased to €
135.6 million at year-end 2015 (2014: € 108.5 million).

Capital employed rose to € 530.3 million in 2015 (2014: € 461.2 million). The return on capital employed stood at
11.0% at the end of the financial year (2014: 9.6%).

Shareholders’ equity amounted to € 305.9 million at year-end 2015 (2014: € 281.1 million). In addition to the net
profit  recorded in 2015,  the shareholders’  equity was also impacted by the payment of  a  cash dividend of  € 8.7
million (2014: € 7.2 million).

Due to the rise in the balance sheet total, the solvency rate had fallen to 41.9% at year-end 2015, (2014: 44.5%).
Net  debt  (the total  in  loans,  bank credits  and cash positions)  rose to  €  200.0 million  at  year-end 2015 (2014:  €
152.3 million).

Net cash flow from operating activities came in at a negative € 19.0 million in 2015 (2014: € 38.2 million positive).
The operating cash flow before working capital and provisions was 29% higher at € 68.9 million in 2015 (2014: €
53.3 million). The cash flow from working capital amounted to € 68.3 million negative (2014: € 2.8 million positive),
due to higher inventories and accounts receivable. Accounts payable were also higher than the previous year. The
free cash flow came in at € 31.1 million negative (2014: € 38.3 million positive).
 

Earnings per share and dividend
Earnings  per  share  on  the  basis  of  the  weighted  average  number  of  outstanding  shares  (year-end  25,116,249
shares)  came  in  22%  higher  at  €  1.29  in  2015  (2014:  €  1.06).  Due  to  the  issuance  of  398,702  shares  for  the
payment of  the stock dividend for  the 2014 financial  year,  the correction factor  for  the earnings per  share from
previous years is 0.9842.

For  the  2015  financial  year,  Accell  Group  shareholders  will  be  asked  to  approve  the  payment  of  an  optional
dividend of € 0.72 per share (2014: € 0.61), to be paid out in cash or shares. This results in a pay-out ratio of 56%.
Based on the closing price at year-end 2015 (€ 21.07), the dividend return amounts to 3.4%.

In proposing to pay out this dividend, Accell has taken into account that the incidental cost will not result in a lower
dividend.
 

Outlook
Cycling  is  highly  popular,  for  mobility,  environmental  awareness  and  health  reasons.  Bicycles  are  now  lifestyle
products  and  popular  among  young  people.  Thanks  to  the  introduction  and  continued  development  of  electric
bikes, users now have a serious alternative for mobility. Numerous national and regional governments in Europe
and elsewhere continue to promote the use of bicycles as an alternative mode of transport. These developments
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will have a positive impact on the demand for bikes, bike parts and accessories.

Accell Group will continue to expand its market positions. The company’s current position in the middle and higher
segment provides a strong basis for growth and will generate synergy benefits in the short and long term. As an
extension of this strategy, the expansion of its bicycle parts and accessories business will further strengthen Accell
Group’s proposition. In addition to this, Accell Group will continue to actively look for potential ways to increase its
scale  in  2016,  both  organically  and  via  acquisitions  that  fit  the  group’s  profile  and  (brand)  portfolio.  These
acquisitions will  also have to be complementary and add value to the group in terms of returns and synergies in
the  short  term.  Accell  group  expects  the  favourable  underlying  trends,  combined  with  the  improved  macro-
economic conditions and higher consumer confidence to have a positive impact on its results. Further increases in
scale and the utilisation of synergy and efficiency benefits on fronts such as purchasing, production, development
and marketing will boost the group’s competitive strength and its profit potential.

In  line  with  these  expectations  and  barring  unforeseen  circumstances,  Accell  Group  expects  to  record  a  further
increase in turnover and results in 2016.

 Sustainability and innovation
Corporate  social  responsibility  is  a  topic  that  Accell  Group  pays  much  attention  to.  Accell  Group  produces  a
sustainable product that contributes to a healthy lifestyle and reducing CO2 emissions. This also includes that our
production is  as  human and as environment-friendly  as possible.  More information about our  CSR policy  can be
found in Chapter 5 on page 61 of this report.
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Awards 2015
 
Batavus Quip
Batavus Quip was awarded with the special award for Good Industrial Design for Excellence because of originality.
The jury was particularly impressed by the courage of Batavus to be “different”. The Batavus Quip breaks with the
standard looks of a bicycle.

 

Lector ULC World Cup
With  the  Lector  ULC  World  Cup,  a  new  model  in  the  series  of  race-oriented  hardtails  is  introduced.  The  model
features a Tune 29” wheelset and a light carbon frame that keeps overall weight low. Innovative components such
as a full SRAM XX1 fit-out, Ritchey WCS carbon mounting parts, and Rockshox upside down carbon fork give this
bike outstanding ride characteristics.
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GHOST LECTOR WC
This  new  version  of  our  legendary  LECTOR  is  a  race-oriented  lightweight  carbon  hardtail  featuring  29"  wheels
sharing the aggressive, cutting edge design with its multi-award-winning counterpart RIOT, and expands GHOST's
new breed product line. In the past, the name "LECTOR" was used to mark the best models in the GHOST-Bikes
portfolio. This product deserves the name LECTOR all by itself.

 

Diavelo After 5
The  Diavelo  is  one  of  the  world's  lightest  45  km/h  speed  bikes.  This  is  a  premium  quality  bike  for  anyone
demanding  luxury  equipment  at  the  highest  level.  The  frame  is  made  of  autoclave  carbon  fiber  with  a  layer  of
Kevlar fiber to give the frame additional strength. The frame and front fork were designed by Protanium.
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Diavelo ECOFRIENDLY
The wood used for the ÖKOVÄNLIG, meaning 'environmentally friendly', is PEFC certified plywood, harvested in an
environmentally friendly way and manufactured in Germany.  This e-bike has specially designed aluminium parts
that  turn  two  plywood  panels  and  two  wheels,  and  complies  with  EN  and  ISO  standards.  The  easy-to-remove
Protanium lithium battery sits in the plywood sandwich construction.

 

GHOST RIOT 9 LC
This bike combines detailed innovative solutions with a dynamic design. The heart of the carbon fibre frame is the
patent-pending  RIOT-Link,  a  rear-suspension  system  with  a  new  performance  level.  This  mechanical  system  is
discretely  integrated  and  allows  great  balance  in  the  frame’s  design.  Advanced  manufacturing  processes  and
components including the Disconnect brake-mount contribute to the great appearance of the product.
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Raleigh RXC Pro Disc
With its less than 18 pounds, the RXC Pro moves well on roads, gravel trails, mud and grass. It is equipped with a
reliable Di2 shifting, delivering the right gear with the lightest tap. This bike is fun even when the Cross season is
over.

 

Raleigh Clubman Disc
The Clubman felt as if it were at home with speed. This is exactly what I’m looking for in a commuter: dependable
rain or shine, and up for a high-paced adventure or just hanging close to home.
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Yuba Spicy Curry
Yuba  Bicycles  and  Currie  Technologies  teamed  up  to  launch  the  Spicy  Curry,  a  powerful  Electric  Cargo  Bike
designed to spice up urban mobility and enable car-free living. In addition to its powerful centerdrive electric motor
the  Spicy  Curry  has  a  low-rider  cargo  rack,  integrated  lock  tab  and  Yepp  Child  seat  adapters,  and  plug-in  cargo
system with optional truck bed.

 

Haibike s-Duro Hard Four RX Kids 24
This Haibike model was designed to get the young "generation e" excited about e-bikes and cycling. Differences in
strength and endurance are compensated for by the tried-and-tested Yamaha central motor with "zero-cadence
support". Hydraulic disc brakes, a Shimano 9-speed shifting system, aluminium hollow-section rims and Schwalbe
Table Top tyres speak to the high quality components used in this model.
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Winora Radius
A compact e-bike, the Winora Radius is the perfect companion for urban adventurers. Twistable and foldable parts
as  well  as  the  grip  integrated  into  the  top  tube  let  this  e-bike  handle  easily  and  store  comfortably  in  even  the
smallest spaces. This line of e-bikes is powered by a 250W Yamaha PW central motor and a 400Wh lithium-ion
battery.

Diavelo Inflatable jacket
The  Diavelo  inflatable  jacket  is  specifically  developed  for  driving  the  electric  Speedbike  category.  This  jacket
protects against cold and wind when it is inflated. Once folded the jacket occupies a limited amount of space, and
is therefore easily be put into a backpack or a small pocket when not in use.
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Diavelo Stem with integrated display
Protanium electric bike components develops integrated parts for electric bikes, and only recently presented the
integrated  display  for  bikes.  The  display  is  elegantly  integrated  in  the  stem,  but  still  removable.  The  display  is
recharged using inductive charging.  The display is  operated via Bluetooth to the control  board on the handlebar.
The display also function as a key for the electric system.
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4 Performance per segment

 
Following the sale of the fitness activities in mid-2014, Accell Group adjusted its primary
segmentation.  As  from  the  2014  financial  statements,  the  group  reports  in  the
segments bicycles and parts & accessories.  The segmentation is  in  line with Accell
Group’s  strategic  priorities  and  provides  insight  into  the  company’s  underlying
performance.

 
 Bicycles
In the bicycle segment, turnover increased by more than 9% to € 719.0 million in 2015 (2014: € 658.1 million). The
largest increase was in Germany (+ 16%). The average price per bicycle rose to € 437 (2014: € 377) on the back of
the  increase  in  the  turnover  contribution  from  electric  bikes.  Sales  of  electric  bikes  increased  by  20%  and  now
account for 45% of total bicycle turnover (2014: 41%). Turnover in sports bikes was up 5% due to higher sales of the
more expensive sports bikes of the German and French brands. Turnover in traditional bicycles came in 2% higher.
The total number of bicycles sold stood at 1,642,000 (2014: 1,725,000). The segment result was 22% higher at €
56.3  million  (2014:  €  46.3  million).  Haibike  is  now  the  largest  Accell  bicycle  brand  based  on  turnover  of  Accell
Group.  It  is  market leader in e-MTBs and also has an extensive collection of  mountain bikes.  Half  of  the Haibike
turnover is realised in Germany, with the other half coming from all the other countries in Europe and even beyond.
 

Netherlands
Turnover  of  the  total  Dutch  specialist  retail  sector  remained  stable,  yet  Accell  Group’s  bicycle  turnover  in  the
Netherlands was down by 7%. The decline in the turnover was largely the result of the strong competition from e-
bikes and the growth in popularity of  other sales channels.  Sales in the specialist  retail  sector were down partly
due to the impact of the termination of the corporate bicycle scheme in 2014. This sparked a considerable increase
in sales at the end of 2014, with the end of the scheme in sight. Accell Group sales in the Netherlands were down
10%.
 

Germany
In  Germany,  turnover  from bike sales  was up 16%.  Sales  increased by 12%.  This  increase was largely  due to  the
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strong growth in sports e-bikes at Haibike, Winora and Ghost.  Sales of e-bikes produced by Accell  Group brands
were  up  38%  in  Germany.  This  means  Accell  Group  once  again  outperformed  the  market  average  in  Germany.
According to market estimates, the number of electric bikes sold each year in the overall German market increased
to 520,000 bikes in 2015 (2014: around 450,000).
 

North America
Accell Group’s bicycle turnover in North America increased in the multi-sports channel, which is important to Accell
Group. This increase was partly driven by the introduction of the German Ghost brand. Sales at traditional bicycle
dealers (IBD) lagged expectations and declined by some 10% in US dollars. Thanks to the strength of the US dollar,
North American turnover increased when translated into euros. Our French brand, Lapierre, halted sales in the USA
because  of  the  too  low  returns.  Since  the  market  for  electric  bicycles  in  North  America  remains  limited,  the
increase in  turnover  in  that  segment was also limited.  The average price  did  increase.  In  2016,  Accell  Group will
take additional measures to strengthen the position of our own Raleigh brand in the market. 
 

Other European countries
In the Other European countries, the main markets are France, the United Kingdom, Belgium, Scandinavia, Austria
and Switzerland. Turnover in the region increased by 22% last year. In France, bike sales were up, both at Lapierre
and  in  exports  from  the  German  and  Dutch  companies.  In  Belgium,  sales  of  Dutch  and  German  bikes  recorded
particularly  strong  growth.  In  the  United  Kingdom,  turnover  of  the  Raleigh  brand  increased  by  20%.  Turnover  in
Switzerland was higher, primarily due to a rise in sales of the electric bikes produced by our German and French
brands,  both  via  traditional  dealers  and  multi-sports  channels.  Haibike,  Ghost  and  Lapierre  also  have  a  solid
position in Austria and France, largely on the back of sports bikes, and turnover also increased in those countries.
Our own organisations in Finland, Sweden and Denmark are active across the whole of Scandinavia, with sales of
the  Finnish  brands  Tunturi  and  Nishiki  (Finland  only),  as  well  as  our  Dutch,  German  and  French  brands.  Bicycle
turnover in Scandinavia increased last year. In southern Europe, sales to Spain and Italy were up, mainly in sports
bikes of the Lapierre, Ghost and Haibike brands. In Italy, we are active via Atala (non-consolidated), as well as our
French and German brands. 
 

Other countries
In Other countries, Turkey and the Far East in particular are important markets. The turnover in Turkey increased,
Accell Bisiklet is the most important bike supplier. In other Asian countries, turnover is relatively modest and was
comparable  to  2014  in  the  year  under  review.  Bicycle  turnover  in  Japan  increased,  while  turnover  in  Australia
declined. Licensing income from the Raleigh and Diamondback brands worldwide was higher last year.
 
 
 Parts & accessories
Turnover in the parts & accessories segment came in almost 20% higher at € 267.4 million last year (2014: € 224.3
million), largely on the back of the acquisitions of Comet and CSN. Organic turnover growth was 7%. The turnover of
Accell Group’s own brands (mainly XLC) was up by 10%. XLC is growing rapidly and the company’s products are sold
in  more  than  45  countries  across  the  world  via  the  existing  dealer  network  of  bicycle  and  sports  stores.  Accell
Group  has  strong  positions,  especially  in  the  Netherlands,  Belgium,  Germany,  France,  Spain,  Italy,  the  United
Kingdom, Turkey and Scandinavia.  Sales were up in virtually all  European countries where Accell  Group is active.
The segment result came in 46% higher at € 16.8 million last year (2014: € 11.5 million).
 

Netherlands, Germany and North America
In the Netherlands and Germany, turnover increased by 7% and 11% respectively,  with all  of this growth organic.
Germany, which accounts for around 22% of turnover, is Accell Group’s largest market for accessories, followed by
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the Netherlands with around 17%. In the Netherlands, turnover was up on the back of an increase in turnover in e-
bike parts, such as batteries. In North America, turnover in parts & accessories declined in US dollars. Various parts
suppliers have decided distribute their products to dealers directly and that has resulted in lower turnover and a
strong reduction of the number of national brands on offer. A warehouse for parts has been closed down and the
parts are now distributed from two warehouses to improve cost efficiency and working capital.
 

Other European countries and other countries
In Other European countries, turnover was 34%`higher last year. This includes the consolidated full-year turnover
from the acquisitions Comet and CSN.  Turnover  in  France increased and Accell  is  active  in  that  country  via  both
Comet and Wiener Bike Parts. Parts turnover in the United Kingdom declined due to competition from online sales
channels. In Spain, Comet managed to bolster its position in the market. Sales of parts in other countries, mostly in
Asia, are limited.

 
 



“Cooperation is an 
essential to optimise 
our supply chain.  

And I don’t just mean 
cooperation between our 
own companies, but also 
cooperation with our 
suppliers, our partners.”

You started at Accell Group on 
1 April 2015. What was the first 
thing you did?

“When I was first appointed, I took my 
time to get to know Accell and the bicy-
cle industry. Over the first few months, 
I visited a large number of our compa-
nies in rapid succession. During those 
visits, I toured the work floor and tal-
ked to management teams and direc-
tors. I also visited our main suppliers 
and the most important trade fairs in 
Asia and Europe. We talked extensively 
about the supply chain and change ma-
nagement and looked at where things 
could organise the system more ef-
ficiently, faster and more effectively. 
And always with a very clear focus on 
our clients. I have also done a lot of 
desk research, which meant reading 
numerous reports, including monthly 
and annual reports from our indivi-
dual brand companies, plus various re-
search reports from inside and outside 
the group.” 

You talk about matters that could 
be organised better, faster and 
more efficiently. What do you 
mean? 

“The challenge is to develop and in-
troduce a supply chain strategy that 
enables us to respond more quickly to 
market demand, while maintaining a 
high level of service, lower inventories 
and with lower risk levels. This requi-
res an approach in which we look at our 
people, processes, operating methods, 
systems and the structure of our or-
ganisation. It is an all-encompassing 
transformation programme. And in 
addition to simple adjustments and 
short-term solutions, this programme 
also includes a number of changes that 
require long-term solutions that we 
will introduce gradually in the coming 
years. We will target improvements at 
company level, but we will also make 
adjustments at group level where ne-
cessary. We have already started this 
process.”      

Jeroen Both

    



Can you give us some insight into the issues the 
various brand companies are facing? 

“Both my talks with the various companies and the re-
ports show that many of the issues the Accell compa-
nies are confronted with show more similarities than 
differences. The greatest challenges faced by virtually 
all our companies are how to increase delivery reliability 
and the long delivery times for components. At the mo-
ment, we are solving this by maintaining buffers in the 
supply chain. We can do something about that on a com-
pany level, but we will also have to introduce changes in 
planning and purchasing at group level. Our companies 
currently have a considerable amount of freedom and 
that also applies to purchasing policy, planning, logistics 
and distribution. It is crucial that we cooperate more clo-
sely and tackle operational matters at group level, so we 
can make optimum use our scale and work on improve-
ments more effectively.” 

Are these obstacles in the supply chain new or 
has that always been an issue?

“The need to optimise and stabilise the supply chain has 
been around for some time. Thanks to Accell Group’s in-
novative strength, our products have become more and 
more complex. That has made the supply chain longer 
and more complex over the years. We use an increasing 
number of complex components from various regions, 
especially in our e-bikes and sports bikes. This results 
in longer delivery times and also puts the reliability of 
deliveries to the test. The supply chain has come under 
pressure in recent years and we have to respond to that 
in the right way. One way to achieve that is through ef-
fective cooperation and by increasing the transparency in 
the supply chain.”

You say improved cooperation is one of the issues 
that need to be addressed. What needs to change 
in practical terms?

“Cooperation is crucial to optimise the supply chain. And I 
don’t just mean the cooperation between our companies, 
but also cooperation with our suppliers, our partners. 
Some of the relationships we as Accell Group have with our 
suppliers go back a long time, sometimes many decades. 
I believe, in part because of that long-term cooperation, 
we should be able to structure and align processes with 
our suppliers as effectively and efficiently as possible. In 
addition to this, we also want to be able to look to the 
future with our partners, to anticipate developments and 
reach agreements. New and innovative designs provide 
opportunities for our suppliers, but also entail risks. 
Suppliers are keen to participate but they also want to 
see concrete commitments on the part of Accell Group.”

Apart from improved cooperation, what else can 
you do to optimise the supply chain? 

“We have formulated three objectives. Firstly, to 
determine an operating model, in which we outline 
the practical issues we encounter, and the processes 
or working methods we need to tackle those issues. 
Secondly, to involve both internal and external parties in 
the change process. And thirdly, to adjust our information 
systems to the new reality. The standardisation of data 
plays a crucial role in this. And finally, and other crucial 
factor is having the right people in the right places. 
In addition to deploying our own people, we are also 
actively recruiting to develop a professional supply chain 
organisation.” 

What concrete steps will you be taking now? 

“In the supply chain programme we have set up, in ad-
dition to product development, we are going to devote 
specific attention to how we introduce new products in 
the market. Our products include a lot of standard com-
ponents, so makes sense to centralise purchasing for 
those components. Parts that are specific to a brand 
are a different story. We ask suppliers to develop, test 
and produce those components. This frequently means 
extended delivery times and once a product has been 
launched in the market it has to be available and the qua-
lity has to be safeguarded. In other words, we need to 
streamline product launches. That is our challenge.” 

How do you see the (near) future?

“Accell Group is an open and transparent organisation 
and people are enthusiastic about what they do, at every 
level of the organisation. People are passionate about 
their work. That is wonderful to see. At the same time, 
we also have commercial targets we need to meet and 
a further optimisation of the supply chain will help us 
do that. If we can achieve that and at the same time 
continue to anticipate sustainability trends and introduce 
innovations, I believe we have a very bright future. I am 
convinced that we nowhere near our limits in terms of 
the development of e-bikes. There are opportunities we 
can take advantage of by optimising our supply chain and 
cooperating more effectively.” 
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5 Society and the environment

Accell Group produces a sustainable product that contributes to a healthy lifestyle and
reduces  CO2  emission.  An  important  part  of  the  company  mission  is  to  build  the
production in the most friendly way for humanity and the environment. In this chapter
the main CSR data will be presented. Detailed information and data, including the GRI
index, including table of contents, is available on the website in the CSR section.

Accell Group focuses on four points:

With the products, Accell Group contributes to making mobility more sustainable. Accell Group strives to■

strengthen this contribution by actively supporting initiatives that encourage sustainable mobility, sport and
moving.
Accell Group wants to be innovative in making its initiatives more sustainable and trendsetting■

Accell Group has a key position in the value chain and therefore takes the responsibility to stimulate suppliers,■

dealers and consumers to operate in a sustainable manner. Accell Group is an important chain between these
groups. Accell Group recognises a few parts of CSR as pre-competitive, and sees a joint approach as most
effective. Accell Group will take the lead on significant collective subjects, like CSR in the value chain.
People are the heart of the organisation and Accell Group strives to a stimulating environment for its employees:■

fun, safety, health and development.

Organisation
Accell Group has a horizontal organisational structure. The size of the subsidiaries varies from 20 to more than 500
employees.  Subsidiaries  have  considerable  operational  responsibility,  which  focuses  primarily  on  the  position  of
their  brand(s)  in the markets.  They determine the company strategy and related CSR strategy together with the
holding.

CSR responsibility
In each of the Accell Group companies, one of the managers is responsible for CSR. These managers are all part of
the ACSI network (Accell Corporate Sustainability Network) and are supported by the holding. The Chief Operations
Officer of Accell Group has final responsibility for the CSR policy.
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Membership of industry bodies
Accell Group is a member of various national and international industry organisations and initiatives. A number of
these focus specifically on CSR. Accell Group has a seat on a large number of boards, such as that of the WFSGI
(World Federation of Sporting Goods Industry), in national organisations such as the Dutch RAI association and
Univelo in France, plus the European umbrella organisation CONEBI. Accell Group also has a seat on various
committees that draw up safety standards at a European and global level.

Data collection
In 2015, 95% of the activities were subject to the data collection. This percentage has been determined by a
number of employees of the companies where the data has been collective divided by the total number of
employees. The increase of the percentage compared with 2014 (90%) is because this year the data of the Asian
companies of Accell group are also included.

 
 A sustainable product

Urban  congestion  is  a  growing  problem  across  the  globe.  It  causes  pollution,  health  problems  and  economic
damage. The bicycle and e-bike can play a role in the solution to this problem. In addition to providing sustainable
mobility,  cycling  also  contributes  to  improved  health.  Obesity  and  a  lack  of  exercise  are  major  causes  of  health
problems in our society. Research by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Environment (Ministerie van Infrastructuur
en Milieu) shows that people who cycle regularly have the physical condition of a sportsperson and are physically
around 10 years younger than their actual age. They have a better immune system and a 50% reduced chance of a
heart attack.
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Green and healthy mobility
Accell Group contributes to sustainable and healthy mobility by providing a sustainable mode of transport. And we
are constantly taking this one step further, with innovative concepts and solutions such as the Speed Pedelec. This
e-bike provides peddle support  up to a maximum speed of  45km/h.  Realising this  top speed does require some
serious peddling. The cruising speed is around 35-38 km/h. This speed makes the Speed Pedelec extremely useful
for longer-distance commuter traffic. This makes it a serious alternative to the car.

Lobby for safety and sustainability
Accell  Group  actively  promotes  the  interests  of  consumers  and  the  bicycle  sector.  Together  with  other
organisations, we form a powerful lobby group to promote safe cycling conditions. Under the CONEBI banner, we
participate  with  the  European  industry  in  a  lobby  to  safeguard  sound  regulations  related  to  the  Speed  Pedelec.
Accell  Group also  participates  in  initiatives  to  address  the  broader  societal  issue of  sustainable  mobility  and the
relief of traffic flows in and between cities.

Supporting initiatives
Accell Group encourages consumer health by providing products that encourage healthy exercise and sports. In line
with this aim, we support initiatives that encourage young people to exercise and aim to reduce social  problems
such  as  obesity.  We  also  support  organisations  that  promote  the  bicycle  as  a  common  mode  of  transport  in
developing countries. For instance, Accell Group supports the non-profit organisation World Bike Relief (WBR), and
Raleigh is involved in the Re-Cycle Bikes for Africa initiative.

Accell Group will spend more than one million euros annually on initiatives that contribute to greater sustainability
in  mobility,  promote  the  health  and  safety  of  consumers  and  help  keep  elderly  people  mobile  for  longer.  Accell
Group achieved this goal in 2015.
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Sustainable commuting
Accell  Group  wants  to  set  an  example  and  encourages  its  own  employees  to  choose  sustainable  modes  of
transport for their daily commute. The objective is for less than 50% of our employees to travel to work by non-
sustainable  means.  We  met  this  target  for  the  first  time  in  2014.  The  number  of  employees  travelling  to  work
individually by non-sustainable means continued to decrease, and fell to 40% in 2015. The increase in the category
‘Other sustainable’ is largely accounted for by our Asian companies, where many employees walk to work or travel
on electric bicycles or scooters.
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Consumer safety
Accell  Group does not compromise when it  comes to safety.  Our products are made with high-quality materials.
Each  product  meets  the  highest  international  safety  standards,  such  as  those  laid  down  in  ISO  (World),  ASTM
(USA), EN (Europe) and the IEC standards for electric components.

Accell Group is involved in task forces and organisations that encourage the safe use of bicycles in traffic. We also
provide  information  to  the  specialist  retail  trade  and  consumers  about  safe  and  responsible  bicycle  use  and
maintenance, primarily for e-bikes and the Speed Pedelec.
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The people of Accell Group
 

Accell  Group provides employment  to  more than 3,000 people.  This  is  important  to  the economic  activity  in  the
regions where Accell companies are located.

Our employees are passionate about the products they produce; the product ‘bicycle’ connects our employees and
makes  them  proud  of  the  company.  As  a  result,  Accell  Group  has  a  strongly  operational  corporate  culture.
Attention for a social policy and the enjoyment of our employees in their work are important parts of this corporate
culture.  And  in  line  with  this,  it  is  also  important  to  offer  employees  perspective  for  growth  and  development.
Working in production, warehouses and offices comes with a number of health and safety risks, such as the safety
of machinery and tools, lifting activities, practical testing under severe conditions, RSI and workload.

 

Employment
The efficiency of our operations is a major priority at Accell Group. We believe the best way to achieve this is with
qualified and motivated personnel who work under positive terms and conditions. Accell Group seeks to engage its
employees for the long term and aims for low staff turnover. However, the bicycle sector has seasonal production
patterns, which results in a high percentage of employee turnover, due to the production companies.
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Of Accell Group’s total workforce, 61% are employed under a collective labour agreement. Various Accell Group
companies cooperate with organisations in the sheltered employment sector and/or a special programme for
young people making their first entry into the labour market.
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Enjoyment and social policy
In  its  role  as employer,  Accell  Group goes beyond simply arranging processes such as recruitment and selection
and remuneration.  The employees are the beating heart  of  the company.  At  Accell  Group,  they will  find an open
and  professional  culture.  Many  Accell  companies  offer  their  employees  a  profit-sharing  scheme.  Employees  are
often active  in  sponsorship  activities  and can submit  activities  from their  own local  environment,  frequently  but
not  necessarily  associated  with  the  sport  of  cycling.  Sponsoring  these  activities  boosts  the  employees’
engagement  and  pride  in  the  company  and  raise  the  awareness  of  our  brands  in  the  local  communities.  We
regularly  organise  parties  or  sports  events  for  our  employees.  A  pleasant  working  environment  and  a  company
that devotes attention to reciprocal engagement boosts commitment to the company and its goals. 

This year, we are launching a pilot for uniform and frequent employee surveys. In these surveys, we measure our
employees’  engagement,  satisfaction and enthusiasm.  We can use the outcome of  these surveys to  change the
policies where necessary. We have also appointed a director at holding level to support, expand and safeguard the
employee policy of the brands.
 

Health and safety
Accell  Group  attaches  enormous  importance  to  the  health  and  safety  of  its  employees.  All  group  companies
comply with national regulations and legislation.
In every company, someone is responsible for health and safety. Next to ensuring compliance with regulations and
legislation they encourage the health and safety culture within the companies. There are also trained emergency
staff  on  site  within  all  companies.  Where  relevant,  the  company  has  specialists  in  fire  safety  and/or  hazardous
substances. Absenteeism is monitored and reported on an annual basis, as are industrial accidents. Accell  Group
strives for 100% safety. For each industrial accident, we investigate the cause and any necessary extra measures
that may need to be taken.

Reducing absenteeism
In 2015, we noted an increase in absenteeism following accidents. Analysis shows that these were partly due to
carelessness  or  inattentiveness.  This  has  resulted  in  more  attention  being  devoted  to  operating  instructions,
particularly for new employees. In some cases, the production tools have been adjusted. An overview of accidents
and  measures  is  shared  with  sister  companies  and  discussed  so  we  can  share  know-how  and  organise
preventative actions if necessary.

* The number of hours of absenteeism, expressed as a percentage of the total number of working hours
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Training and Education
Accell  Group’s  policy  is  aimed  at  providing  employees  with  a  challenging  working  environment  that  suits  their
personal  abilities  and ambitions.  Managers  and team leaders  are  responsible  for  identifying  training  wishes and
opportunities.

Our goal:  realising an average of 10 training hours per employee per year.  This target is anchored in the training
and education budget of all Accell companies. Training is a regular component of the annual budget talks, in which
the training budget is assessed on the basis of the training hours given in previous years.

In 2015, the average number of training hours per employee once again increased, to 9.6 hours. This means that
Accell Group almost realised it training hours target.
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The environment in the operating processes
 

Bicycle-use helps to reduce the environmental impact of emissions from traffic, especially when bikes are used as
an alternative to cars. However, producing bikes does have a negative environmental impact, because of the use of
materials and energy, CO2 emissions and waste production.

 

Material use
Metals are a major component of bicycles,.  there is  a worldwide network for the recycling of metals.  One of the
most used materials in the bicycle industry is primary aluminium*. Aluminium is one of the most used materials
within the bicycle industry because it is pure, high-grade and indispensable to guaranteeing the safety of bicycles.
On a global scale, the demand for so-called secondary aluminium is so high that it is easy to find a market for the
high percentage of material available for recycling. But there is still a structural demand for primary aluminium to
fulfil the need. Accell Group believes that extensive research into the use of secondary aluminium in bicycles is not
yet  efficient.  As  part  of  its  CSR strategy,  Accell  Group  devotes  extra  attention  to  other  materials  and  parts  that
have a relatively high impact on the environment.

* Primary or new aluminium is extracted from bauxite and its production requires a great deal of energy. The smelting of
used  aluminium  products  (scrap)  into  recycled  or  secondary  aluminium  requires  only  5-10%  of  the  amount  of  energy
needed to produce primary aluminium.



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Society and the environment 72

Carbon

This  material  is  used  in  the  frames  of  professional  racing  bikes.  A  frame  made  of  carbon  creates  a  60%  greater
burden on the environment than an aluminium frame.

Batteries

The strong increase in the number of e-bikes has made used batteries a growing issue in waste processing.

Packaging materials

A key point given the large amount of packaging used to protect parts and final products.

Carbon
The  French  Lapierre  brand  is  a  relatively  large  consumer  of  carbon  within  Accell  Group  and  has  taken  on  a
leadership  role  in  this  issue.  The  end-of-line  frames  of  Lapierre  racing  bikes  have  been  tested  by  a  carbon
processing  firm  and  are  suitable  for  recycling.  However,  there  is  as  yet  no  real  commercial  market  for  recycled
carbon derived from bikes. In the short term, the returned carbon materials are collected, stored and transported in
bulk to qualified processing plants.

Lapierre  is  following  the  developments  in  the  field  of  carbon  technology  closely.  Developments  such  as  the
possibility of producing high-grade fibres from basic materials other than carbon. This is currently still in the test
phase.
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Recycling batteries from e-bikes
Accell  Group  is  actively  cooperating  in  the  creation  of  national  and  international  systems  for  the  collection  and
responsible processing of used e-bike batteries. Together with foundations in Germany (GRS), Belgium (Bebat) and
the Netherlands (Stibat),  we have already set up systems for the collection of bike batteries. Discarded batteries
are collected from specialist retailers, sorted in a central location and sent to certified processing firms.

At  the  moment,  the  collected  batteries  consist  mainly  of  the  Lithium-Ion  chemical  system.  The  batteries  are
dismantled and the parts offered to raw materials producers and companies in the base metals industry.

Informing and encouraging the specialist retailers to make collection possible and actively promoting this among
consumers will require serious efforts.
 

Packaging materials
Accell Group’s policy is to replace packaging materials made from fossil sources with renewable materials. In other
words, less plastic and more packaging based on paper and organic raw materials.

We monitor material use closely and benchmark the results of the Accell companies, so best practices are visible
across the group and companies learn from each other. We monitor the amount of packaging material used on an
annual basis, according to type of material and environmental impact.

Goal:  to  reduce the environmental  impact  of  packaging materials  in  combination with  the resultant  waste flows
(expressed in CO2 equivalents) by 2% to 4% per bicycle per annum.

In 2015, we reduced the environmental impact from packaging by 132 CO2 eq, which means an overall reduction
of 3.5% compared to 2014. You can find more information about this goal under the header ‘waste’.
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CO2 emissions and energy consumption
Accell  Group’s  strategy  targets  a  reduction  of  CO2  emissions.  Accell  Group  wants  to  use  the  targets  for  energy
suppliers  of  the  European  Energy  Efficiency  Directive  and  reduce  emissions  by  1.5%  per  year.  Research  into  the
environmental  impact  of  Accell  Group’s  operating  processes  shows  that  energy  use  has  the  greatest  impact  in
terms  of  CO2  emissions.  Energy  is  used  for  assembly  and  painting  bicycles,  and  to  heat  and  light  production
facilities, warehouses and offices. The transport of parts and distribution of products also consumes energy. Accell
Group therefore considers energy use and transport and distribution important priorities.
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Efforts are underway across the entire group to reduce Accell’s environmental impact:

Switch from conventional lighting to LED. This effort has begun at most of the Accell Group companies.■

Many warehouses and offices are fitted with motion sensors, so lights are only on when someone is present.■

Companies have switched to more efficient and/or more sustainable heating systems.■

Increasing awareness among employees, such as encouraging them to turn off lights and computers.■

The companies are taking a critical look at the choice of transport modes for transport and distribution, and use■

trains wherever possible.
A great deal of attention is being devoted to analysing the quality of the distribution processes, with the aim of■

limiting the number of damaged items returned. This saves money and transport kilometres.
The number of kilometres employees fly is reduced by online meetings.■

The results of these measures are monitored by annually measuring energy consumption and CO2 emissions. As in
other material aspects, here too we benchmark the companies’ performances every year and they learn from each
other’s best practices.
 

 

Reporting
We moved to reporting in accordance with GRI G4 from 2015. The data includes the energy consumption of lease
cars  and  kilometres  driven  for  the  company.  We  also  added  the  data  of  the  Asian  companies,  which  makes  a
comparison with previous years irrelevant.
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Waste
In addition to bicycles, accessories and parts, Accell companies also produce waste from their everyday operations.
Waste that needs to be processed, which has an environmental impact to a greater or lesser extent, depending on
the type of material and the processing method.

Accell  Group’s  policy  is  to  separate  waste  before  disposal  and earmark  it  for  recycling  and/or  reuse as  much as
possible. The opportunities to do so vary per country and even per region. Accell companies register waste flows to
increase  awareness  among  its  management  and  employees  and  highlight  upward  or  downward  trends  in  the
quantities of waste.
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We benchmark the results,  highlighting best  practices,  once again enabling our various companies to learn from
each other. The amount of waste, divided into type of material and environmental impact, is monitored annually.

Goal:  to  reduce  the  environmental  impact  per  bicycle  from  waste  combined  with  packaging  (expressed  in  CO2
equivalents) by 2% to 4% per annum.
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Chain responsibility
 

Accell  Group  is  an  important  player  in  the  value  chain  of  the  bicycle  sector  and  therefore  in  a  good  position  to
encourage sustainability among parties on both the supply side and the distribution side.

Key  aspects  at  suppliers  are  compliance  with  human  rights,  sound  employment  practices  and  environmental
protection.  In  addition,  working with  chemical  substances and compliance with  legislation for  the registration of
chemical substances (REACH) are an important priority. Chemical substances are used to paint parts such as the
frame and the front fork, and they are also found in plastic bicycle parts, such as saddles and hand grips.
 

Figure: Value chain
 

Compliance with human rights, sound employment practices and environmental protection
Accell Group has its own code of conduct for suppliers and all suppliers are asked to sign the code. Accell Group has
teamed up with the WFSGI (World Federation of the Sporting Goods Industry) and launched an initiative to make
the supply chain more sustainable. In 2012, the WFSGI set up a taskforce with Accell Group as its chair. The task
force  has  been  given  the  task  developing  of  a  sector-wide  audit-approach  to  make  the  supply  chain  more
sustainable.  The  premise  of  the  approach  is  that  the  bicycle  industry,  in  cooperation  and  consultation  with  the
suppliers, wants to help improve the supply chain, using the WFSGI code of conduct as the substantive basis for
any  changes.  The  industry  also  wants  to  avoid  double  audits  and  audit-data  is  shared  via  the  Fair  Factory
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Clearinghouse (FFC) platform. The task force is due to complete its pilot project in early 2016 and will subsequently
expand  the  initiative  to  include  other  players  in  the  bicycle  sector  under  the  name  RSI  –  Responsible  Sport
Initiative / bicycles.
 

Monitoring suppliers
Accell Group constantly works on streamlining the supply chain. At the moment, Accell Group companies and their
wholesalers  together  have  more  than  500  relevant  suppliers  of  products  and  parts.  Accell  Group  generates
substantial  turnover  with  around  130  of  those  suppliers.  In  the  coming  years,  Accell  Group  will  audit  its  main
suppliers in accordance with the RSI. The initial focus will be on the approximately 100 suppliers. Our ambition is to
conduct 15 audits a year ourselves. Additional information from a greater number of other suppliers will become
available via the FFC audit platform.

In 2015, pilot audits were conducted at five Accell Group suppliers. The key findings from these audits were: poor
administration, including hour registration and permits, exceeding legal working hours / overtime at certain times
of  the  year  ,  overdue  maintenance  on  the  buildings,  incorrect  storage  of  hazardous  substances  and  insufficient
attention to emergency escape routes and fire prevention.

Following  the  audits,  the  findings  were  summarised  in  Corrective  Action  Plans  (CAP),  in  which  priorities  and
timelines  are  drawn  up  on  the  basis  of  urgency.  We  will  subsequently  follow  up  together  with  the  suppliers  to
improve in line with the CAP. We will check the progress regularly and outline additional actions where necessary
in order to realise the agreements.
 

Chemical substances
Accell Group complies with REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemical substances)
and  aims  to  work  only  with  registered  substances,  under  the  right  conditions  and  with  the  right  protective
measures in  place.  Where possible,  we work with alternative substances without hazardous components.  Accell
Group does not use chrome-plated frames. The paint shops use 100% water-based paints.
 

REACH testing lab
In 2012, Accell Group set up its own testing lab to check whether components and parts comply with legislation.
Accell Group has its own toxicological testing protocol that combines the relevant REACH and national legislative
requirements.

Regular  updates  of  lists  such  as  the  Candidate  list  SVHC  (Substance  of  Very  High  Concern)  are  included  in  the
toxicological  testing  protocol  immediately.  If  necessary,  we  add  additional  validation  tests.  We  test  existing  and
newly  specified  articles  on  the  basis  of  risk-assessment.  Accell  Group  asks  its  suppliers  to  sign  a  REACH
compliance statement.

In 2015, we tested around 350 new items according to the Accell Group toxicological test protocol, during which
more than 8,000 analyses were carried out. In 2015, the focus was on testing accessories and clothing. In 33% of
tests,  the  results  led  us  to  initiate  discussions  with  the  supplier.  The  main  deviations  were  found  in  the  use  of
incorrect  fire-retardant  materials,  softeners  and  PAHs,  which  are  frequently  used  in  production  processes.  We
looked  for  alternatives  together  with  the  supplier.  Where  these  were  not  available,  we  have  opted  for  an
alternative product.
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6 Supervision and Risk Management

 The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board comprises of the following members:

Mr. A.J. (Ab) Pasman (1950)
 Chairman

Mr. Pasman (Dutch nationality) was appointed to the Supervisory Board on 22 April 2010 and became chairman as
of that date. Mr. Pasman was a member of the Board of Directors of Koninklijke Grolsch N.V. from 2003 to 2008
and  was  appointed  chairman  of  said  board  in  2004.  He  is  a  member  of  the  Supervisory  Board  at  the  following
non-listed companies:  Berenschot  Holding B.V.  and Westland Kaas Groep B.V.  Mr.  Pasman’s  term of  office  runs
until the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders due to be held in the spring of 2018.
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Mr. J. (Jan) van den Belt (1946)
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Van den Belt (Dutch nationality) was appointed to the Supervisory Board on 20 April  2006. He was CFO and
member of the Board of Directors of Océ N.V. until the end of October 2008. Mr. Van den Belt is a member of the
Supervisory Boards of Groeneveld Groep B.V., Attero Holding N.V., N.V. Holmatro, the Advisory Board of the Bosal
Council,  as  well  as  a  member  of  the  Executive  Board  of  Stichting  Ahold  Continuïteit.  In  addition  he  is  Council
(substitute)  at  the  Enterprise  Chamber  of  the  Amsterdam  Court  of  Appeals  in  Amsterdam.  Mr.  Van  den  Belt
qualifies  as  the financial  expert  referred to  in  the best  practice  Article  III.3.2  of  the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code. Mr. Van den Belt’s term of office runs until the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders due to be held in the
spring of 2018.

Mr. P.B. (Peter) Ernsting (1958)

Mr. Ernsting (Dutch nationality) was appointed to the Supervisory Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders of
28 April 2011. Mr. Ernsting was appointed at the proposal of the Supervisory Board after a recommendation from
the  Central  Works  Council.  As  from  June  2011,  Mr.  Ernsting  is  senior  Vice  President,  Group  Supply  Chain,  and
member of the Executive Committee at Carlsberg. Mr. Ernsting previously held a number of management positions
at Unilever N.V.,  both in the Netherlands and abroad.  Mr.  Ernsting’s  term of  office runs until  the Annual  General
Meeting of Shareholders due to be held in the spring of 2019.

 



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Supervision and Risk Management 83

Mr. A. (Aad) Kuiper (1960)

Mr. Kuiper (Dutch nationality) was appointed to the Supervisory Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders of
25 April 2013. Mr. Kuiper is Vice President and President & CEO of Hunter Douglas EMEA (Europe, Middle East and
Africa)  and  has  worked  at  Hunter  Douglas  N.V.  since  1997.  Mr.  Kuiper  has  worked  in  various  management
positions at Akzo Nobel between 1987 and 1997, both in the Netherlands and abroad. Mr. Kuiper was Chairman of
the Advisory Board of Scheuten S.A.R.L. until end of 2014 and is a member of the Supervisory Board of Bonarius
Holding B.V. and per 1 February 2015 chairman of the Supervisory Board of Infotheek International. Mr. Kuiper’s
term of office runs until the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders due to held in the spring of 2017.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
 
 

Message from the Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Accell Group once again reported clearly improved results this year. Accell operates in a market that is becoming
more  and  more  dynamic,  with  increasing  competition  and  constantly  changing  patterns  of  consumer  demand.
These developments place ever increasing demands on the capabilities of  the organization to be successful.  We
look back on the positive revenue and profit  development of the past year with a good feeling.  Accell  Group has
shown  to  be  able  to  respond  to  change  and  have  the  scale,  strength  and  innovative  capacity  to  excel  in  these
markets. The development of working capital and in particular the development of inventories in the last months
of the year, has been a constant source of concern and attention. Further improvements in the company’s supply
chain processes will have a positive impact on this.

In  the  year  under  review,  the  Supervisory  Board  devoted  particular  attention  to  the  process  of  consistent
development  of  the  strategy.  The  increased  scale  and  complexity  of  the  organisation  requires  specific  attention
and a professional approach from the HR function. The appointment of a new HR Director marks the start of the
continued professionalization of the HR policy. Other items high on the agenda included improving the efficiency
and optimisation of the Supply Chain and monitoring operations in various countries, especially the United States.

To maintain its position as a leading player in the development and sale of sustainable consumer goods such as
bikes,  it  remains  important  for  Accell  to  effectively  integrate  acquired  companies  or  subsidiaries  in  existing
operations,  and  where  possible  to  expand  those  operations  or  to  enter  new  markets.  To  achieve  this,  it  is
necessary to stay ahead of the field in terms of technological developments. This is particularly true for the electric
bicycles  segment,  for  high-end  sports  bikes,  and  for  the  combination  of  the  two,  the  performance  E-mountain
bikes, which is a relatively new and special category of electric bikes. The Accell organisation devotes continuous
attention to innovation and encourages its employees to come up with good and new ideas.

In  addition  to  the  continuous  focus  on  innovation,  Accell  has  in  the  past  year  taken  some  solid  steps  in  the
continued development and optimisation of its Supply Chain. The appointment of Mr. J.J. Both as a member of the
board and Chief  Supply Chain Officer,  has fulfilled the wish to make the Supply Chain a more central  part  of  the
company’s operations. In the year under review, Mr. J.J. Both took stock of the Supply Chain and we have made a
start on tightening the cooperation between the Accell Group companies and realise synergy benefits as a result.

Despite  the  solid  financial  results  in  the  year  under  review,  Accell  will,  in  view  of  its  leading  position,  devote
attention to a number of strategic choices in order to expand and strengthen its position in the constantly changing
playing field. For instance, the company will devote attention to restructuring its Supply Chain and to the continued
expansion  of  its  international  HR  function.  The  activities  in  the  various  countries  in  which  Accell  is  active  were
discussed and evaluated on a  continuous basis  and the progress was monitored.  In  this  context,  a  great  deal  of
attention  was  devoted  to  the  activities  in  the  United  States.  Although  we  are  convinced  of  the  potential  of  the
United States and for instance that the market for electric bicycles is slowly gathering momentum, it has become
clear  that  we  will  have  to  change  our  proposition  to  operate  successfully  in  the  American  market.  In  the  year
ahead, the Supervisory Board will once again devote a great deal of attention to the process of improving returns
from the activities in the United States.

One  item  that  is  always  high  on  our  agenda,  but  one  that  will  require  additional  attention  in  the  year  ahead,  is
internal  control  procedures.  Early  this  year,  Accell  was  confronted  with  a  serious  case  of  theft  by  one  of  its
employees  in  Taiwan.  The  Supervisory  Board  –  responding  quickly  –  commissioned  an  international  forensic
accountancy firm to set up an independent investigation. Based on the outcome of this investigation, the company
has drawn up a recovery plan to further tighten the internal control procedures, to diminish the possibility of such
cases occurring in the future.
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Looking back at the past year, we can say that the year 2015 saw on the one hand growth in turnover and profit
and on the other hand the acceleration of a number of change processes aimed at enabling Accell to expand its
leading position in the years ahead. Obviously, we could not have achieved this without the tireless efforts,
expertise and dedication of the Accell employees. My thanks therefore go to everybody who contributed to these
results. I assume that given all the positive steps we took in the year under review and which will be continued in
the year ahead, the year 2016 will also deliver.

Heerenveen, March 14, 2016

On behalf of the Supervisory Board,

A.J. Pasman
Chairman
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Tasks of the Supervisory Board
In  the  year  under  review,  the  Supervisory  Board  fulfilled  its  tasks  in  line  with  the  regulations  that  govern  the
Supervisory Board,  which can be viewed on Accell  Group’s website (www.accell-group.com) under the Corporate
Governance section.

The  Supervisory  Board  appointed  an  audit  committee  and  a  selection  &  remuneration  committee.  These
committees  are  also  subject  to  the  regulations  that  are  available  for  viewing  and  download  on  the  corporate
website.  The  task  of  these  committees  is  to  support  and  advise  the  Supervisory  Board  with  respect  to  their
designated activities and to lay the ground for the Supervisory Board’s decision-making. The Supervisory Board as
a whole remains responsible for the way it  exercises its tasks,  including the preparatory activities carried out by
the audit committee and the selection & remuneration committee.

In 2015, the Supervisory Board supervised the management of the Board of Directors and the general course of
business within  the Accell  Group.  The Supervisory  Board also advised the Board of  Directors  in  its  capacity  as  a
supervisory body.

The Supervisory Board is also responsible for such items as legally stipulated and incorporated in the Accell Group
articles of association. Pursuant to same, the Board of Directors submitted important decisions to the Supervisory
Board for approval.
 
 

Meetings of the Supervisory Board and subcommittees

Plenary meetings of the Supervisory Board in 2015
In  2015,  the  Supervisory  Board  met  five  times  in  a  regular  combined  meeting  with  the  Board  of  Directors.  The
meetings  took  place  in  the  months  March,  April,  July,  October  and  December.  During  the  meetings  of  the
Supervisory  Board  in  the  year  under  review,  the  Board  addressed  a  number  of  important  themes,  such  as  the
strategy, marketing and distribution, quality and brand companies, the quality of control systems, the realisation of
synergy benefits within and between companies, the more efficient organisation of the supply chain, HR policy and
the  better  utilisation  of  know-how  and  innovation.  In  the  joint  meetings  of  the  Board  of  Directors  and  the
Supervisory Board, as they do every year, the members of same devoted a great deal of attention to the strategy,
also against the background of the general global economic situation, continually changing market and consumer
demands,  shifts  in  the  competitive  field  and  speed  of  technological  developments.  Looking  at  the  longer  term
perspective, clear priorities were also placed in growth realisation and value creation in these discussions. In this
context, in the year under review the two boards looked primarily at opportunities to make the organisation more
efficient and generate benefits by restructuring the supply chain. The full Supervisory Board also had two meetings
with the external auditor in the presence of the Board of Directors and subsequently in the absence of the Board of
Directors.  These  meetings  with  the  external  auditor  did  not  yield  any  information  that  required  immediate
attention or action. With regard to the functioning of the Supervisory Board, it was agreed in the past that a third
party  would  evaluate  this  in  detail  and  professionally  once  every  three  years.  In  the  intervening  years,  the
functioning of the Supervisory Board will be evaluated internally on an annual basis. In 2015, there was an internal
evaluation  which  explored  subjects  such  as  expertise,  cooperation  within  the  board,  the  relationship  with  the
Board  of  Directors,  the  functioning  of  the  chairman  and  the  overall  functioning  of  the  board  as  a  whole.  The
conclusion of this evaluation was that each of the members of the Supervisory Board functioned well and that the
Supervisory  Board  as  a  whole  functioned  as  it  should.  In  2016,  there  will  be  a  detailed  evaluation  involving  an
external party.

Meetings of the audit committee in 2015
The  audit  committee  consists  of  Mr.  Van  den  Belt  (chairman)  and  Mr.  Ernsting.  The  composition  of  the  audit
committee  is  in  accordance  with  the  provisions  of  the  Dutch  Corporate  Governance  Code.  The  audit  committee
supports  the Supervisory Board in  the execution of  its  tasks,  including on the financial  administration front,  and
makes preparations for the decision-making in this field.

http://www.accell-group.com
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The  audit  committee  met  five  times  in  2015,  each  time  in  the  presence  of  the  external  auditor.  The  following
subjects  were  addressed  in  the  meetings  of  the  audit  committee:  the  quarterly  results,  the  internal  control
framework, risk management (including risk of fraud),  the internal audit plan, report of the auditor 2014 and the
management  letter  2015,  the  One  Finance  Programme  and  the  organisation  of  the  finance  function,  financing
(including the possibility of supply chain financing) and the covenants of the outstanding debt of Accell Group, the
budget 2016, tax and IT. In the analysis of the results, the margins and overhead costs have been reviewed as well
as  the  changes  in  working  capital.  In  addition  to  the  topics  mentioned  the  members  of  the  audit  committee
participated  actively  in  the  selection  of  the  new  external  auditor,  this  is  a  result  of  mandatory  change  in
accountant.  The  long  discussion  with  the  AFM,  that  resulted  in  a  change  of  the  valuations  of  the  British
Pensionfund was closely followed by the audit committee. The committee also participated with an on line survey
of  the  AFM  about  the  role  of  the  Audit  Committee.  And  the  audit  committee  participated  in  the  Controllers’
Meeting, this is a meeting where the Controllers of the bigger Accell Group companies come together. During this
meeting  the  necessity  of  continuing  increase  of  internal  controls  have  been  discussed  and  events  at  other
companies are shared to learn from each other.

As usual, the audit committee devoted attention to the quality and integrity of the financial results. To this end, the
committee discusses the results of the group companies and the group as a whole [in the presence of the external
auditor] on a quarterly basis. The committee also discusses the auditor’s report at length, explicitly addressing the
integrity of the reported results.

Accell Group spends a lot of attention to internal controls. The findings of the internal audit and the progress of the
One  Finance  Programme  are  discussed  during  all  audit  committee  meetings.  Despite  this,  there  was  a  theft
case by an employee in Taiwan this year. Internal control measures were apparently not sufficient to prevent this.
The Supervisory Board assigned an international forensic auditor to investigate this incident. The outcome of the
investigation  made  it  clear  that  this  was  an  isolated  case  by  an  individual  employee.  The  necessary  measures
(among  which  the  report  of  the  crime  to  the  police  and  dismissal  of  the  employee)  are  taken  and  tightening
measures of the controls in Taiwan and the whole Group are part of the recovery plan which is executed with the
highest  priority.  Considering  the  emphasis  on  continuously  improving  and  tightening  the  internal  control
framework it is rather disappointing to see that this incident could take place.

In 2015, the Internal Auditor visited a number of companies. Meanwhile, almost all companies of the Group have
been reviewed regarding their internal control framework. The findings have been reported to the audit committee
and have been discussed with the Supervisory Board. The company in Taiwan was audited end of 2015 and the
findings pointed to a certain risks. These findings contributed, amongst others, to the discovery of the described
theft in Taiwan.

The  Management  Letter  of  the  external  auditor  has  been  discussed  in  detail.  No  irregularities  or  serious
shortcomings were reported. A number of topics were reviewed: improvements have been reported in the closing
process,  documentation,  and  monitoring  of  derivatives.  The  emphasis  of  internal  audit  on  fraud  is  seen  as  an
excellent start. This year, recommendation on the field of IT focused on change management and access rights and
regular change of the access rights.  At one subsidiary of the Group there were comments on the segregation of
duties  within  the  procurement  function  and  at  two  subsidiaries  there  were  comments  on  the  description  of
processes and procedures. Accell Group will deal with the comments at short notice. Also the non-integrated stock
systems at one of the companies and the existence of mitigating controls are part of the management letter.

Each  year,  the  external  auditor,  in  consultation  with  the  Supervisory  Board  and  the  Board  of  Directors,  devotes
specific  attention  to  a  number  of  subjects  that  are  relevant  to  the  expression  of  an  opinion  on  the  financial
statements and to subjects that are relevant at that point in time. With regard to the 2015 financial statements,
particular attention was devoted to the following subjects:

Incident in Taiwan and the impact on the financial statements 2015●

Accuracy of revenue recognition●

Pensions in the UK●
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Tax accounting including valuation of deferred tax assets●

Management override of control●

Valuation of goodwill and rights related to brands●

Financial instruments and foreign exchange risks●

Financing and the related covenants●

Meetings of the selection & remuneration committee in 2015
The selection  & remuneration  committee  comprises  Mr.  Kuiper  (chairman)  and Mr.  Pasman.  The  composition  of
the committee is in line with the provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. The tasks of the selection &
remuneration  committee  include  submitting  proposals  to  the  Supervisory  Board  regarding  the  selection  criteria
and appointment procedures for members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors, the remuneration
policy and the level of remuneration and the employment terms and conditions of the members of the Board of
Directors.

The  selection  &  remuneration  committee  met  two  times  in  2015.  The  committee’s  activities  included  the
recruitment of a fourth member for the Board of Directors, which resulted in the appointment of Mr. J.J.  Both as
Chief  Supply  Chain  Officer  during  the  Annual  General  Meeting  of  shareholders  in  May  2015.  The  selection  &
remuneration  committee  also  discussed  the  following  subjects  during  its  meetings:  preparations  for  the
assessment of the members of the Board of Directors, the functioning of the members of the Board of Directors,
the  submission  of  a  proposal  regarding  the  fixed  and  variable  remuneration  of  the  members  of  the  Board  of
Directors,  evaluation  of  the  remuneration  of  the  members  of  the  Board  of  Directors  and  preparations  for  the
evaluation of the functioning of the members of the Supervisory Board.
 
 

Remuneration Board of Directors
The  Supervisory  Board  has  drawn  up  a  remuneration  report  for  2015  related  to  the  application  of  the
remuneration  policy  for  the  Board  of  Directors.  The  full  report  is  available  on  the  Accell  Group  website.  The
remuneration  for  the  Board  of  Directors  is  in  line  with  the  policy  established  by  the  General  Meeting  of
Shareholders of 24 April 2008 and most recently amended on 22 April 2010.

In a meeting held on 4 March 2015, in the absence of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board discussed the
functioning of the Board of Directors as a whole and the members individually. The remuneration for the members
of  the  Board  of  Directors  for  2016  was  discussed  on  24  February  2016,as  well  as  the  bonus  payments  for  the
2015 financial year as presented in the financial statements for 2015.

The aim of the remuneration policy is to enable Accell Group to recruit and retain qualified people for the Board of
Directors.  The  level  and  structure  of  the  remuneration  are  based  in  part  on  factors  such  as  profit  development,
share price developments and other developments relevant to the company. The aim of the remuneration policy is
to  position the remuneration packages at  a  competitive  level  in  the Dutch remuneration market  for  people  with
comparable levels of responsibility on the boards of larger companies.

An explanation of the various components of the remuneration for the Board of Directors is available in the 2015
remuneration report on the company website. For the exact amounts of the remuneration of the members of the
Board of Directors, we refer to the notes to the financial statements on page 129 of this annual report.
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Financial Statements
The Supervisory Board has approved the 2015 financial statements in its meeting of 14 March 2016. Deloitte has
issued  an  unqualified  auditor’s  report.  The  financial  statements  will  be  submitted  for  adoption  to  the  General
Meeting of Shareholders on 26 April 2016.
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Governance & Compliance
 
Corporate Governance

Accell Group finds good corporate governance very important. The Board of Directors
and Supervisory Board are responsible for the corporate governance structure of Accell
Group and for compliance with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code.

This section of the annual report first describes the corporate governance structure of
Accell Group and subsequently explains where and why Accell Group deviates from the
principles and best practice provisions of the Code.
 

Corporate governance structure

General
Accell  Group  is  a  statutory  two-tier  company.  The  corporate  governance  structure  of  Accell  Group  is  partly  laid
down in the company’s articles of association and partly in the legal rules of the Dutch two-tier company regime.
The full text of the articles of association can be found on Accell group’s corporate website (www.accell.com) in the
‘Corporate Governance/Articles of Association’ section.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for managing Accell Group and thus for ensuring that the company achieves
its  goals,  for  the  strategy  and  accompanying  risk  profile,  the  result  development  and  the  social  aspects  of
entrepreneurship relevant to Accell Group. The Board of Directors is accountable to the Supervisory Board and the
Annual General Meeting (‘General Meeting’) of Shareholders on these issues. In the performance of its duties, the
Board of Directors focuses on the interests of the company and its associated enterprise and in doing so weighs
the  relevant  interests  of  the  parties  involved  in  the  company.  The  Board  of  Directors  provides  the  Supervisory
Board with all the information that the Supervisory Board may need to fulfil its duties.

The Board of Directors is responsible for compliance with all relevant laws and regulations, for the management of
the risks associated with the company’s business operations and for the financing of the company. The Board of
Directors reports on same and discusses the internal risk management and control system with the Supervisory
Board. One of the risk management tools Accell Group uses is the Code of Conduct posted on the website (under
‘Corporate Governance’).  This  annual  report  includes a  chapter  titled ‘Risks and Risk Management’  (page 99 and
beyond), which describes the internal risk management and internal control systems in more detail.

Certain  important  decisions  of  the  Board  of  Directors  require  the  approval  of  the  Supervisory  Board,  such  as
decisions on important investments, share issues and the establishment and/or termination of long-term alliances
between  Accell  Group  and  other  companies.  The  General  Meeting  of  Shareholders’  approval  is  required  for
decisions of the Board of Directors regarding significant changes to the identity or character of the company or the
enterprise.

On  23  April  2015,  the  General  Meeting  granted  the  Board  of  Directors  a  mandate  to  acquire  shares  in  the
company’s own capital. The mandate was granted under the following conditions:

the mandate would remain in effect for 18 months (1 November 2016);●

the Supervisory Board’s approval would be required for the acquisition of shares in the company’s own capital;●

the number of shares would not exceed 10% of the issued share capital; and●

the acquisition price would not exceed 110% of the average price on the preceding five trading days.●

http://www.accell-group.com
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The agenda for the General Meeting of 26 April 2016 includes a proposal to again grant the Board of Directors a
mandate to acquire shares in the company’s own capital under the same conditions as those set out above (on the
understanding that the mandate applies till 1 November 2017).

Decisions to issue shares are taken by the General Meeting, insofar as and as long as it has not appointed another
company body to do so. The preferential right can be limited or excluded by the company body authorised to pass
resolutions on issuing shares, provided that said right is assigned expressly to that company body.

A resolution of the General Meeting of 23 April  2015 has extended the period in which the Board of Directors is
empowered with the approval of the Supervisory Board to:

issue ordinary shares up to a maximum of 10% of the outstanding share capital; and●

limit or exclude the preferential right upon the issuance of ordinary shares;●

extended to 1 November 2016.●

The agenda for the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 26 April 2016 includes a motion to extend this term
to 1 November 2017.

The Board of Directors represents the company insofar as the law does not stipulate otherwise. Each member of
the Board of Directors has the authority to represent the company.

The  Supervisory  Board  determines  the  number  of  the  members  of  the  Board  of  Directors  and  appoints  and
dismisses the members of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors currently comprises four members. The
Supervisory Board has appointed one of the members as chairman of the Board of Directors.

The Supervisory  Board determines the remuneration of  the individual  members of  the Board of  Directors,  using
the policy adopted by the General Meeting most recently on 22 April 2010. The Supervisory Board also compiles an
annual remuneration report, which contains an explanation of the remuneration of the individual members of the
Board of Directors.

The  main  point  of  the  remuneration  report  of  the  Supervisory  Board  in  2015  are  included  in  the  ‘Report  of  the
Supervisory Board’ in this annual report.
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Supervisory Board
It  is the responsibility of the Supervisory Board to supervise the policy of the Board of Directors and the general
developments in Accell Group and its affiliates. In addition, the Supervisory Board provides the Board of Directors
with advice and support. In the fulfilment of its duties, the Supervisory Board is guided by the interests of Accell
Group and its affiliates. Accordingly, it takes into account the interests of all those involved in Accell Group, as well
as the social aspects of entrepreneurship that are relevant to Accell Group. The Supervisory Board receives all the
information required for the performance of its duties from the Board of Directors in a timely manner.

The  Supervisory  Board  has  drawn  up  regulations  which  include  the  distribution  of  its  tasks  and  its  operating
methods. The regulations include a section on its interaction with the Board of Directors and the General Meeting
of  Shareholders.  The  regulations  were  most  recently  amended  in  a  decision  of  the  Supervisory  Board  dated  4
March 2015. The regulations can be found on the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory
Board’).

The  Supervisory  Board  comprises  at  least  three  members  (currently  four).  The  General  Meeting  appoints  the
members  of  the  Supervisory  Board  based  on  nominations  submitted  by  the  Supervisory  Board.  The  General
Meeting can reject  the nomination with an absolute majority of  the votes cast,  these representing at  least one-
third of the issued and paid-up capital.  If  the nomination is rejected,  the Supervisory Board shall  draw up a new
nomination. In the event that the General Meeting fails to appoint the nominated person and also fails to reject the
nomination,  the  Supervisory  Board  shall  appoint  the  nominated  person.  The  Supervisory  Board  announces  the
recommendations  simultaneously  to  the  General  Meeting  and  the  Works  Council  of  Accell  Nederland  B.V.  The
General Meeting and the Works Council are entitled to recommend candidates for membership of the Supervisory
Board. The Supervisory Board will fill the nominations for one-third of the positions on the Supervisory Board with
persons recommended by the Works Council,  unless the Supervisory Board objects to said recommendation and
provides grounds for same.

A member of the Supervisory Board shall retire no later than the date of the first Annual General Meeting held four
years  after  his  or  her  initial  appointment  to  that  position  and  in  such  instance  immediately  at  the  end  of  said
meeting. Members of the Supervisory Board may be appointed to the Supervisory Board for a maximum of three
four-year terms. The members of the Supervisory Board receive a remuneration to be determined by the General
Meeting.

The Supervisory Board has drawn up a retirement schedule, which is published on the Accell Group website (under
‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board’).

The Supervisory Board has appointed from its midst an audit committee comprising Mr. J. Van den Belt (chairman)
and Mr.  P.B.  Ernsting,  and a selection/remuneration committee,  comprising Mr.  A.  Kuiper (chairman) and Mr.  A.J.
Pasman.

These  committees  are  charged  with  preparatory  activities  as  part  of  the  decision-making  process  of  the
Supervisory Board.  In a decision dated 21 July 2011, the Supervisory Board established regulations for the audit
committee  and  the  selection/remuneration  committee.  These  regulations  can  be  found  on  the  website  (under
‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board’).

The  Supervisory  Board  has  drawn  up  a  profile  of  its  size  and  composition,  taking  into  account  the  nature  and
operations of  Accell  Group and the desired expertise and background of  the members of  the Supervisory Board.
The profile was most recently revised in a Supervisory Board decision dated 21 July 2011 and is available on the
Accell  Group website under ‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board’.  The Supervisory Board elects a chairman
and  a  deputy  chairman  from  among  its  members.  The  Supervisory  Board  aims  to  attune  the  experience  and
expertise of its members effectively to the nature, activities and strategy of Accell Group. The Supervisory Board’s
composition is  such that the members are able to operate independently and critically,  vis-à-vis each other,  the
Board of Directors and any company interest whatsoever.



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Supervision and Risk Management 94

Composition of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board
Although  the  Supervisory  Board  strives  for  a  balanced  distribution  of  seats  on  the  Board  of  Directors  and  the
Supervisory  Board  between women and men,  it  has  proven difficult  to  find  suitable  female  candidates  for  open
vacancies.  In  one  case,  the  company  initially  succeeded  in  finding  a  suitable  woman,  but  it  turned  out  that  this
candidate was ultimately not available. In any future appointments of directors, Accell Group will continue to strive
for  a  balanced  composition  of  the  Board  of  Directors.  Accell  Group  will  also  continue  to  aim  for  a  mixed
composition  of  the  Supervisory  Board  in  terms  of  age  and  gender,  as  is  laid  down  in  the  profile  outline  for  the
Supervisory Board.

General Meeting of Shareholders
Key authorisations reside with the General Meeting, such as powers regarding decisions to amend the articles of
association and rules and regulations, legal mergers and spin-offs, and the adoption of the financial statements. In
addition,  the General  Meeting determines the remuneration policy for  the members of  the Board of  Directors.  A
General Meeting is convened at least once a year.

The General  Meeting is chaired by the chairman of the Supervisory Board.  All  matters discussed and resolved in
the General Meeting are recorded in the official minutes of the meeting. Accell Group considers it important that as
many shareholders as possible participate in the decision-making processes of the General Meeting.

Shareholders and others entitled to vote are therefore given the opportunity to appoint proxies or to extend voting
instructions ahead of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The Board of Directors is pleased with the high level of
attendance at the shareholder meetings in recent years. For instance, at the General Meeting of Shareholders held
on 23 April 2015, 64.9% of the total number of outstanding share capital was either present or represented.

External auditor
The General Meeting appoints the external auditor. The external auditor reports their findings with respect to the
audit of the annual accounts simultaneously to the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board and records the
results  of  their  findings  in  a  statement.  The  General  Meeting  may  question  the  external  auditor  about  their
statements regarding the accuracy of  the annual  accounts  and the external  auditor  attends said  meeting and is
authorised to  speak at  same for  that  reason.  The Supervisory  Board did  not  put  forward the company’s  current
auditor,  Deloitte  Accountants  B.V.,  for  reappointment  due  to  the  mandatory  auditor  rotation.  The  Supervisory
Board proposes to appoint KPMG Accountants N.V. as external auditor for the auditing of the financial statements
for the financial year 2016. The appointment of the external auditor is on the agenda for the General Meeting of
Shareholders of 26 April 2016.

Code of conduct
The Board of Directors has drawn up an internal code of conduct incorporating the basic principles that apply to the
way in which employees of Accell Group and all of its group companies should conduct themselves. The complete
text of this internal code of conduct is available on the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance’).

Accell Group has laid down its requirements for parties involved in the production and sourcing process in a code of
conduct  for  suppliers.  These  requirements  relate  to  issues  including  the  prohibition  of  child  labour,  involuntary
labour  and  discrimination,  safety  requirements,  environmental  requirements  and  labour  conditions.  The  code  of
conduct for suppliers is available via the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance’).

Whistleblower policy
The Board of Directors has laid down a whistleblower regulation and published same on the Accell Group website
(under ‘Corporate Governance’), so employees are able to report on alleged irregularities within Accell Group and its
associated companies without harming their legal position.
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Insider trading regulation
The  Insider  Trading  Regulation  established  by  the  Board  of  Directors  aims  to  provide  rules  to  support  the  legal
stipulations to prevent insider trading.  The basic premise of the Insider Trading Regulation is  that people should
not  enter  into  or  recommend  transactions  in  Accell  Group  shares  and  other  financial  instruments  within  the
meaning of the Law on financial supervision if they have insider knowledge. Under the Insider Trading Regulation,
members  of  the  Board  of  Directors,  Supervisory  Board  and  so-called  designated  persons  at  Accell  Group  are
subject to various closed trading periods, announced by the Board of Directors or the compliance officer, in which
they are not allowed to conduct any transactions, regardless of whether they have insider knowledge or not. In line
with  the  Insider  Trading  Regulation,  people  with  a  reporting  obligation  must  report  transactions  they  have
conducted to the compliance officer. The members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board also have
to report their transactions to the Dutch Financial Markets Authority AFM.

On 12 December 2014, the Supervisory Board introduced a regulation in the sense of best practice provision III.6.5
of  the  Dutch  Corporate  Governance  Code.  This  regulation  includes  a  number  of  provisions  related  to  the
possession of and transactions in securities by members of the Board of Directors and of the Supervisory Board,
other than those issued by their ‘own’ company.

Protective measures
To  protect  the  interest  of  Accell  Group  and  its  stakeholders,  in  May  2015  Accell  Group  entered  into  an  option
agreement  with  Stichting  Preferente  Aandelen  Accell  Group.  This  agreement  replaced  the  previous  agreement
dating from December 1998, which was later amended in April 2009.

Pursuant to the option agreement, the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group shall have the right at any time
to  acquire  the  number  of  cumulative  preference  shares  B  required  to  make  the  Stichting  Preferente  Aandelen
Accell Group, after taking said shares, the holder of one half, less one share, of the (increased) issued and paid up
capital. The Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group can avail itself of this right at any time in the event that the
foundation believes there is a threat to the independence and/or the identity and/or the continuity of (the strategy
of)  the  company,  the  companies  affiliated  with  same  and  any  parties  involved  in  same.  The  option  can  be
exercised, among other things, to 1) prevent or delay (the threat of) a public bid on the shares in the capital of the
company that may be deemed hostile, and/or 2) to prevent or oppose an unwanted concentration of voting rights
in the General Meeting of Shareholders, and/or 3) to resist any unwanted influence or pressure from shareholders
that wish to change the strategy of the Board of Directors. In these cases, the issuance of cumulative preference
shares  B  enables  the  company  and  its  Board  of  Directors  and  Supervisory  Board  to  determine  their  standpoint
vis-a-vis  the bidder/hostile  shareholder  and any plans they may have,  to  investigate alternatives and to  defend
the interests of the company and those of its stakeholders. Within 6 months after a possible issue of cumulative
preference shares B the Board of Directors shall convene a General Meeting to inform the shareholders about the
state of affairs.
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Pursuant to the new option agreement, the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group has been granted the right
to submit a request for an inquiry (as meant in article 2:345 of the Dutch Civil Code) to the Corporate Chamber of
the Amsterdam district court.

The main aim of the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group, which has its registered offices in Heerenveen, is
to  represent  the  interests  of  Accell  Group  and  its  associated  enterprise,  such  including  enterprises  which  are
maintained by the companies with which it is affiliated in a group and all parties involved in same. In doing so, the
Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group safeguards to the greatest possible extent the interests of Accell Group
and its associated enterprise and all parties involved in same, while at the same time resisting as much as possible
any  influences  which  may  affect  the  independence  and/or  continuity  and/or  identity  of  the  company  and  its
associated enterprise in conflict with those interests. The board of the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group
consists of three board members, namely Mr. M.P. Nieuwe Weme, Mr. B. van der Meer, and Mr. A.J.M.van der Ven.
In the opinion of the company and in the opinion of the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group, the Stichting
Preferente Aandelen Accell Group is independent from the company within the meaning of Section 5:71, paragraph
1c of the Financial Supervision Act.

Compliance with the Code
Accell  Group has in  the past  complied with and currently  complies  with most  of  the principles and best  practice
provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, insofar as these are applicable to the company. In view of the
nature, size and character of the Accell Group organisation, the company believes that it is in its own best interest
to  deviate  from  the  best  practice  provisions  listed  below.  The  following  explains  why  and  to  what  extent  Accell
Group deviates from said provisions:

Best practice provision II.1.1

This provision includes a system that stipulates terms of appointment for board members of a maximum of four
years. However, three of the current members of the Board of Directors were appointed – before 2005 – for an
unlimited period.  Accell  Group has decided to  respect  the contractual  status  quo of  the current  members  of  the
Board of Directors. The appointment of the new member of the Board of Directors – Mr. J.J.  Both – will  be for a
term of four years.

Best practice provision II.2.5

The  regulation  for  share  options  stipulates  a  three-year  reference  period  before  the  unconditional  allocation  of
shares. Following definitive allocation, the shares must be held for at least two years. Although formally the period
between  conditional  and  unconditional  allocation  is  two  years,  the  reference  period  for  allocation  is  three  years
and  the  Supervisory  Board  believes  the  term  stipulated  by  the  entire  arrangement  is  sufficient  to  secure  the
commitment of the members of the Board of Directors to the company and its interests.

Best practice provision III.4.3

Accell Group has a secretary to the Board of Directors. His role is limited to supporting the Board of Directors. The
tasks of the secretary as outlined in the Best practice provision III.4.3 are performed by the deputy chairman of the
Supervisory Board.
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Best practice provision IV.3.1

Best practice provision IV.3.1 requires that analyst meetings, analyst presentations, presentations to investors and
press  conferences  be  externally  accessible  via  webcasting,  telephone  lines  or  other  means.  In  view  of  the
organisation  entailed  by  the  aforementioned  types  of  broadcasts  and  the  current  size  of  the  company,  Accell
Group  has  decided  not  to  comply  with  this  provision  for  the  time  being.  Share  price  sensitive  information  is
published on the website www.accell-group.com and presentations given during analyst and press meetings are
published afterwards on the website.

Best practice provision IV.3.13

Accell Group has not so far outlined a policy in principle with respect to bilateral contacts with shareholders. The
company plans to develop and lay down such a policy this year.

Transactions involving conflicts of interest
There were no transactions involving a conflict of interest as stipulated in best practice provision II.3.4, III.6.3 and
III.6.4 of the Code in the 2015 financial year. The regulations for the Supervisory Board include rules on how to deal
with (potential)  conflicts of interest involving the members of the Board of Directors,  the Supervisory Board and
the  external  auditor  in  relation  to  Accell  Group  and  stipulate  which  transactions  require  the  approval  of  the
Supervisory Board.

Regulation article 10 of the Takeover Directive
The following is an overview of the information required under article 1 of the Regulation article 10 of the Takeover
Directive:

a. The company’s share capital is € 1,200,000 divided into 120,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of €
0.01 each,  divided into  55,000,000 ordinary  shares,  5,000,000 cumulative  preference  shares  F,  and 60,000,000
cumulative preference shares B. The agenda for the Annual General Meeting of 21 April 2015 includes a motion to
amend the articles of association; this amendment includes an increase in the company’s share capital.  As per 5
January 2016,  the issued and paid-up capital  of  Accell  Group amounts to  €  252,703.27 divided into 25,270,327
ordinary shares with a nominal value of € 0.01 each.

http://www.accell-group.com


Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Supervision and Risk Management 98

b.  The  company  has  no  statutory  or  contractual  limitation  on  the  transfer  of  shares,  with  the  exception  of  the
statutory blocking provision with respect to the transfer of cumulative preference shares F.

c. An overview of substantial participations in Accell Group is included on page 139 of this annual report.

d. There are no extraordinary voting rights attached to the shares issued by the company.

e. Accell Group does not have a monitoring mechanism for an employee share scheme.

f. There are no limitations on the execution of the voting rights attached to ordinary shares.

g. The company is not aware of any agreements in which a shareholder of the company is involved and which may
cause limitations on the transfer of shares or limitation of the voting rights.

h.  The provisions  for  the  appointment  and dismissal  of  members  of  the  Board  of  Directors  and the  Supervisory
Board  and  changes  to  the  articles  of  association  are  incorporated  in  the  articles  of  association  of  the  company,
which can be consulted on the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance’).

i.  The powers  of  the  Board  of  Directors  and  in  particular  their  right  to  issue  shares  in  the  company  and  acquire
shares in the company are described on page 164 in this annual report.

j. A number of agreements between the company and its financiers include the provision that the financiers have
the right to dissolve the agreements and reclaim the loans issued prematurely in the event of a substantial change
to the control over the company following a public bid as meant in article 5:70 of the Financial Supervision Act.

k. The company is not aware of any agreements with directors or employees which provide for a payment in the
event  of  the  employment  being  terminated  following  a  public  bid  as  meant  in  article  5:70  of  the  Financial
Supervision Act.
 

http://www.accell-group.com
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Risks and Risk Management
 
 

Introduction
There are inherent risks related to Accell Group’s business activities and organisation.
Strategic, operational and financial objectives may not be met in full and the company
also  faces  risks  in  the  field  of  financial  reporting  and  the  application  of  laws  and
regulations. The extent to which the company is willing to run these risks in trying to
achieve its goals differs per risk category. Accell Group has a relatively high risk appetite
related to innovation, development and marketing. At the same time, the company has a
low level of risk appetite when this relates to product safety. The risks the company is
not willing to take on independently have as much as possible been transferred to an
insurance company. The management of risk is an important part of the tasks of the
company management, aimed at having a positive impact on the extent to which the
company’s objectives are realised. Below you will find an explanation of the main risks
the  company  faces  and  the  way  in  which  Accell  Group  has  organised  its  risk
management.
 
 

Risk management system

The risk management system comprises the following components:

Identifying and assessing the risks associated with the various strategic alternatives and formulating realistic●

objectives and associated control mechanisms.
Identifying and evaluating the main strategic, operational and financial risks and the potential impact of same on●

the company.
Developing a coherent system of measures to control, limit, avoid or transfer risks. The risk management system●

is tailored to the size and decentralised structure
of the company.●

Despite the risk management and control system, material errors, fraud or violations of the regulations may occur.
The system therefore provides no absolute certainty that objectives will be realised, but was developed to achieve
a  reasonable  level  of  assurance  with  regard  to  the  effectiveness  of  internal  controls  pertaining  to  financial  and
operational risks that may affect the organisation’s objectives.

Organisation
The Board  of  Directors  is  responsible  for  the  set-up and operation  of  the  internal  risk  management  and control
system.  Market  and  operational  risk  management  is,  in  principle,  organised  at  operating  company  level.
Management and control measures relating to acquisitions, treasury, financial reporting, tax and legal issues are
centralised at group level. Accell Group has a decentralised management philosophy, in which the local targets are
determined  in  consultation  between  the  Board  of  Directors  and  management  of  the  subsidiaries.  Progress  is
monitored through the financial planning cycle and management information, the risk analysis and regular visits by
the Board of Directors and other employees of the Group to the subsidiaries. The Supervisory Board is responsible
for  supervising  the  performance  of  the  Board  of  Directors,  and  specifically  monitors  the  strategic  risks  and  the
set-up and operation of the risk management and internal control systems.
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Taiwan incident
In order to investigate the nature, cause and impact of the detected theft, Accell Group assigned an international
forensic  accountancy  firm.  Accell  Group  immediately  asked  for  legal  support  and  reported  the  theft  to  the  local
police. After careful analysis, the investigation concluded that the theft has to be considered as an isolated case,
which only occurred at AAT in Taiwan.  Additionally,  it  can be concluded that the theft  could occur because of an
unfortunate combination of events, in which the employee involved has been able to circumvent and misuse the
availability  of  certain  payment  facilities  by  misappropriation  of  systems,  processes  and  trust.  The  investigation
also resulted in a recovery plan in which Accell Group explains the measures taken to undo the effects of the theft
and to  tighten the system of  internal  controls  and includes systems,  procedures and organization.  The recovery
plan also comprises a project plan in which further measures are worked out. The findings from the investigation
are analyzed numerically as well as qualitatively.

Risk analysis
The  Board  of  Directors  and  the  management  of  the  subsidiaries  draw  up  periodical  analyses  of  the  strategic,
operational  and  financial  risks.  For  the  purpose  of  the  risk  analysis  an  extended  inventory  was  conducted  of
internal and external risks which are reviewed by the members of the Board of Directors and management of the
subsidiaries  individually  on  possible  effects  on  the  company.  The  control  measures  of  the  main  risks  are  also
assessed. The Board of Directors aims to constantly assess the system and improve them where necessary. The
outcome relating to the risk analysis and the main risks are discussed periodically with the Supervisory Board.

Financial planning cycle and management information
The  various  subsidiaries  draw  up  a  strategic  plan  each  year  based  on  the  main  development  in  the  company’s
operating  environment.  Once  harmonised  and  approved,  these  plans  are  translated  into  annual  budgets.  The
consolidated  strategic  plan  and  budget  are  discussed  with  the  Supervisory  Board.  Management  information
reports are compiled on a daily, weekly and monthly basis. Latest estimates are drawn up at least three times a
year.  The  budgets  and  latest  estimates  are  reviewed  against  the  actual  results  on  a  monthly  basis  and  the
outcome is reported to the Board of Directors.

Internal risk management and control system
To ensure the quality of the company’s financial reporting and operational audits, Accell Group uses an extensive
system of administrative organisation and internal controls. The internal control system is largely anchored in the
company’s information systems.

Financial administration guidelines
The personnel of the financial departments are provided with directives and instructions pertaining to the set-up
and  maintenance  of  the  financial  administration  and  reporting  systems.  Details  of  these  are  provided  in  a
reference document. The directives and instructions comply with the prevailing IFRS standards.

Internal audit
The  Internal  Auditor  carries  out  his  tasks  on  the  basis  of  a  detailed  internal  audit  plan,  a  predetermined
assessment  framework  and  the  Accell  Group  Internal  Control  Framework.  The  Accell  Group  Internal  Control
Framework outlines the inherent risks for each process and the related internal control measures. The findings and
recommendations  of  the  Internal  Audit  are  used  to  strengthen  the  internal  controls.  The  findings  and
recommendation are then shared with the members of the Board of Directors and are subject to fixed follow-up
deadlines.  The  findings  with  high  priority  are  reported  directly  to  the  Audit  Committee.  This  also  applies  to  the
follow-up on previous high-priority findings.
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The Accell Group Internal Control Framework also includes embedded internal procedures, guidelines and
management regulations that can have a financial impact. The company has drawn up management regulations
to involve the Board of Directors in important decentralised decisions and to grant approval for such decisions,
frequently in writing.
In recent years, internal audits were conducted at various Accell Group subsidiaries and attention was devoted to
group-wide  control  measures.  The  subject  of  fraud  is  discussed  with  the  local  management  and  in  regular
consultations with the CFO,  as part  of  the internal  audits.  This  also draws attention to the responsibility  for  the
prevention and detection of fraud risk and shares same with the local management.

In 2016, the company will  continue to develop the Accell  Group Internal Control  Framework and the group-wide
control measures. The responsibility for maintaining the Accell Group Internal Control Framework will be vested in
the  Accell  Group  subsidiaries.  In  addition,  the  internal  auditor  will  review  the  risk  management  system  and
facilitate the 2016 risk analysis.

In addition to the previously mentioned regular internal audits, the Board of Directors or the audit committee may
request specific ad hoc audits.

External auditor
An  annual  audit  plan  is  drawn  up  by  the  external  auditor.  In  the  context  of  the  audit  of  the  annual  financial
statements by the external auditor an assessment is carried out regarding the set-up and presence of the most
important internal controls of the business processes. This is reported in a formal letter to the management. The
most important findings are discussed with the plenary Board of Directors and also with the Audit Committee of
the Supervisory Board.

Letter of Representation
he directors  of  subsidiaries  each year  sign a  Letter  of  Representation,  which is  a  detailed declaration,  related to
financial  annual  reports  and  the  presence  and  functioning  of  the  internal  control  systems.  For  this  detailed
statement,  the  company  has  drawn  up  a  checklist  of  subjects  that  is  signed  annually  by  other  members  of  the
management of the Accell Group subsidiaries as well.

Other risk management measures :

Accell has a Code of Conduct that has been updated by the Board of Directors of Accell Group and approved by●

the Supervisory Board in 2013. The Code of Conduct applies to all personnel of Accell Group and its subsidiaries
and is published on the Accell Group corporate website;
The basic premises for the directors of Accell Group’s operating companies are provided by management●

regulations. These include detailed regulations on the subjects of internal decision making and communications;
Accell has a Whistle blower procedure that has been updated by the Board of Directors of Accell Group and●

approved by the Supervisory Board in 2013. The Whistleblower procedure has been published on the corporate
website of Accell Group and ensures that possible violations of existing policy and procedures can be reported
without any negative consequences for the person reporting the violation;
In 2013 it was decided to coordinate the inventory management on a central level in such a way to gain more●

control on the effects of the decentralized structure of the logistics organisation with regard to the level of
inventories.
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Risk analysis and mitigation

The results of Accell  Group are affected by the general economic conditions and the economic outlook of the
countries in  which the company is  active.  The conditions in  the key purchasing markets also play a  role.  The
following overview is not an exhaustive list of risks to which the company is exposed.

Strategic risks

Changes in the market
Behaviour  in  the  market  may  change.  Reduced  consumer  confidence  may  inspire  consumers  to  postpone  large
expenditures,  while  dealers  may  reduce  their  stocks  by  postponing  purchases  when  faced  with  more  limited
financing opportunities.

Mitigation

Accell Group devotes considerable attention to brand positioning and innovation to inspire consumer preferences for our
products.  Active  dealer  management  ensures  that  dealers  have  the  tools  to  increase  their  turnover  of  Accell  Group
products. The Accell Group organisation must be flexible, so it can respond quickly to changing market demands.

Acquisitions
Accell  Group’s growth strategy is partly dependent on acquisitions.  However,  it  is  possible that acquisitions may
not meet expectations and the goals set. This pertains to estimates and assessments made during the acquisition
process and also to integration following the acquisition. Secondly, it is possible that Accell Group cannot execute
its acquisition strategy because it is not sufficiently successful in acquiring suitable companies.

Mitigation
Accell  Group  uses  varying  internal  know-how  and  experience,  and  also  hires  external  experts.  The  Board  of
Directors  is  always  directly  involved  in  an  acquisition  project.  The  Supervisory  Board  is  an  active  partner  in  the
acquisition  process  and  must  approve  acquisitions.  Also  in  some  cases  the  bank  consortium  must  approve
acquisitions.

New companies are generally integrated into the group in the short term. Accell Group is constantly looking for and
in contact with potential acquisition candidates

The  changing  conditions  in  the  worldwide  economy  and  changing  financing  opportunities  may  make  it  more
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difficult or even impossible to finance acquisitions. Acquisition parties with greater capital strength may be at an
advantage in those situations.

Operational risks

Marketing and development
The brand strategy of Accell Group demands continuous innovation and development of attractive products, due in
part  to  developments  at  its  competitors.  This  challenge  must  also  be  met  in  the  long  term.  There  is  a  risk  that
Accell  Group will  fail  to develop and market sufficiently innovative products.  Changes in consumer awareness of
brands and products also play a role in this.

Mitigation

Accell  Group  continuously  invests  in  the  development  of  its  brands  and  products.  The  availability  of  talented  and
motivated  managers  and  staff  is  a  key  factor  in  this  respect.  The  management  teams  of  the  companies  are  assessed
periodically.

Competition
The bicycle sector is characterized by intense competition between existing providers, while at the same time new
providers and sector related products enter the market. There is a risk that Accell Group is not sufficiently able to
predict the behaviour of (potential) competitors or to respond to it adequately.

Mitigation

Accell  Group spends a lot  of  time and money on market research,  the outcome of which is  used in the decision making
process.

Seasonal sales and logistical risks
Turnover is subject to a great extent to seasonal influences. Bicycles are sold primarily in the spring and summer.
There  is  a  risk  that  the  company  will  not  be  able  to  adapt  quickly  enough,  which  could  put  pressure  on  timely
deliveries. The weather may also affect seasonal sales. Poor weather in the spring and/or particularly hot or bad
weather in the summer may have a negative impact on the demand for bicycles.

Mitigation

Accell Group uses seasonal production and sales plans and aims to constantly improve the predictability of its sales. Long
supply lines combined with the unpredictability of the weather and the sales can result in higher stock levels. The company
therefore aims to be as flexible as possible in its response to supply and demand during the season. Accell Group does not
use hedging products to cover the impact of the weather.
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Product liability
Defects in products may result in injury to and claims from end users, which may lead to financial damage and/or
damage to the company’s reputation.  Increasing self-awareness among consumers is a key development in this
respect.

Mitigation

The company takes great care to ensure the quality and safety of its products. To this end, it uses tools such as standards
partly based on laws and regulations, test and control systems, and recall scenarios.

Import duties
Imports of bicycle components from outside Europe are subject to various types of duty. There is a general import
duty (5-15%), while certain countries enjoy discount rates. In addition, an antidumping duty applies to imports of
bicycles  from  China  to  Europe.  The  current  duty  for  imports  from  China  is  48.5%.  The  regulation  also  applies  to
imports of specific bicycle components from China to prevent the import of near-complete bicycles in the guise of
components.  The  main  purpose  of  the  regulations  is  to  prevent  the  import  of  complete  bicycles  at  unfair  price
levels. The absence of such duties, or a substantial change to the level of the duty, could result in changes to the
supply and demand structure in the European bicycle markets.

Mitigation

Bicycle  manufacturers  that  import  components  for  in-house  assembly  are  exempt  from  this  duty.  All  the  Accell  Group
companies  in  Europe  are  exempt.  Accell  Group  positions  its  bicycle  range  in  the  higher  market  segment.  In  terms  of
strategic positioning in this segment, quality and response time to market developments are of key importance. The share
of assembly costs in the total cost price of bicycles in the higher segment is limited. This reduces the impact of a possible
termination or substantial reduction of the import duty.

Financial risks

Currency and interest rate
Turnover,  profit  and  cash  flow  of  the  company  are  subject  to  exchange  rate  fluctuations  of  non-functional
currencies. This pertains primarily the American dollar and to a lesser extent the Japanese yen, the British pound,
the  Taiwanese dollar  and the  Chinese Yuan.  Changes in  interest  rates  also  affect  the  company results  and cash
flow.

Mitigation

Accell  Group seeks to minimise the impact of  non-functional  currencies and controls the transaction risk by covering its
currency needs with derivatives. All derivatives used have an underlying economic basis. This principle is applied strictly to
prevent potentially speculative positions. Accell Group has an active interest rate policy, partly through the use of interest
rate swaps.
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Financing risk
The company is partly financed via a banking facility, which is used to absorb the impact of seasonal fluctuations in
working capital, or to finance (smaller) acquisitions. There is a risk that the company will not be able to obtain the
required  financial  resources,  or  not  obtain  those  resources  on  time,  to  meet  its  financial  obligations,  which  may
endanger the growth of the company.

Mitigation

Accell Group mitigates this risk with a committed group financing facility which has been agreed upon with a number of
solid financing parties. The facility is in line with the characteristics of the company and provides the financing parties with
sufficient transparency and security. The conditions of the committed facility are disclosed in more detail in the financial
statements on page 101 of the annual report.

Further risk analysis
The  Board  of  Directors  and  the  local  management  conduct  a  bi-annual  risk  analysis  as  part  of  the  risk
management system, to assess the likelihood and impact of potential risks. Based on that assessment, they draw
up an overview of the main risks.
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Statement of the Board of the Directors
In view of the breach of the system of internal control measures at Accell Asia Taiwan, which resulted in a major
theft  of  money  (see  page  44  of  the  annual  report),  the  Board  of  Directors  cannot  conclude  that  the  overall  risk
management and control  system was adequately effective in the year under review.  With respect to Accell  Asia
Taiwan, the thorough investigation concluded that this was an isolated incident. Accell Group has incorporated the
findings of the investigation in a recovery plan to further tighten the risk management and control system. Taking
into account the effective execution of this recovery plan, the Board of Directors expects the risk management and
control system to function effectively in the current financial year.

The  Board  of  Directors  wishes  to  note  in  this  respect  that  the  internal  risk  management  and  control  system  is
intended to identify and control significant risks to which the company is exposed, taking into account the nature
and scope of the organisation. Such a system cannot provide absolute certainty that objectives will be realised. Nor
can it prevent with certainty the occurrence of potential material errors, damage, fraud or violations of statutory
regulations.  The  actual  effectiveness  of  the  system  can  only  be  assessed  on  the  basis  of  the  results  over  an
extended period of time.

With reference to article 5:25c, section 2, of the Financial Supervision Act and with due observance of the above,
and based on the audit of the financial statements by the external auditor, the Board of Directors states that:

the financial statements as included on pages 109 to 174 of this report provide a true representation of the●

assets, liabilities and the financial position as at the balance sheet date, as well as the profit for the financial year
of Accell Group N.V. and the companies included jointly in the consolidation;
the board report as included on pages 2 to 107 of this report provides a true representation of the situation as at●

31 December 2015, and the course of business at the company and at companies included in the joint
consolidation during the 2015 financial year. This annual report includes a description of the material risks Accell
Group N.V. faces.
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7 Financial statements
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Consolidated balance sheet
Before profit appropriation (in thousands euros)

 notes  31-12-15  31-12-14  01-01-14
     revised1  revised1

 
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 69,771  68,071  65,121  

Goodwill 10 58,189  55,561  46,505  

Other intangible assets 11 45,056  42,957  40,066  

Non-consolidated companies 12 4,981  4,991  4,526  

Deferred tax assets 19 6,653  7,410  11,285  

Net pension assets 18 20,186  19,763  11,178  

Other financial assets 13 0  2,183  2,463  

   204,836  200,936  181,144

        

Current assets
Inventories 14 338,684  244,457  238,308  

Trade receivables 15 134,570  133,252  99,495  

Other financial instruments 22 6,048  6,039  0  

Tax receivables  9,899  14,979  8,864  

Other receivables  21,452  18,602  18,622  

Cash and cash equivalents  14,236  13,529  15,907  

   524,889  430,858  381,196
 

Assets held for sale   0  0  19,711

 
Total assets   729,725  631,794  582,051
 1) Comparative information 2014 has been adjusted due to the retrospective application of an accounting change in respect of the UK pension asset; a
reference is made to page 120.

The figures following the various items refer to the notes on pages 129 to 159.

http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=notes
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=9
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=10
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=11
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=12
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=19
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=18
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=13
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=14
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=15
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansA&tnote=22
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 notes  31-12-15  31-12-14  01-01-14
     revised1  revised1

 
EQUITY & LIABILITIES
Group equity
Share capital 16 253  249  244  

Reserves  273,402  254,358  220,759  

Net profit for the year  32,286  26,500  19,020  

   305,941  281,107  240,023
 

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans 17 58,963  70,865  103,313  

Pension provisions 18 6,170  6,621  5,506  

Deferred tax liabilities 19 9,560  12,721  12,108  

Provisions 20 6,606  5,896  5,330  

Deferred income 21 2,005  2,560  2,462  

   83,304  98,663  128,719

        

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and bank
overdrafts

17 155,242  94,971  96,087  

Trade payables  135,585  108,502  71,238  

Other financial instruments 22 3,209  4,385  9,027  

Current tax liabilities  19,821  22,192  12,455  

Provisions 20 5,937  5,695  6,635  

Deferred income 21 910  550  650  

Other liabilities  19,776  15,729  16,547  

   340,480  252,024  212,639
 

Liabilities held for sale   0  0  670

 
Total equity & liabilities   729,725  631,794  582,051
 1) Comparative information 2014 has been adjusted due to the retrospective application of an accounting change in respect of the UK pension asset; a
reference is made to page 120.

The figures following the various items refer to the notes on pages 129 to 159.
 

http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=notes
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=16
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=17
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=18
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=19
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=20
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=21
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=17
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=22
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=20
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=BalansB&tnote=21
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Consolidated income statement
(in thousands of euros)

 notes  2015  2014
     revised1

 
Net turnover 1  986,402  882,404

      
Costs of raw materials and components  673,412  614,105  

Cost of inventory change  -1,310  1,130  

Personnel costs 2 119,320  107,413  

Depreciation 3 10,058  8,903  

Other operating expenses 4 122,388  106,050  

   923,868  837,601

   62,534  44,803

      
Incident Taiwan 5  -4,000  0

Reorganisation costs   0  -1,616

Sale of business activities and acquisition costs   0  951

Operating profit   58,534  44,138

      
Income from non-consolidated companies (12) 12 -930  387  

Financial income 6 616  272  

Financial expenses 6 -9,689  -9,031  

   -10,003  -8,372

      
Profit before taxes   48,531  35,766

      
Taxes 7  -16,245  -9,266

      
Net profit   32,286  26,500
 

Earnings per share (in euro)
Earnings per share 8  1.29  1.06

Weighted average number of issued shares   25,116,249  24,685,681

Earnings per share (diluted)   1.28  1.05

Weighted average number of issued shares (diluted)   25,267,645  24,828,198

 1) Comparative information 2014 has been adjusted due to the retrospective application of an accounting change in respect of the UK pension asset; a
reference is made to page 120.

The figures following the various items refer to the notes on pages 129 to 159.
 

http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=notes
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=1
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=2
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=3
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=4
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=5
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=12
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=6
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=6
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=7
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Winst_en_Verliesrekening&tnote=8
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(in thousands of euros)

 2015 2014
  revised1

 
Net profit 32,286 26,500

   
Items that will not be reclassfied subsequently to the income statement   

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations -1,858 5,111

Movements in deferred taxes 622 -1,051

 -1,236 4,060

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement   

Fair value adjustment of financial instruments -1,616 14,997

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 4,069 6,193

Movements in deferred taxes 380 -3,635

 2,833 17,555

   
Total comprehensive income 33,883 48,115
 Comparative information 2014 has been adjusted due to the retrospective application of an accounting change in respect of the UK pension asset; a
reference is made to page 120.

The figures following the various items refer to the notes on pages 129 through 159.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
(in thousands of euros)

 notes 2015 2014
   revised1

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit  58,534 44,138
Depreciation 3 10,058 8,915
Share-based payments 2 355 266

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital and provisions  68,947 53,319
Movement in inventories  -83,485 -396
Movement in receivables  -7,073 -29,777
Movement in trade payables and other liabilities  23,577 38,396
Movement in provisions and deferred revenue  -1,284 -5,379

  -68,265 2,844
Cash flow from operating activities  682 56,163
Interest paid  -9,976 -9,183
Income taxes paid  -9,750 -8,754

Net cash flows from operating activities  -19,044 38,226

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received  707 270
Investment in property, plant and equipment 9 -10,529 -10,464
Divestments of property, plant and equipment 9 385 483
Investments in intangible assets 11 -1,082 -382
Cash flow movements in financial fixed assets  292 740
Sale of business activities  0 23,397
Business combinations 23 -1,819 -13,970

Net cash flows from investing activities  -12,046 74

 
Free cash flow 2  -31,090 38,300

Cash flows from financing activities
New loans  0 54
Repayments of long-term loans  -12,631 -33,256
Borrowing/ repayments bank overdrafts  52,362 -1,024
Cash dividend 24 -8,654 -7,238
Stock and option plans  -116 -53

Net cash flows from financing activities  30,961 -41,517

 
Net cash flow  -129 -3,217
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  836 839
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January  13,529 15,907

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December  14,236 13,529
 Comparative information 2014 has been adjusted due to the retrospective application of an accounting change in respect of the UK pension asset; a
reference is made to page 120.
 2) Free cash flow is defined as the balance of the net cash flow from operating and investing activities and is not defined as a financial performance
indicator in IFRS.

The figures following the various items refer to the notes on pages 129 to 159.
 

http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=notes
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=3
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=2
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=9
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=9
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=11
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=23
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=Kasstroomoverz_&tnote=24
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(in thousands of euros)

 
Issued share

capital

Share
premium

reserve
Hedging
reserve

Translation
reserve

Other
statutory

reserve
Othe

reserver
Result

financial year Total equity

Balance as at 1 January 2014 244 44,442 -9,047 -12,735 1,530 196,529 19,020 239,983
 

Correction of error in pension
asset      40  40

Revised balance as at 1 January
2014 244 44,442 -9,047 -12,735 1,530 196,569 19,020 240,023

         
Movements in statutory reserve
intangible assets     -359 359  0

Remeasurement of defined
benefit obligations      5,111  5,111

Fair value adjustment of financial
instruments   14,997     14,997

Movements in deferred taxes   -3,635   -1,051  -4,686

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations    6,193    6,193

Other comprehensive
income for the year 0 0 11,362 6,193 -359 4,419 0 21,615

Net profit for the year      19,020 7,480 26,500

Total comprehensive income
for the year 0 0 11,362 6,193 -359 23,439 7,480 48,115

         
Recognition of share-based
payments      266  266

Cash dividend      -7,238  -7,238

Stock dividend 5 -5      0

Options exercised and
performance shares  -53      -53

Other movements     250 -256  -6

Revised balance as at 31
December 2014 249 44,384 2,315 -6,542 1,421 212,780 26,500 281,107
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Issued share

capital

Share
premium

reserve
Hedging
reserve

Translation
reserve

Other
statutory

reserve
Othe

reserver
Result

financial year Total equity

Balance as at 1 January 2015 249 44,384 2,315 -6,542 1,421 212,780 26,500 281,107
 

Movements in statutory reserve
intangible assets     -80 80  0

Remeasurement of defined
benefit obligations      -1,858  -1,858

Fair value adjustment of financial
instruments   -1,616     -1,616

Movements in deferred taxes   380   622  1,002

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations    4,069    4,069

Other comprehensive
income for the year 0 0 -1,236 4,069 -80 -1,156 0 1,597

Net profit for the year      26,500 5,786 32,286

Total comprehensive income
for the year 0 0 -1,236 4,069 -80 25,344 5,786 33,883

         
Recognition of share-based
payments      355  355

Cash dividend      -8,654  -8,654

Stock dividend 4 -4      0

Options exercised and
performance shares  -116      -116

Other movements      -634  -634

Balance as at 31 December
2015 253 44,264 1,079 -2,473 1,341 229,191 32,286 305,941
 





Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Financial statements 119

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

General information

Accell  Group  N.V.  (“Accell  Group”)  in  Heerenveen,  the  Netherlands,  is  the  holding  company  of  a  group  of  legal
entities.  An  overview of  the  data  required  pursuant  to  articles  2:379 and  2:414 of  the  Netherlands  Civil  Code  is
enclosed  on  page  139  of  the  financial  statements.  Accell  Group  with  its  group  of  companies  is  internationally
active in the design, development, production, marketing and sales of innovative and high-quality bicycles, bicycle
parts and accessories and fitness equipment.

Accell Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2015 have been prepared in accordance with
International  Accounting Standards Board (IASB) standards as approved by the European Commission which are
applicable as at 31 December 2015.

The financial data of Accell Group are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements. An abbreviated income
statement is therefore presented for the parent company, as permitted under article 2:402 of the Netherlands Civil
Code.

Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared at historical cost, unless stated otherwise.

The  accounting  policies  outlined  below  were  applied  consistently  for  all  the  periods  presented  in  these
consolidated financial statements.

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
No  new  IFRSs  became  effective  from  1  January  2015.  Accell  Group  has  adopted  the  following  amendments  to
IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the 2015 financial year:

amendments to IAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions; and●

IFRS Annual improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle; and●

IFRS Annual improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle.●

The  application  of  the  amendments  has  no  material  impact  on  the  disclosure  or  amounts  recognised  in  Accell
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

New and revised IFRSs not yet (mandatorily) effective
All  of  the  following  new  standards,  amendments  and  interpretations  are  effective  (and  EU  endorsed)  from  1
January 2016 unless otherwise stated.

Accell  Group  does  currently  believe  the  following  amendments  to  IFRSs  will  or  could  apply  to  Accell  Group,  but
adoption would have no material impact on the consolidated results or financial position of Accell Group:

amendments to IFRS 11 (Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations), IAS 1 (Disclosure initiative)●

and IAS 16 and IAS 38 (Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation),
annual improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle.●

The following new and amended standards are expected not to apply to Accell Group:

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral accounts; and●
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amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 (Agriculture: bearer plants), IAS 27 (Equity method in separate financial●

statements) and IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (Investment entities: applying the consolidation exception).

Accell Group is currently assessing the impact of the following new standards that are not yet effective and is yet
to quantify the potential impact:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from the year ending 31 December 2018); and●

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective from the year ending 31 December 2018); and●

IFRS 16 Leases (effective from the year ending 31 December 2019).●

Correction of error in pension asset
The  valuation  of  the  UK  pension  plan  is  adjusted  in  the  balance  sheet  following  a  recommendation  by  the
Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (“AFM”) about the application of accounting standards regarding
pensions.  In  the  prior  financial  statements  Accell  Group  applied  a  degree  of  caution  in  the  valuation  of  the  UK
pension plan. In view of the long-term nature and uncertainties when valuing such plans, Accell Group limited the
amount  of  capitalised  economic  benefit  to  the  total  of  the  annual  contributions  made  by  the  company  to  the
pension plan. According to the AFM the maximum economic benefit, as calculated in accordance with IAS 19 and
IFRIC 14, must be reflected in the balance sheet and it does not suffice to disclose a valuation surplus in a note to
the financial  statements.  In the financial  statements 2015 Accell  Group adjusted the valuation of its UK pension
plan as well as the comparative figures 2014. Based on IAS 8 (prior period errors) and IFRS 3.50 the correction of
the valuation of the UK pension plan must be adjusted from the Raleigh acquisition balance sheet for 2012; the
adjustment therefore results in a reduction of goodwill. Besides the adjustment leads, on the basis of IAS 19.123
and IAS 19.124, to a pension interest gain in the income statement. The adjustment in this manner also comprises
a deferred tax liability. The following adjustments are recorded:

 31-12-14 31-12-14 01-01-14 01-01-14

 revised  revised  

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Consolidated balance sheet
Goodwill 55,561 63,654 46,505 53,652

Net pension assets 19,763 2,521 11,178 1,564

Total assets 631,794 622,645 582,051 579,584

Group equity 281,107 275,911 240,023 239,983

Deferred tax liabilities 12,721 8,768 12,108 9,681

Total equity and liabilities 631,794 622,645 582,051 579,584
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 31-12-14 31-12-14   

 revised    

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000   

 
Consolidated income statement
Other operating expenses 106,050 106,571   

Taxes -9,266 -9,162   

Net profit 26,500 26,083   
 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Net profit 26,500 26,083   

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations 5,111 -1,406   

Movements in deferred taxes -1,051 370   

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 6,193 6,550   

Total comprehensive income 48,115 42,959   

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Accell Group and its subsidiaries, being
the  group  companies  and  other  legal  entities  in  which  Accell  Group  has  either  a  direct  or  indirect  controlling
interest with regard to the financial and operational policies.

The  financial  data  of  subsidiaries  acquired  during  the  financial  year  are  consolidated  from  the  date  that  Accell
Group  acquired  a  controlling  interest.  The  financial  data  of  subsidiaries  disposed  during  the  financial  year  are
included in the consolidation until the date that Accell Group ceased to hold control. If necessary, the figures in the
subsidiaries’  financial  statements  are  adjusted  to  bring  the  statements  in  line  with  the  accounting  standards
applied by Accell Group.

The financial data of the consolidated subsidiaries are fully included in the consolidated financial statements after
elimination  of  all  intercompany  balances  and  transactions.  Unrealised  profits  and  losses  on  intercompany
transactions are eliminated from the consolidated income statement.

Associates  and joint  ventures  with  an equity  participation of  50% or  less  and where Accell  Group does not  have
control,  are  valued  according  to  the  equity  method  or  valued  proportional  interest  in  the  fair  value.  Unrealised
profits on intercompany transactions are eliminated pro rata based on the Accell  Group interest in the company.
Unrealised  losses  are  also  eliminated  pro  rata  but  only  to  the  extent  that  there  is  no  evidence  for  impairment
losses.

A  list  of  consolidated  subsidiaries  and  non-consolidated  companies  is  provided  in  note  12  of  the  note  to  the
consolidated financial statements.

Business combinations
Acquisitions  of  subsidiaries  are  accounted  for  by  the  purchase  accounting  method.  On  acquisition  date,  the
acquisition price is applied to the sum of the fair value of the assets acquired, the liabilities incurred or assumed
and the equity instruments issued by Accell Group in exchange for the controlling interest in the company acquired.

Identifiable  assets,  liabilities  and  contingent  liabilities  of  the  companies  acquired  that  meet  the  criteria  for
accounting under IFRS 3 are recorded at their  fair  value on the acquisition date.  The changes in the fair  value of
contingent  liabilities  are  accounted  for  in  the  income  statement.  Costs  relating  to  the  acquisition  of  business
combinations are expensed directly into the income statement.
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Foreign currency
The income statement and balance sheet are stated in euros, which is the functional currency of Accell Group and
the  presentation  currency  for  the  consolidated  financial  statements.  Receivables,  debts  and  liabilities  in  foreign
currencies are converted at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date.

In order to hedge its currency risks Accell Group uses derivative financial instruments. The basis for these currency
derivatives is detailed under “Financial instruments”.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the reporting period are recorded at the exchange rates applying on the
transaction  date  insofar  the  currency  is  not  part  of  hedging  instruments.  Currency  differences  arising  from  this
conversion are recorded in the income statement.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated using the exchange rates applicable on the respective
balance  sheet  dates.  The  income  statements  of  foreign  subsidiaries  are  converted  at  the  weighted  average
monthly exchange rates applying for the periods involved. Differences arising from this conversion are recorded as
gain or loss in the translation reserve of shareholders’ equity. These translation differences are recognised in the
income statement at the time when these subsidiaries are disposed.

Estimates
Certain  estimates  and  assumptions  are  made  by  Accell  Group  when  preparing  the  consolidated  financial
statements. These estimates and assumptions have an impact on assets and liabilities, disclosure of off-balance
assets and liabilities at balance sheet date, and income and expense items for the reporting period.

Important estimates and assumptions mainly relate to provisions, pensions and other employee benefits, goodwill
and other intangible assets, deferred tax assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates and
assumptions.

All  assumptions,  expectations  and  forecasts  that  are  used  as  a  basis  for  estimates  in  the  consolidated  financial
statements represent an outlook as accurate as possible for Accell Group. These estimates only represent Accell
Group’s interpretation as of the dates on which they were prepared. Estimates relate to known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that can lead to future results differing significantly from those forecasted.

Revenue recognition
Revenue  comprise  the  fair  value  of  the  consideration  received  or  receivable  from  sale  of  goods  in  the  ordinary
course  of  Accell  Group's  activities,  minus  any  discounts  granted and value  added taxes.  Accell  Group recognises
revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it  is  probable that future economic benefits
will  flow  to  Accell  Group.  Revenues  related  to  the  delivery  of  bicycles,  bicycle  parts  and  accessories  and  fitness
equipment  are  recognised  at  the  moment  of  delivery  and/or  transfer  of  legal  title.  Revenue  from  rendering
services is accounted for in proportion to the services rendered as at balance sheet date.

Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax consists of current taxes and deferred taxes. Current taxes are based on the taxable result
for  the  year  and  are  calculated  at  the  rates  that  are  effective  on  the  balance  sheet  date.  Differences  between
commercial  and  taxable  results  are  caused  by  temporary  and  permanent  differences.  Deferred  tax  assets  and
liabilities  are  recorded  for  temporary  differences  between  the  values  of  assets  and  liabilities  based  on  the
accounting policies applied in these financial statements and those applied for tax purposes. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets is assessed on each balance sheet date and is adjusted downwards insofar as it is unlikely that
sufficient future taxable profits will be available.

Deferred taxes are calculated against the rate that is expected to apply at the time of settlement. Deferred taxes
are recorded in the income statement, unless they are related to items that are directly included in shareholders’
equity. In that case, the deferred taxes are also recorded in shareholders’ equity.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legal right to do so and the same fiscal authority levies the
taxes.

Share-based payments
The company’s long term incentive plan for the Board of Directors comprises restricted shares and stock options.
The  Supervisory  Board  awards  shares  and  options  to  the  directors  based  on  the  realisation  of  targets  set  in
agreement with the Board of Directors and the expected contribution that the members of the Board of Directors
will  make to the further development of the company. The options granted are unconditional once awarded and
must  be  held  for  at  least  three  years  after  they  are  awarded  and  have  a  maximum  duration  of  eight  years.
Restricted shares awarded since 2009 are conditional. Two years after the initial award, the definitive number of
restricted shares will be determined based on, among other, the total shareholders’ return of Accell Group shares
compared to the total return of the Midcap index of Euronext in Amsterdam in a period of three consecutive years.
After definitive award, restricted shares have to be held for another two years.

In addition, the company also has a restricted share plan for directors of subsidiaries that have made a significant
contribution to the results of  Accell  Group.  After  closing  the  financial year, conditional  shares  are  allocated to
the  directors  if  the  pre-determined  targets  for  the  financial  year  have  been  achieved.  These  shares  become
unconditional  when  a  participating  director  remains  in  the  employment  of  the  company  three  years  after  the
conditional award.

The stock options and share plans qualify as share-based payment transactions settled in equity instruments and
are stated at fair value when awarded. This fair value is recorded as an expense on a straight- line basis during the
awarding period, based on the company’s estimate of the shares that will ultimately be awarded and adjusted to
compensate  for  the  effect  of  non-market-standard  awarding  conditions.  The  fair  value  of  the  stock  options  is
determined  using  an  option  valuation  model  (Black-Scholes-Merton).  The  expected  life  used  in  the  model  is
adjusted, according to the company’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

Lease agreements
Lease agreements are classified as financial lease agreements if the economic benefits and obligations related to
the  underlying  asset  are  largely  at  the  risk  and  for  the  account  of  Accell  Group.  All  other  lease  agreements  are
classified as operational lease agreements.

Lease  payments  for  operational  lease  agreements  are  charged  to  expenses  on  a  straight-line  basis  over  the
duration of the agreement.

Property, plant and equipment
Property,  plant  and equipment  are  valued at  historical  cost  less  accumulated depreciation  and any accumulated
impairment  losses.  Government  grants  received  which  directly  relate  to  property,  plant  and  equipment  are
deducted from the historical cost.

Depreciation is calculated on the basis of the straight-line method. As such, the historical  cost,  less any residual
value, is depreciated over the expected economic life. Land is not depreciated.

The  gain  or  loss  of  divestments  of  property,  plant  and  equipment  is  determined  as  the  difference  between  the
proceeds from sale and the carrying value of the asset. The gain or loss is accounted for in the income statement.
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Impairment of non-current assets other than goodwill
On each balance sheet date, Accell Group reviews whether there is any indication that non-current assets may be
subject to impairment. If there are such indications, the recoverable amount of the asset involved is estimated in
order  to  determine  the  extent  to  which  an  impairment  loss  may  apply.  If  it  is  not  possible  to  determine  the
recoverable  amount  of  the  individual  asset,  then  Accell  Group  determines  the  recoverable  amount  of  the  cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An  impairment  loss  applies  if  the  carrying  value  of  an  asset  exceeds  its  recoverable  amount.  The  recoverable
amount is the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use; the value in use being the present
value of the expected future cash flows from the use of the asset and its ultimate disposal. A pre-tax discount rate
is applied to determine present value, whereby the percentage provides a good indication from the assessment of
the current market conditions regarding time value of money and the asset’s specific risks.

An  impairment  loss  is  charged  to  the  income  statement  in  the  period  in  which  it  occurs,  unless  it  relates  to  a
revalued asset. In that case, the impairment is accounted for as a reduction of the revaluation.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities at the time the subsidiary is acquired. Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

Goodwill is attributed to the (group of) cash-generating units of Accell Group that are expected to benefit from the
synergy created by the combination, to determine impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if there is any indication that goodwill might have to be impaired. If the recoverable amount of
the  (group  of)  cash-generating  units  is  less  than  its  carrying  amount,  the  impairment  loss  reduces  the  carrying
amount of the goodwill.

The  recoverable  amount  of  a  cash-generating  unit  is  determined  based  on  the  value  in  use,  which  is  based  on
expected  cash  flows.  These  cash  flows  are  based,  among  other  things,  on  realised  results  in  the  past.  Once  a
goodwill impairment loss is recognised it is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Upon  the  disposal  of  a  subsidiary  and/or  activities,  the  attributable  amount  of  goodwill  is  included  in  the
determination of the gain or loss upon disposal.

Other intangible assets

Trademarks, patents and customer lists
Intangible  assets  include  trademarks,  patents  and  customer  lists,  acquired  in  a  business  combination  by  Accell
Group  and  recognised  separately  from  goodwill.  Separately  acquired  intangible  assets  are  stated  at  fair  value.
Intangible  assets with a  limited life,  such as patents and customer lists,  are depreciated on a  straight-line basis
over  the  expected  economic  life,  for  patents  generally  estimated  at  five  years  and  for  customer  lists  generally
estimated at ten to twenty years.

Assets  with  an  indefinite  useful  life,  such as  trademarks,  are  not  depreciated,  but  are  tested for  impairment,  as
described for goodwill. Trademarks have an indefinite useful life, because the brands acquired are positioned in the
middle and upper segments and mostly have a long history and tradition in the local and international markets in
which they operate.

Software
Software is classified as intangible asset or as property, plant and equipment, depending on which element is more
significant. When the software is not an integral part of the related hardware, software is treated as an intangible
asset. Software is depreciated from the date when the software is used on a straight-line basis over the estimated
economic useful life of three to five years.
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Development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it  is  incurred.  An intangible
asset arising from development is recognised if, and only if, all the following criteria have been met:

the asset is uniquely identified and the costs can be determined separately;■

the technical feasibility of the asset has been sufficiently demonstrated;■

it is probable that the asset will generate future economic revenues;■

the development expenditures can be measured.■

Capitalised  development  costs  are  depreciated  from  the  date  when  used  on  a  straight-line  basis  over  the
estimated economic useful life, which is expected to be three to five years.

Inventories
Raw materials and consumables and trading products are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The
cost  of  purchase  of  inventories  comprise  the  purchase  price  and  a  systematic  allocation  of  cost  of  transport,
import  duties  and  other  non-recoverable  taxes.  Lower  net  realisable  value  is  determined  through  individual
assessment of inventories.

Semi-finished  and  finished  goods  are  stated  at  the  lower  of  conversion  cost  or  net  realisable  value.  Lower  net
realisable  value  is  determined  through  individual  assessment  of  inventories.  Cost  of  conversion  include  direct
material  consumption,  direct  labor  and  machining  costs,  plus  all  other  costs  that  can  be  attributed  directly  to
production. Net realisable value is based on the expected selling price, less cost to complete and sell.

Goods in transit are shipped goods, of which Accell Group obtained the economic ownership and which have not
been received on balance sheet date. Goods in transit are stated at cost.

Assets held for sale
Non-current  assets  (or  disposal  groups)  are  classified  as  held  for  sale  if  its  carrying  amount  will  be  recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

Assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment losses
are recorded in the income statement, when classified as assets held for sale.

Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares less directly attributable costs
of the issue of shares are accounted for as a change in share capital and share premium reserve.

Financial instruments

Trade receivables
Trade  receivables  are  initially  recorded  at  fair  value.  Trade  receivables  are  after  initial  recognition  recorded  at
amortised  cost,  using  the  effective  interest  rate  method  less  a  provision  for  impairment  losses,  if  necessary.
Interest  income  is  included  on  the  basis  of  the  effective  interest  rate  unless  there  is  no  material  effect  on  the
current  assets.  Provisions  are  determined  on  the  basis  of  an  individual  assessment  of  the  recoverability  of  the
receivables. Given the short term nature the nominal value is considered to be equal to the fair value as well as the
amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  consist  of  petty  cash  and  bank  balances  with  a  term  of  less  than  twelve  months.
Current account liabilities to credit institutions are included under current liabilities. Cash and cash equivalents are
stated at nominal value.
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Bank loans
Interest-bearing bank loans are initially recorded at fair value. Transaction costs that can be attributed directly to
procuring  the  loans,  if  material,  are  included in  the  valuation when initially  recorded.  These liabilities  are  initially
recorded  at  amortised  cost  using  the  effective  interest  rate  method.  In  view  of  the  characteristics  of  the  bank
loans, the nominal value is considered to be equal to the fair value as well as the amortised cost.

Trade payables
Amounts  due  to  trade  creditors  are  initially  recorded  at  fair  value.  These  liabilities  are  after  initial  recognition
recorded  at  amortised  cost  using  the  effective  interest  rate  method.  In  view  of  the  short-term  nature  of  these
liabilities, their nominal value is considered to be equal to the fair value as well as the amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments
Other financial instruments, such as interest swaps, currency future contracts, currency future swaps and options
used by Accell Group are stated on the balance sheet at their fair value. The fair value is determined either on the
basis of the net present value of future cash flows or using the binomial option valuation model.

Cash flow hedging
Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly effective are recorded in the hedging reserve of equity. To the
extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in the fair value are recognised in the income statement immediately.
In  the  event  that  the  hedge  results  in  the  inclusion  of  a  non-financial  asset  or  non-financial  liability,  then  the
amounts  that  were  included  in  equity  (in  accordance  with  IAS  39.98b)  are  transferred  to  the  initial  cost  of  the
related asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any  cumulative  gain  or  loss  recognised  in  equity  at  that  time remains  in  equity  and  is  recognised  in  the  income
statement  when  the  anticpated  transaction  occurs.  When  an  anticipated  transaction  is  no  longer  expected  to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

For any hedging instrument to be classified as a cash-flow hedge, Accell Group applies the following criteria:

the hedge is expected to be effective in compensating for changes in anticipated future cash flows which can be■

attributed to the hedged risk; and
the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured; and■

the required documentation regarding the relatonship between the hedged risk and the hedge instrument is■

available from the start of the hedge; and
there must be a high probability that the recorded transactions will actually take place; and■

the hedge has been assessed throughout its duration, and it has been determined that the hedge will be effective■

during the reporting period.

Provisions

General
Provisions are recognised to cover present legal or constructive obligations, arising from events on or before the
balance sheet date, where it is likely that the company will have to meet these obligations and to the extent that
the  obligations  can  be  estimated  reliably.  The  amount  recognised  is  the  best  estimate  of  Accell  Group  of  the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. If material, the liabilities are
discounted to their present value.

Provisions for pensions

Defined benefit pension plans
The pension provision reflects the company’s commitments arising from defined benefit pension plans. Individual
rights to post-employment benefit plans are accumulated depending on criteria such as age, seniority and salary
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level.  Pension liabilities  are  discounted to  determine the present  value;  the fair  value of  plan assets  is  deducted
from  this  amount.  Actuarial  calculations  are  determined  by  qualified  actuaries  using  the  Projected  Unit  Credit
Method.  Liabilities  resulting  from  defined  benefit  obligations  are  calculated  for  every  plan  separately.  In  case  a
defined benefit pension plan results in a surplus, this plan is presented as a pension asset in the balance sheet.

Accell Group recognises a profit or a loss on the settlement of defined benefit plans, when the settlement occurs.
Actuarial profit and losses are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.

Defined benefit pension plans accounted for as defined contribution plans
The majority of the Dutch operating companies have stationed their pension plans at Metalektro, the pension fund
for  the  metal  sector.  These  multi-employer  sector  plans  generally  qualify  as  defined  benefit  plans.  Metalektro
informed  Accell  Group  that  the  multi-employer  sector  plan  qualify  as  a  defined  contribution  plan.  Accordingly,
Accell Group accounts for this plan as a defined contribution plan in the financial statements. Pension expenses for
the reporting period consist of the pension premium payable for that period.

Defined contribution plans
Liabilities  under  defined  contribution  plans  are  accounted  for  as  expenses  as  soon  as  they  are  due.  Payments
under  government  pension  plans  are  treated  as  payments  under  defined  contribution  plans  if  the  liabilities  of
Accell Group are equivalent to the liabilities under a defined contribution plan.

Provision for deferred employee benefits
Other long-term employee benefits, including anniversary bonuses, are based on actuarial calculations.

Warranty provisions
Warranty  provisions  represent  the  estimated  cost  of  warranty  obligations  for  goods  delivered  and  services
rendered  as  at  the  end  of  the  reporting  period.  If  material  discounting  takes  place  to  present  value.  Warranty
claims are charged to the provision.

Cash flow statement
The  cash  flow  statement  is  prepared  using  the  indirect  method.  The  cash  balance  in  the  cash  flow  statement
consists solely of immediately available cash and cash equivalents. Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rate on the transaction date. Expenditures for interest and corporate income taxes are included
in the cash flow from operating activities. Pay-outs of cash dividends are included in the cash flow from financing
activities.  The purchase consideration for  businesses acquired during the year,  as  well  as  the dividends received
and  considerations  received  for  businesses  sold  during  the  year,  are  included  in  the  cash  flow  from  investing
activities  as  well  as  receipts  from  interests.  Cash  acquired  in  an  acquisition  of  a  business  is  deducted  from  the
purchase  consideration.  Non-cash  items  or  effects  are  excluded  from  the  cash  flow  statement.  Currency
translation effects on cash and cash equivalents in foreign currencies are presented in the cash flow statement in
order  to  achieve  reconciliation  between  the  cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  the  beginning  and  the  end  of  the
reporting period.

Segment information
IFRS 8 requires Accell Group to identify operational segments separately on the basis of internal reports that are
regularly  reviewed  by  the  chief  operating  decision  maker  in  order  to  allocate  resources  to  the  segments  and  to
assess their performance. As from the financial year 2015, based on the requirements set out above, Accell Group
identifies the following operational segments: Bicycles and Parts & accessories.

The  segment  Bicycles  ,  which  target  the  middle  and  upper  segments  of  the  market  includes  among  others
children’s  bicycles,  comfortable  and  luxury  city  bicycles,  racing  bikes  and  electrical  bikes.  The  segment  Parts  &
accessories  target  the  middle  and  upper  segments  of  the  aftermarket  of  bicycle  parts  and  accessories  and  the
remaining fitness activities. Operating companies are not identified as an operational segment individually, but are
combined to an operational segment since operating companies show the same economic features and are also
comparable as regards to the nature of products, services and production processes, clients for their products and
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services  and  distribution  channels  of  products  and  services.  A  number  of  operating  companies  in  the  segment
Bicycles also recognise limited-related revenue in bicycle parts and accessories. A number of operating companies
in  the  segment  Parts  &  accessories  also  recognise  limited  bicycle  revenue.  Internal  transfer  prices  between  the
operating  segments  are  determined  on  a  commercial  basis,  which  is  comparable  to  the  approach  adopted  with
third parties.

The geographical segments are derived from the physical location of the assets. The sales to customers reported
in the geographical segments are based on the geographical location of the customers.
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Notes

1.  Net turnover

Turnover and profit allocation per segment:
Segment  reporting  is  based  on  business  segments  as  the  risk  and  return  profile  of  Accell  Group  is  largely
determined  by  the  difference  in  the  activities  and  the  products  that  are  produced.  Because  of  the  sale  of  a
substantial  part  of  the  fitness  activities  in  2014,  in  2015  segment  reporting  is  divided  in  Bicycles  and  Parts  &
accessories. The remaining part of the fitness activities are included in the operating segment Parts & accessories.

Information  related  to  each reportable  segment  is  set  out  below.  Segment  profit  before  tax  is  used to  measure
performance because management believes that this information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of
the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in the same industries.

Segment information is composed as follows:

 Net turnover
Inter segment

turnover Segment result

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

      revised

 
Bicycles 719,021 658,144 25,825 16,178 60,255 46,277

Parts & accessories 267,381 224,260 22,033 18,176 16,834 11,507

Elimination of inter segment turnover   -47,858 -34,354   

Non-recurring expense Taiwan     -4,000  

Reorganisation costs      -1,616

Sale of business activities and acquisition costs      951

Subtotal segments 986,402 882,404 0 0 73,089 57,119

       
Income from non-consolidated companies     -930 387

Unallocated expenses     -14,555 -12,981

Financial income     616 272

Financial expenses     -9,689 -9,031

       
Profit before taxes     48,531 35,766
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Assets and liabilities per segment:
 Assets Liabilities

 2015 2014 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

  revised  revised

 
Bicycles 549,081 486,311 345,901 277,126

Parts & accessories 170,834 129,199 66,296 61,930

Unallocated corporate 9,810 16,284 11,587 11,631

     
Subtotal segments 729,725 631,794 423,784 350,687

Equity   305,941 281,107

Balance sheet total   729,725 631,794

 Depreciation Investments

 2015 2014 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Bicycles 6,916 5,944 6,883 5,830

Parts & accessories 2,529 2,322 5,036 15,004

Unallocated corporate 613 637 1,005 538

     
Total segments 10,058 8,903 12,924 21,372

Geographical information:
Geographical segments are based on the physical location of the assets. The sales to external customers reported
in the geographical segments are based on the geographical location of the customers.

 Net turnover Non-current assets 1)

 2015 2014 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

    revised

 
The Netherlands 222,366 236,736 31,677 30,451

Germany 227,271 198,449 50,188 50,785

Other Europe 367,634 298,172 72,249 70,114

North America 138,308 117,409 13,265 13,115

Other countries 30,823 31,638 10,618 9,298

 986,402 882,404 177,997 173,763
 1) Deferred tax assets and post-employment benefit assets are not included in non-current assets, in accordance with IFRS 8.33b.
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2.  Personnel costs

Personnel costs are comprised of the following:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

  revised

 
Wages and salaries 97,849 86,725

Social security charges 13,600 12,868

Pension contributions 5,305 5,386

Profit sharing 2,211 2,168

Share-based payments 355 266

 119,320 107,413

The remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board is disclosed in the notes to the company
financial statements.

Share based payments
In  2015,  unconditional  option  rights  are  granted  to  the  Board  of  Directors.  The  option  plan  for  the  Board  of
Directors is described in the notes to the company financial statements.

Accell  Group also has a restricted share plan whereby conditional  shares can be granted to the members of  the
Board of Directors and to directors of subsidiaries who contribute significantly to the result of Accell Group. Both
share plans are share-based payments plans with non-vesting conditions. The grant-date fair value of the share-
based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected
and  actual  outcomes.  The  conditions  have  been  incorporated  into  the  fair  value  at  grant  date  by  applying  a
discount to the valuation obtained.

The shares that have been conditionally granted are comprised of the following:

 Number
Granting

date Expiry date
Share price at
granting date

Fair value at
granting date

Conditional shares
Conditional shares granted in 2014 39,142 26-2-2014 2 jaar € 14.13 € 230,000

Conditional shares granted in 2015 46,069 4-3-2015 2-3 jaar € 15.92 € 381,000

The  fair  value  will  be  charged  to  the  income  statement  according  to  the  straight-line  method  spread  over  the
period between grant date and the time that the shares become unconditional, whereby adjustment will be made
for  the  expected  number  of  shares  to  be  distributed.  As  a  result,  €  302,000  has  been  charged  to  the  income
statement in 2015.
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3.  Depreciation

Depreciation comprise the following:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Depreciation of intangible assets 964 1,080

Impairment losses on intangible assets 546 217

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,575 7,618

Capital gain/(loss) on sale of tangible fixed assets -27 -12

 10,058 8,903

4.  Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses consist of costs relating to the general and specific business activities of Accell Group.

In accordance with IAS 38.126 and IAS 17.35c research costs and lease costs are listed below.

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Third-party research and development costs 2,284 1,904

Lease expenses 2,715 2,942

 4,999 4,846

5.  Non-recurring expense Taiwan

In  connection  to  the  recently  discovered  embezzlement  of  liquid  funds  at  Accell  Asia  Taiwan  a  non-recurring
expense of € 4 million is recorded to reflect the damage incurred.

6.  Financial income and expenses

Financial income and expenses comprise the following:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Interest income 616 272

Interest expenses -7,650 -7,634

Financing costs -2,272 -1,958

Exchange rate differences 233 561

 -9,073 -8,759
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The policy regarding interest and currency risks is covered in note 22. Financial instruments and risk management.

7.  Taxes

The effective corporate income tax charge comprises the following:

 2015 2014
  revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Current taxes 17,085 9,691

Deferred taxes -840 -425

Taxes in income statement 16,245 9,266

   
Taxes based on the weighted average applicable rate 12,108 9,036

Non-deductible amounts 1,411 482

Participation exemption -106 -439

Benefits from tax facilities -1,029 -924

Deferred tax assets not carried forward 4,988 1,245

Adjustment of current taxes of prior years -51 -125

Adjustment of deferred taxes of prior years -1,076 -9

Taxes in income statement 16,245 9,266

The effective tax rate consists of the reported tax charge for the current year divided by the profit before taxes.
The effective tax rate in 2015 amounts to 33.5% (2014: 26.0%). The tax rate was negatively impacted by the
incident in Taiwan and not recognising deferred taxes assets from new tax losses in North America.
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8.  Earnings per share

The calculation of earnings per share and of diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

 2015 2014
  revised

 
Profit for earnings per share (net profit accruing to Accell Group N.V.'s shareholders) €

32,286,000
€

26,500,000

   
Number of issued shares as per balance sheet date 25,270,327 24,864,956

   
Weighted average number of shares for the earnings per share 25,116,249 24,685,681

Potential impact of share options and conditional shares on the issuance of shares 151,396 142,517

   

Weighted average number of issued shares (diluted) 25,267,645 24,828,198

   
Reported earnings per share € 1.29 € 1.07

Reported earnings per share (diluted) € 1.28 € 1.07

   
Adjustment factor according to IAS 33 1.00 0.98422

   
Earnings per share financial year € 1.29 € 1.06

Earnings per share financial year (diluted) € 1.28 € 1.05
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9.  Property, plant and equipment

Changes in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 
Land and
buildings

Machinery and
equipment

Total property.
plant and

equipment

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2014 63,328 96,596 159,924

Investments 1,953 8,511 10,464

Investments as a result of business combinations 0 92 92

Divestments -162 -321 -483

Currency translation differences 115 380 495

Balance at 1 January 2015 65,234 105,258 170,492

Investments 445 10,084 10,529

Investments as a result of business combinations 0 292 292

Divestments -920 -180 -1,100

Currency translation differences 316 238 554

Balance at 31 December 2015 65,075 115,692 180,767
 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2014 18,573 76,230 94,803

Depreciation 1,264 6,354 7,618

Balance at 1 January 2015 19,837 82,584 102,421

Depreciation 1,198 7,377 8,575

Balance at 31 December 2015 21,035 89,961 110,996
 

Carrying amount
Balance at 1 January 45,397 22,674 68,071

Balance at 31 December 44,040 25,731 69,771

Land and buildings with a carrying amount of € 3.7 million as per 31 December 2015 have been pledged to security
to the trustees of the UK pension fund.

Besides  regular  investments  by  the  subsidiaries  in  2015  Accell  Group  invested  in  the  housing  of  the  Dutch
locations and made additional investments in an automated warehouse system for delivery of parts.
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10.      Goodwill

Changes in goodwill are as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

  revised

Cost
Balance at 1 January 57,867 48,811

Investments as a result of business combinations 1,021 7,398

Currency translation differences 1,607 1,658

Balance at 31 December 60,495 57,867

Accumulated impairments
Balance at 1 January 2,306 2,306

Impairments 0 0

Balance at 31 December 2,306 2,306

Carrying amount
Balance at 1 January 55,561 46,505

Balance at 31 December 58,189 55,561

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications of impairment losses. For the
purposes  of  this  test,  goodwill  is  allocated  to  cash-generating  units.  Allocation  is  made  to  the  (group  of)  cash-
generating  units  that  is  expected  to  benefit  from  the  business  combination  from  which  the  goodwill  arose.  The
cash-generating units used in the assessment correspond with the operational segments.

The carrying amount of goodwill (with an indefinite useful life) on segment level is divided as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

  revised

 
Bicycles 40,494 39,493

Parts & accessories 17,695 16,068

 58,189 55,561

The following main assumptions are used in determining the value in use of the segments Bicycles and Parts &
accessories and are based on historical experiences in specific markets and countries:

turnover growth based on the historical average of the last 3 years, for Bicycles respectively Parts & accessories●

of 10.1% (2014: 7.6%) respectively of 3.8% (2014: 4.1%);
operating margin based on the average of the last 3 years, for Bicycles respectively Parts & accessories of 5.7%●

(2014: 5.3%) respectively of 4.1% (2014: 4.0%);
working capital based on the historical average ratios in relation to turnover in the last 3 years, for Bicycles●

respectively Parts & accessories of 34% (2014: 33%) respectively of 27% (2014: 27%);
a perpetual growth rate of 1.7% (2014: 3.0%) is used for the estimates of the future cash flow after the initial●
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period of 5 years;
a weighted average cost of capital post-tax of 7.4% (2014: 7.5%) was used for the discounting of the cash flows.●

The discounting rate applied in accordance with IAS 36.55 corresponds to a weighted average cost of capital pre-
tax of 9.6% (2014: 9.8%).

The impairment test in 2015 shows a substantial headroom in goodwill. Accell Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying
amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units.

11.      Other intangible assets

The changes in other intangible assets are as follows:

 
Trademarks
and patents

Customer
lists and
licenses Other

Total other
intangible

assets

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2014 38,950 2,960 3,038 44,948

Investments 103 0 279 382

Investments as a result of business combinations 0 3,000 36 3,036

Currency translation differences 685 85 0 770

Balance at 1 January 2015 39,738 6,045 3,353 49,136

Investments 7 0 1,075 1,082

Investments as a result of business combinations 0 0 0 0

Currency translation differences 2,716 -186 -3 2,527

Balance at 31 December 2015 42,461 5,859 4,425 52,745

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2014 2,703 290 1,889 4,882

Depreciation 67 272 741 1,080

Impairment losses 217 0 0 217

Balance at 1 January 2015 2,987 562 2,630 6,179

Depreciation 104 396 464 964

Impairment losses 546 0 0 546

Balance at 31 December 2015 3,637 958 3,094 7,689

Carrying amount
Balance at 1 January 2015 36,751 5,483 723 42,957

Balance at 31 December 2015 38,824 4,901 1,331 45,056

As per 31 December 2015, trademarks mainly consist of the valuation of trademarks Raleigh and Diamondback
from the acquisition of Raleigh Cycle (€ 24.1 million), as well as Ghost (€ 9.4 million). Furthermore trademarks of
SBS, Brasseur, Hellberg, Currie and Van Nicholas are valued for a total amount of € 5.0 million.

Trademarks have an indefinite useful life since it is not possible to determine a predictable limitation of the useful
life of these trademarks.
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The carrying amount of the trademarks (with indefinite useful life) at segment level is specified as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Bicycles 37,983 35,838

Parts & accessories 500 500

 38,483 36,338

Trademarks  with  indefinite  useful  life  are  subject  to  impairment  testing.  The  principal  assumptions  used  in  this
impairment  test  include the budgeted expectations regarding turnover  of  the brands,  royalty  fees  of  the brands
and discounting of the cash flows applying the post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 7.4% (2014: 7.5%). This
testing has led to an impairment loss amounting to EUR 0.5 million for trademarks of Accell North America at the
end of financial year 2015, because turnover from these trademarks have decreased.

Investments  in  customer  lists  and  licenses  consist  of  the  customer  list  of  Comet,  a  Finnish  customer  list  and  a
valuation  of  the  Turkish  dealer  network.  Furthermore  an  extension  of  a  licensing  agreement  with  10  years  was
recognized in 2013. The useful life is estimated at 20 years for the Turkish dealer network and Spanish customer
list  and  10  years  for  the  Finnish  customer  list.  These  respective  assets  are  amortised  as  from  2012,  2015  and
2013 onwards.

Other intangible assets relate to development expenditure in connection with the development of electric bicycles
as well as to software.

Amortisation expenses are accounted for in the income statement within depreciation. The remaining amortisation
term for  activated patents  is  3  years,  for  the Turkish dealer  network  16 years,  for  the Spanish customer  list  19
years, for the Finnish customer list 7 years as well as for the licensing agreement.

12.      Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements 2015 include Accell Group N.V., in Heerenveen, and the financial information
of the following companies.
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Participation

Percentage

Consolidated subsidiaries
Accell Bisiklet A.S., Manisa, Turkey 100%

Accell Duitsland B.V., Heerenveen, the Netherlands 100%

Accell Germany GmbH, Sennfeld, Germany 100%

Accell Hunland Kft, Toszeg, Hungary 100%

Accell IT Services B.V., Heerenveen, the Netherlands 100%

Accell Italia Srl., Milan, Italië 100%

Accell Ltd, St. Peter Port, Guernsey 100%

Accell Nederland B.V., Heerenveen, the Netherlands 100%

Accell North America Inc, Kent, Washington, United States of America 100%

Accell Suisse AG, Alpnach Dorf, Switzerland 100%

ATC Ltd (Taiwan Branch), Taipei, Taiwan 100%

Brasseur S.A., Luik, Belgium 100%

Comet S.L., Urnieta, Spain 100%

Currie Tech Corp., Simi Valley, Californië, United States of America 100%

Cycle Services Nordic ApS, Odense, Danmark 100%

Cycles Lapierre S.A.S., Dijon, France 100%

Cycles France-Loire S.A.S., Saint-Cyprien, France 100%

Delta Metal Technology Ltd, Shenzhen, R.o.C. 100%

E. Wiener Bike Parts GmbH, Sennfeld, Germany 100%

Ghost-Bikes GmbH, Waldsassen, Germany 100%

Raleigh Canada Ltd, Oakville, Ontario, Canada 100%

Raleigh UK Ltd, Nottingham, United Kingdom 100%

Swissbike Vertriebs GmbH, Alpnach Dorf, Switserland 100%

Tunturi-Hellberg Oy Ltd, Turku, Finland 100%

Tunturi-Proway Oy Ltd, Turku, Finland 100%

Vartex AB, Varberg, Sweden 100%

Winora Staiger GmbH, Sennfeld, Germany 100%

Some subsidiaries that  are immaterial  to the consolidated financial  statements are not included in the overview
above. A complete list of subsidiaries is filed with the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in Leeuwarden,
the Netherlands.

 2015 2014
Non-consolidated subsidiaries
Jalaccell OÜ, Tallinn, Estonia (i) 35% 35%

Babboe B.V., Utrecht, the Netherlands (ii) 38% 38%

Atala SpA, Monza, Italy (iii) 50% 50%

Von Backhaus ApS, Odense, Denmark (iv) 40% 40%
 (i) Jalaccell OÜ is a joint venture of Accell Fitness Division B.V. set up for the assembly and storage of fitness equipment.

 (ii) Babboe B.V. is an associate that is active in the marketing and sales of carrier bicycles.

 (iii) Atala SpA is a joint venture active in the development and sales of bicycles under its own brands.

 (iv) Von Backhaus ApS is an associate active in the development and sales of bicycles under its own brands.

All interest held in these companies are of a strategic nature. The voting rights are equal to the percentage interest
held.
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Changes in non-consolidated companies is as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Balance at 1 January 4,991 4,526

Investments 0 0

Divestments 0 46

Dividend -292 -77

Net income 282 496

Balance at 31 December 4,981 4,991

Summary of the financial data for the interests in non-consolidated companies:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Total non-current assets 14,341 13,245

Total non-current liabilities 10,722 9,671

Total turnover 20,132 19,748

Total share in net income -930 387

During 2015, Accell Group accounted for an impairment of € 1.2 million on a loan to Jalaccell OÜ (refer to note 13.
Other financial  fixed assets).  As well  an impairment of € 0.1 million was accounted for in respect of the carrying
amount  of  Group’s  share  in  Jalaccell  OÜ.  This  impairment  of  €  0.1  million  has  been  incorporated  in  the  carrying
amount  of  Group’s  non-consolidated  companies.  The  reason  for  the  impairments  is  that  the  transition  to  other
activities  in  the  metal  business,  initiated  after  the  sale  of  the  fitness  activities  in  2014,  generate  insufficient
economic basis for a full collection of the outstanding loan.

13.      Other financial fixed assets

 Non-current Current

 31-12-15 31-12-14 31-12-15 31-12-14
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Loans provided to related parties 0 2,183 828 125

During 2015, Accell Group accounted for an impairment of € 1.2 million on a loan to Jalaccell OÜ (refer to note 12.
Subsidiaries); the remaining € 0.8 million is expected to be collected in 2016.
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14.      Inventories

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Goods in transit 59,287 45,719

Raw materials 105,087 70,022

Work in process 3,091 2,819

Trading and finished products 171,219 125,897

 338,684 244,457

Goods in transit relates to shipped goods for which Accell Group had acquired the economic ownership as at the
balance sheet date, but which have not yet been received.

As at balance sheet date, inventories with a carrying amount of approximately € 10.5 million are valued at lower
net  realisable  value.  The  cost  of  inventories  recognised  as  an  expense  in  the  income  statement  include  €  3.3
million (2014: € 3.1 million) with respect to write-downs of inventory to lower net realisable value.

The costs of inventory that are recorded as an expense during the financial year amounts to € 719.2 million (2014:
€ 659.3 million).

15.      Trade receivables

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Trade receivables 142,542 140,620

Provision for impairment of receivables -7,972 -7,368

 134,570 133,252

The  nominal  value  is  considered  to  be  equal  to  the  fair  value.  Trade  receivables  are  non-interest-bearing  and,
depending  on  the  season,  are  governed  by  a  30-150  day  term   of  payment.  The  provision  for  impairment  is
determined on the basis of an individual assessment of overdue trade receivables. Accell  Group has developed a
credit policy to maintain control  over credit risks relating to trade receivables.  The policy regarding credit risks is
covered in note 22. Financial instruments and risk management.
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The changes in the provision for the impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Balance at 1 January 7,368 6,458

Utilisation -1,578 -1,697

Provided 2,810 2,438

Release -659 -256

Currency translation differences 31 425

Balance at 31 December 7,972 7,368

The aging analysis of trade receivables is provided in the overview below.

 Gross

Gross
impaired

trade
receivables

Provision for
impairment Net

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
At 31 December 2015:     

Current 109,235 119 67 109,168

0-90 days overdue 13,754 2,725 371 13,383

90-150 days overdue 4,677 2,341 408 4,269

more than 150 days overdue 14,876 9,845 7,126 7,750

Total 142,542 15,030 7,972 134,570

At 31 December 2014:     

Current 115,176 181 80 115,096

0-90 days overdue 10,633 1,888 225 10,408

90-150 days overdue 2,328 1,242 283 2,045

more than 150 days overdue 12,483 9,524 6,780 5,703

Total 140,620 12,835 7,368 133,252

Accell Group has agreed various specific and, to a limited extent, individual terms of payment with its customers
that differ depending on the nature of the goods delivered and that can also differ per country. Due to the seasonal
nature of the activities, customers are offered so-called winter terms, whereby the customers can opt for an extra
payment discount or a longer payment period. This is customary in the business.

16.      Equity

The  consolidated  equity  is  equal  to  the  equity  in  the  company  financial  statements.  The  explanatory  notes  and
movement overviews of equity are included in the company financial statements



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Financial statements 143

17.      Interest-bearing loans

 Non-current Current
 31-12-15 31-12-14 31-12-15 31-12-14

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Term loans 58,888 70,619 12,500 12,500

Other bank loans 75 246 141 226

     

Bank overdrafts 0 0 142,601 82,245

 58,963 70,865 155,242 94,971

Early 2013, Accell Group entered into a financing agreement with a syndicate of 6 (international) banks for a total
group financing of € 300 million. The participating banks in the syndicate are ABN AMRO Bank, Deutsche Bank, ING
Bank,  Rabobank,  BNP  Paribas  and  HSBC.  The  original  financing  consists  of  €  125  million  long-term  loans  (term
loans)  and  working  capital  financing  (revolving  credit  facility)  of  €  175  million,  of  which  €  65  million  is  a  season
facility. On a portion of the term loans regular redemptions of € 12.5 million per annum are made. As a result of the
sale of the activities of Hercules and Tunturi Fitness an additional redemption of € 20.5 million was made. In 2015
the working capital financing has been extended with € 25 million from the so-called ‘accordion-facility’, which is
part of the financing agreement.  The ‘accordion-facility’  totals to € 50 million;  the remaining € 25 million will  be
drawdown in 2016.

The interest rate for the term loans is fixed and is approximately 3.8% in 2015. With the new financing agreement
all existing financing agreements ended, except for the 10-year loan facility from Deutsche Bank of € 15 million.
This loan facility is integrated in the new financing agreement and the covenants are harmonised, but the loan has
a remaining term of 6 years and has an (in principle fixed) interest rate of 5.8% per annum, whereby the credit rate
which is included in this interest rate is determined once a year.

Initially, the financing agreement was committed for 3 years with an option to extend to 5 years. During 2014, all
participating banks agreed to the extension to 5 years.

Accell Group has provided securities in the form of trade receivables and inventories for its Dutch, German, English
and  US  group  companies  to  the  lenders.  The  group  is  not  allowed  to  pledge  these  assets  as  security  for  other
borrowings or to sell  them to another entity as method of raising financial  indebtedness.  In connection with the
other loans, no collateral was provided. The average interest rate on the other loans is 3.0% .

The  policy  regarding  interest  rate  risks  is  covered  in  note  22.  Financial  instruments  and  risk  management.  The
financial covenants, which are part of the financing agreement, are also covered in this note.



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Financial statements 144

The non-current interest-bearing liabilities are due for redemptions as follows:

 
Term less

than 5 years
Term more

than 5 years Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Term loans 56,388 15,000 71,388

Other bank loans 216 0 216

Subtotal 56,604 15,000 71,604

Proportion of loans with a term of less than 1 year -12,641 0 -12,641

Balance at 31 December 2015 43,963 15,000 58,963

18.      Pension provisions and net pension assets

Defined benefit plans
Accell  Group  funds  defined  benefits  for  qualifying  employees.  The  main  defined  benefit  plan  is  the  plan  in  the
United Kingdom (UK),  which accounts for approximately 85% of the defined benefit  obligation and for more than
90% of  the plan assets.  The UK plan is  subject  to UK laws and is  administered by a separate fund that is  legally
separated  from  the  company.  The  trustees  of  this  fund  are  appointed  by  the  company.  Pension  benefits  are
related to the member’s final salary at retirement and their length of service. Since December 2002, the defined
benefit section of this pension scheme has been closed to future accrual. The deed of the UK plan shows that the
company has an unconditional  right in the form of refunds,  when there is  a surplus and the fund has no further
obligations, or in case there is a surplus at the time when the plan is wound up.

The UK plan exposes the company to actuarial  risks such as market risk,  interest rate risk and inflation risk.  The
scheme does not expose the company to any unusual scheme-specific risk. The scheme’s investment strategy is
to  invest  broadly  67%  in  return  seeking  assets  (being  diversified  growth  funds  and  bond  portfolios)  and  33%  in
matching assets (index related UK government bonds gilts and investment property bonds). This strategy reflects
the scheme’s risk profile  and the trustees’  and company’s attitude to risks.  The returns from the return seeking
assets are not achieved solely by direct investment in return seeking assets, but the equity linked bond portfolio
allow exposure to equity type returns using futures backed by collateral in the form of index-linked UK government
bonds.

The  valuation  of  the  UK  pension  plan  is  adjusted  in  the  balance  sheet  following  a  recommendation  by  the
Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (“AFM”) about the application of accounting standards regarding
pensions; a reference is made to page 120.

In addition, Accell  Group sponsors funded defined benefit plans for qualified employees in Canada and Taiwan, a
fixed unfunded defined benefit plan in Germany and an unfunded defined benefit plan in Hong Kong. The defined
benefit plans of Accell Group have no contributions from employees anymore, because the plans are mainly fixed.
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The actuarial calculations pursuant to IAS 19 were carried out at 31 December 2015 by actuaries of certified
actuarial firms. The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations are based on the
following weighted averages:

 2015 2014
 

Discount rate 3.4% 3,2%

Expected rates of salary increases 2.9% 2,5%

Inflation 2.4% 2,1%

Average longevity at retirement age for current pensioners (years):   

Males 20.8 20,8

Females 23.1 23,0

Average longevity at retirement age for current employees (years):   

Males 22.2 22,1

Females 24.6 24,5

Amounts recognised in the income statement in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

 2015 2014
  revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Current service cost 56 61

Past service cost 0 0

Administration expense 337 410

Net interest expense -597 -356

Total -204 115

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

 2015 2014
  revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Remeasurement on the net defined liability:   

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expenses) -264 7,711

Actuarial gains and (losses) from changes in demographic assumptions -1,952 1,681

Actuarial gains and (losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions -237 -9,798

Actuarial gains and (losses) arising from experience adjustments 595 5,517

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset 0 0

Total -1,858 5,111
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Amounts recognised in the balance sheet in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

 2015 2014
  revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Net pension assets -20,186 -19,763

Pension provisions 6,170 6,621

Net pension assets -14,016 -13,142

The defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets are specified as follows:

At 31 December 2014 UK plan Other Total

 revised  revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Present value of funded pension obligation 75,348 6,886 82,234

Minus: Fair value of plan assets -95,111 -6,971 -102,082

Deficit/ (surplus) -19,763 -85 -19,848

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 0 6,706 6,706

Funded status -19,763 6,621 -13,142

Restrictions on assets recognised 0 0 0

Net liability (asset) as per 31 December 2014 -19,763 6,621 -13,142
 

At 31 December 2015 UK plan Other Total

 
Present value of funded pension obligation 78,220 6,072 84,292

Minus: Fair value of plan assets -98,406 -6,261 -104,667

Deficit/ (surplus) -20,186 -189 -20,375

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 0 6,359 6,359

Funded status -20,186 6,170 -14,016

Restrictions on assets recognised  0 0

Net liability (asset) per 31 December 2015 -20,186 6,170 -14,016
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The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

 UK plan Other Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Balance at 1 January 2014 70,444 12,132 82,576

Current service cost 0 61 61

Interest cost 3,211 445 3,656

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions -1,681 -116 -1,797

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 8,101 1,697 9,798

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from experience adjustments -5,423 185 -5,238

Exchange differences on foreign plans 4,321 267 4,588

Benefits paid -3,625 -1,079 -4,704

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2014 75,348 13,592 88,940

Current service cost 0 14 14

Interest cost 2,543 351 2,894

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 1,952 75 2,027

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 354 -131 223

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from experience adjustments -635 75 -560

Exchange differences on foreign plans 4,697 -298 4,399

Benefits paid -6,039 -1,247 -7,286

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2015 78,220 12,431 90,651

The movement in the fair value of the plan assets is as follows:

 UK plan Other Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Balance at 1 January 2014 81,622 6,626 88,248

Interest income 3,759 284 4,043

Remeasurement gain (loss):    

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) 7,456 410 7,866

Contributions from the employer 1,232 337 1,569

Administration expense -339 -63 -402

Exchange differences on foreign plans 5,006 216 5,222

Benefits paid -3,625 -839 -4,464

Fair value of the plan assets at 31 December 2014 95,111 6,971 102,082

Interest income 3,246 244 3,490

Remeasurement gain (loss):    

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) -194 115 -79

Contributions from the employer 623 436 1,059

Administration expense -271 -156 -427

Exchange differences on foreign plans 5,930 -361 5,569

Benefits paid -6,039 -988 -7,027

Fair value of the plan assets at 31 December 2015 98,406 6,261 104,667
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The fair value of the plan assets is categorised as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,370 1,301

Equity investments   

Equity-linked bonds 0 25,558

Diversified growth funds 25,030 19,287

Absolute return bonds 17,913 17,153

Other equity investments 312 4,261

Subtotal equity investments 43,255 66,259

Debt securities   

Index-linked gilts 41,896 20,581

Property bonds 12,932 11,778

Other debt securities 94 2,061

Subtoral debt securities 54,922 34,420

Other 120 102

Total 104,667 102,082

The fair values of the above equity investments and debt securities are determined based on quoted market prices
in active markets. The actual return on plan assets was € 3.4 million in 2015 (2014: € 11.9 million).

The  average  duration  of  the  defined  benefit  obligation  is  16  years  as  per  31  December  2015  (2014:  16  years).
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate and
the expected salary increase. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible
changes  of  the  respective  assumptions  holding  at  the  end  of  the  reporting  period.  In  the  analyses  the
interdependence of inputs has not been considered.

if the discount rate is 1 % higher, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by € 9.4 million (2014: € 10.3●

million);
if the discount rate is 1 % lower, the defined benefit obligation would increase by € 15.2 million (2014: € 10.0●

million);
if the expected salary growth increases by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by € 2.2 million●

(2014: € 5.7 million);
if the expected salary growth decreases by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by € 4.6 million●

(2014: € 5.7 million).

The sensitivity analyses are prepared at the end of the reporting period using the same methods as applied in the
defined benefit  obligation in the balance sheet.  The sensitivity  analyses may not be representative of  the actual
change in the defined benefit obligation. It is unlikely that the changes in the assumptions would occur in isolation
of one another as some of the assumptions are correlated.

The company has provided land and buildings as a pledge to the trustees of the UK pension scheme, as disclosed
in  note  9.  Property,  plant  and  equipment.  Besides  the  company  provided  to  the  trustees  a  group  guarantee,
whereby  in  case  of  a  bankruptcy  of  the  UK  subsidiary,  Accell  Group  will  guarantee  possible  deficits  in  the  UK
scheme to a maximum amount of £ 8.7 million.

Accell Group expects to make a contribution of € 0.9 million in 2016 with regard to the defined benefit plans.
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Defined contribution plans

Multi-employer plan
The  company’s  employees  in  the  Netherlands,  approximately  525  employees,  participate  in  a  multi-employer
sector  plan  of  Metalektro,  determined in  accordance  with  the  collective  bargaining  agreements  effective  for  the
industry in which Accell Group operates. This collective bargaining agreement has no expiration date. This a multi-
employer  sector  plan  covers  approximately  1,250  participating  companies  and  144,000  contributing  members.
Accell Group’s contribution to the multi-employer sector plan is less than 1% of the total contribution to the plan.
The plan monitors its risk on a global basis, not by company or employee, and is subject to Dutch legislation.

The Dutch Pension Act prescribes that a multi-employer sector plan must be monitored against specific  criteria,
including the coverage ratio of the plan assets to the pension obligations. This coverage ratio must exceed 104.3%.
Every  company  participating  in  a  Dutch  multi-employer  sector  plan  contributes  a  premium  calculated  as  a
percentage of its total pensionable salaries, with each company subject to the same percentage contribution rate.
The  premium  can  fluctuate  yearly  based  on  the  coverage  ratio  of  the  multi-employer  sector  plan.  The  pension
rights of each employee are based upon the employee’s average salary during employment.

The coverage  ratio  of  the  multi-employer sector plan decreased to  97.7% as of 31 December 2015 (31 December
2014:  102.0%).  Because of  the low coverage ratio  Metalektro  prepared and executed a  recovery  plan which was
approved by De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB, Dutch Central Bank), which monitors pension funds in the Netherlands.
Due to the low coverage ratio and the liabilities resulting from the recovery plan the pension premium percentage
is  26.6%  in  2015  (2014:  27.1%).  The  coverage  ratio  is  calculated  by  dividing  the  plan  assets  by  the  total  sum  of
pension liabilities and is based on actual market interest.

The pension sector fund informed the company that the plan qualifies as a defined contribution plan. According to
the pension sector fund, the member companies only have an obligation to pay the annual pension premiums due.
Member companies do not have any obligation to settle any deficits in the fund. Member companies are also not
entitled  to  any  surplus.  Accordingly,  Accell  Group  accounts  for  this  plan  as  a  defined  contribution  plan  in  the
financial statements. Accell Group’s net periodic pension cost for this multi-employer sector plan for any period is
the amount of the required contribution for that period.

Other defined contribution plans
Employees  of  the  company’s  foreign  subsidiaries  generally  participate  in  a  local  government  pension  plan.  The
subsidiaries are only required to contribute a certain percentage of salaries to the local pension institutions.

In  2015,  an  expense  of  €  5.3  million  has  been  included  in  the  income  statement  in  respect  of  the  defined
contributions plans.

19.      Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes comprise the following:

 2015 2014
  revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Deferred tax assets 6,653 7,410

Deferred tax liabilities 9,560 12,721

Net deferred taxes -2,907 -5,311
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The movement in the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

 

Loss carry
forwards

consolidated
companies

Revaluation
of property.

plant and
equipment

Financial
instruments

Trademark
valuation

Other
deferred

taxes Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Revised balance at 1 January 2014 8,390 -1,778 2,895 -5,943 -4,388 -824

Added through business combination 9 0 0 -840 -11 -842

Charged through other comprehensive income 0 0 -3,635 0 -1,051 -4,686

Charged through income statement -1,620 -35 0 358 1,722 425

Change in income tax rate 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer from/to current tax 0 0 0 0 0 0

Currency translation differences 631 20 0 -63 28 616

Revised balance at 31 December 2014 7,410 -1,793 -740 -6,488 -3,700 -5,311

Added through business combinations 0 0 0 0 -100 -100

Charged through other comprehensive income 0 0 380 0 622 1,002

Charged through income statement -1,829 18 0 254 2,397 840

Change in income tax rate 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer from/to current tax 678 0 0 0 0 678

Currency translation differences 394 -12 0 -208 -190 -16

Balance at 31 December 2015 6,653 -1,787 -360 -6,442 -971 -2,907

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available. To
realise the related tax benefits future taxable profits need to be available in the carryforward period available and
deferred tax liabilities from temporary differences need to be generated.

In the review of the deferred tax assets the consequences of tax planning are considered. New tax losses in North
America are not recognised in 2015. The unused tax losses of Tunturi-Hellberg Oy Ltd are expected to be realised
within the period available, ending at the end of the year 2022.

Accell Group has unused tax losses in its subsidiaries of € 63.8 million (2014: € 49.7 million) for which there is no
reasonable assurance that sufficient taxable profit will be available to realise the related tax benefits. As a result no
deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of these unused tax losses. The unused tax losses mainly relate to
Raleigh prior to acquisition and are measured at a fair value of nil at the acquisition date.

Accell  Group  and  its  100%  controlled  Dutch  subsidiaires  form  a  fiscal  unity  for  Dutch  corporate  income  tax
purposes.
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20.      Provisions

 Non-current Current
 31-12-15 31-12-14 31-12-15 31-12-14

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Deferred employee benefits 2,420 2,102 57 96

Warranties 2,784 2,928 4,526 3,381

Other provisions 1,402 866 1,354 2,218

 6,606 5,896 5,937 5,695

The movement in provisions is as follows:

 

Deferred
employee

benefits Warranties
Other

provisions Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Balance at 1 January 2015 2,198 6,309 3,084 11,591

Utilisation -62 -444 -1,542 -2,048

Provided 456 1,627 1,314 3,397

Release -12 -224 -101 -337

Currency translation differences -103 42 1 -60

Balance at 31 December 2015 2,477 7,310 2,756 12,543

Deferred  employee  benefits  relate  to  the  provision  for  future  anniversary  bonuses  and  resignation  payments  in
some countries. The provision is based on contractual obligations and assumptions with respect to expectations of
death and resignation.  Warranty  provisions represent  the estimated costs  under  warranty  obligations for  goods
delivered  and  services  rendered  as  at  balance  sheet  date.  The  provision  is  based  on  estimates  using  historical
warranty information.

Provisions for deferred employee benefits and warranty obligations are expected to have a duration between one
and five years.  Other provisions mainly relate to remaining restructuring provisions for the reorganisation of the
activities in the Netherlands and in North America and a provision identified in an acquisition. These provisions are
generally expected to have a duration of less than one year.
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21.      Deferred income

 Non-current Current
 31-12-15 31-12-14 31-12-15 31-12-14

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Deferred income 2,005 2,560 910 550

Deferred income consists of receipts in respect of extra warranty claims to be realised in the coming five years.

22.      Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial instruments in balance sheet as at 31 December:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Assets
Amortised cost
Non-current receivables 0 2,183

Trade receivables and other receivables 156,022 151,854

Cash and cash equivalents 14,236 13,529
 

Fair value through cash flow hedging
Other financial instruments 6,048 6,039
 

Liabilities
Amortised cost
Interest-bearing liabilities 155,242 165,836

Trade liabilities and other liabilities 155,361 124,231
 

Fair value through cash flow hedging
Other financial instruments 3,209 4,385

The fair value of the other financial instruments is determined on the basis of other inputs than quoted prices that
are observable (level 2). For the determination generally accepted valuation methods are used. The determined
value in this way is equal to the price at which the derivative can be sold in a transparent market.
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The other financial instruments comprise:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Currency derivatives - cash flow hedging 6,048 6,039

Interest rate swap - cash flow hedging -3,209 -4,385

 2,839 1,654

To determine the fair value of other financial instruments the present value of the cash flow model was used. This
valuation  model  uses  the  present  value  of  the  expected  payment  discounted  with  discounting  rate  adjusted  for
(counterparty)risk. To determine the fair value inputs based on observable market data were used.

In 2015, € 1.2 million was added to the hedging reserve pursuant to the fair value adjustments of the instruments
to cover the currency and interest risk in future cash flows. With respect to cash flow hedging of interest rate risks,
it  is  expected that the underlying cash flows materialise at  the time that the interest is  due on the loans with a
one-month  or  three-month  floating  interest  rate.  The  cash  flow  hedges  of  the  currency  and  interest  rate
derivatives were assessed as effective in  2015.

Movement of the hedging reserve:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Balance at 1 January 2,315 -9,047

amount included in equity 6,744 9,455

amount included in cost of inventories -9,120 844

amount included in interest expenses 1,140 1,063

Balance at 31 December 1,079 2,315

Currency derivatives
Currency  derivatives  stated  as  at  the  balance  sheet  date  will  be  settled  during  2015.  Currency  derivatives
outstanding as at the balance sheet date can be specified as follows:
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  Contract value Fair value

  2015 2014 2015 2014
  € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Currency hedge Currency     

Put USD 126,267 40,538 5,376 5,513

Call USD 0 0 0 0

Put JPY 27,631 21,087 1,086 -626

Call JPY 0 0 0 0

Put CNY 7,317 9,526 -76 802

Call CNY 0 0 0 0

Put TWD 10,128 4,192 -305 338

Call TWD 0 0 0 0

Put GBP 0 0 0 0

Call GBP 3,600 0 118 0

Put TRY 2,950 1,300 -85 12

Call TRY 0 0 0 0

Put SEK 0 0 0 0

Call SEK 3,870 0 -66 0

    6,048 6,039

Interest rate swaps
Accell Group uses interest rates swaps to convert the floating interest rate on its borrowings into a fixed interest
rate. In 2008 and 2013 interest rate swaps were concluded, respectively for a period of 10 and 5 years, to hedge
the interest rate risk of the term loans.

Interest rate swaps outstanding as at the balance sheet date can be specified as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Contract value -2,353 -3,405

Fair value -3,209 -4,385

The policy of Accell Group regarding capital management, liquidity risks, credit risks, and market risks (currency and
interest rate) is outlined below.

Capital management
The company operates a funding policy that is based on the going concern of Accell Group. This is reflected in the
management of the capital. Following the growth of the company in recent years, Accell Group decided in 2012 to
harmonise its financing structure. This led to a entire refinancing of the company in 2013. The basis was to achieve
the  right  balance  between  long-term  group  financing  and  the  strongly  fluctuating  seasonal  working  capital
financing.  Accell  Group  is  quarterly  required  to  comply  with  the  ratios  stipulated  by  the  lenders  in  the  financing
agreement; in 2015 all financial covenants have been met.

As at 31 December 2015, on the basis of group equity the solvency amounted to 41.9% (as at 31 December 2014:
44.5%). As explained in the section on currency and interest rate risks, the movement in the hedging reserve has an
effect  on  the  solvency  per  year-end.  Accell  Group  has  no  control  over  the  changes  in  the  market  value  of  the
underlying derivative financial instruments.
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Liquidity risk
In  managing  the  liquidity  risk,  Accell  Group  takes  into  account  the  strongly  fluctuating  seasonal  nature  of  the
activities.  Therefore,  in the funding of the group a distinction is made between long-term (core)  funding and the
seasonal credit facility. The financing agreement contains financial covenants on a quarterly basis consisting of:

term loan/ EBITDA ratio (debt ratio) at year end 2016 below 2.25;●

solvency ratio higher than 30% at year end 2016 (whereby equity and balance sheet total at year-end are●

adjusted for, among others intangible assets and related deferred taxes);
interest cover higher than 5.5 at year end 2016;●

with regard to the use of the seasonal financing the actual use (“borrowing reference”) may not exceed the lower●

of:
the aggregate of:a.

the higher of 50% of the book value of the qualifying inventories minus the aggregate value of all tradei.
payables of Accell Group and zero; and
55% of the aggregate book value of all qualifying trade receivables; andii.

the aggregate of the total facility C commitments and the total of the facility D commitments.b.

Total loans and bank overdrafts provided to Accell Group amounted to € 214.2 million at the end of the financial
year 2015; 28% of this is of a long-term nature. In addition to bank overdrafts, the group’s other current liabilities
amounted to € 185.2 million at the end of the financial year.

The table below provides an overview of the total financial obligations, including the estimated interest payments
on long-term loans.

 
Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows < 1year 1- 5 year > 5 year

 € million € million € million € million € million

 
Non-current liabilities 78.2 107.9 16.0 76.1 15.8

Current liabilities 327.8 323.7 323.7 - -

Credit risk
The activities of Accell Group entail various credit risks. The maximum credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of
the trade receivables and other  receivables.  Risks are limited,  because in  2015 individual  European debtors that
have an expected outstanding amount of more than € 0.1 million, are often insured by a credit insurance company.
As  of  2016  a  number  of  US  receivables  are  insured  in  a  similar  way.  No  pledges  or  guarantees  are  obtained  to
cover the credit risk other than a retention of ownership of goods delivered. Bicycles and bicycle parts are sold to a
wide  network  of  specialised  bicycle  shops,  whereby  many  of  the  customers  with  whom  Accell  Group  conducts
business  have  a  long-standing  commercial  relationship  with  Accell  Group.  The  credit  policy  stipulates,  inter  alia,
that  upon  the  acceptance  of  large  customers,  the  creditworthiness  of  this  potential  customer  must  be  verified
both internally as well as externally, whereby also a credit limit has to be determined.

There  is  no  significant  concentration  of  credit  risks  within  Accell  Group,  as  the  group  has  a  large  number  of
customers. No customers comprise 10% or more of turnover.

The  credit  risks  are  continuously  monitored.  Outstanding  receivables  exceeding  the  due  date  are  assessed
individually at the end of the financial year, resulting in a substantiation of the provision for the impairment losses
of receivables.

Regarding the total outstanding trade receivables of € 142.5 million, the provision for impairment losses amounts
to € 8.0 million. Actual utilisation in 2015 amounts to € 1.6 million (2014: € 1.7 million).
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Market risk
The market risk encompasses currency risks and interest rate risks. Accell Group uses a variety of instruments to
hedge  currency  and  interest  rate  risks  arising  from  the  operating,  financing  and  investment  activities.  Accell
Group’s  treasury  activities  are  centralised  and  carried  out  in  accordance  with  the  objectives  and  regulations
stipulated by Accell Group. Accell Group’s policy stipulates that instruments shall only be kept if there is an actual
commercial basis (transactions and obligations). Accell Group’s currency and interest rate risks have not changed
during the year. Moreover, Accell Group’s approach to these risks has not changed during the year.

Control of currency risks
In  view  of  the  international  nature  of  its  activities,  Accell  Group  is  exposed  to  risks  when  buying  and  selling  in
foreign  currency.  This  relates  mainly  to  US  dollars  (USD),  Japanese  yen  (JPY),  Taiwanese  dollars  (TWD),  British
pounds (GBP), Canadian dollars (CAD), Turkish lira (TRY), Swedish krona (SEK), Hungarian forint (HUF), Swiss francs
(CHF)  and  Chinese  Renminbi  (CNY).  Accell  Group’s  policy  aims  to  control  the  currency  risks  for  all  significant
exposures, mainly its anticipated purchases in USD, JPY, CNY and TWD, by hedging a significant percentage of the
currency risks prior to each season. This involves the use of currency future contracts and related swaps and/or
options.

Unrealised  gains  and  losses  on  the  derivatives  resulting  from  the  concluded  cash  flow  hedge  transactions  are
temporarily  included  in  the  hedging  reserve  of  the  group  equity.  The  cash  flow  hedge  transactions  have  been
effective in 2015. The hedging reserve is subject to changes as a result of developments in the market value of the
concluded  currency  derivatives  and  interest  rate  swaps.  Accell  Group  has  no  control  over  these  market  value
developments.

A 1% change in the EUR/USD and EUR/JPY exchange rate from the current year end exchange rate would result in
an  approximately  €  1.3  million  and  €  0.3  million  respective  change  in  the  hedging  reserve  of  the  group  equity.
Covering future cash flows and the use of cash flow hedging causes movements in equity as a result of changes in
the market value of the underlying derivatives.

All derivative financial instruments are concluded with ABN AMRO Bank, Deutsche Bank, ING Bank, Rabobank or
HSBC. The company incurs credit risks with these banks as long as these derivative financial instruments have a
positive  fair  value  and  are  not  yet  settled.  This  risk  is  considered  acceptable  in  view  of  the  creditworthiness  of
these banks.

Control of interest risks
As at 31 December 2015, the total of the floating interest on the long-term interest-bearing has been fixed with
interest-rate swaps. These instruments are generally available, and are not regarded as specialised or as entailing
significant risk.

As at 31 December 2015, the term of 28% of the interest-bearing loans exceeds one year. An increase or decrease
of 1% in market interest-rate governing short-term bank credit would have resulted in a decrease or increase in the
profit before taxes of approximately € 1.3 million.

23.      Business combinations

In January 2015, Accell Group acquired 100% of the shares in Cycle Service Nordic ApS (“CSN”) in Odense, Denmark.
CSN is a distributor of bicycle parts and accessories in Scandinavia. The company has a workforce of 40 employees.
The figures of CSN are consolidated as of 1 January 2015.
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The provisional acquired net assets consist of the following:

 
Fair value on

acquisition
Fair value

adjustments
Carrying
amount

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Non-current assets 292 0 292

Other assets 6,552 447 6,105

Cash and cash equivalents 228 0 228

Other liabilities and acquisition obligations -6,046 -1,177 -4,869

 1,026   

Goodwill 1,021   

Cash and cash equivalents acquired -228   

Net cash flow of business combinations 1,819   

CSN was acquired to continue the expansion of the activities on bicycle parts & accessories. The consideration paid
for the business combinations consist of a premium for expected synergies, growth of turnover and the combined
knowledge of the workforce. These aspects of the acquisition cannot be measured reliably and are therefore not
reported separately from goodwill. The purchased goodwill is tax non-deductible. The other assets consist of trade
receivables and other receivables. CSN contributed turnover from the period of consolidation to the balance sheet
date amounting to € 14.5 million. The contribution to the net profit for the financial year 2015 amounts to € 0.6
million. Costs relating to the acquisition (external legal and due diligence costs) are nil.

24.      Dividend

The dividend in respect of financial year 2014 was determined at € 0.61 per share or as stock dividend during the
General  Meeting  of  Shareholders  of  23  April  2015.  After  the  period  in  which  shareholders  could  report  their
preference, 43% of the shareholders opted for the stock dividend. On 20 May 2015 € 8,654,000 was distributed as
cash dividend and 398,702 shares were issued as stock dividend and added to issued share capital.

The Board of Director proposes to make available to the shareholders a dividend with stock option of € 0.72 per
share  with  respect  to  the  current  year.  The  dividend  proposal  is  subject  to  approval  by  the  General  Meeting  of
Shareholders on 26 April 2016 and is not reflected as a liability in these financial statements.

25.      Commitments

Operational lease and other commitments

The  company  has  financial  commitments  arising  from  long-term  lease  agreements  on  IT  equipment  and  motor
vehicles  and  other  contractual  agreements.  The  total  commitment  from  lease  agreements  amounts  to
approximately € 3.1 million per year and has an average remaining term of 2.3 years, the total other commitments
are  €  3.8  million  and  have  a  remaining  term  of  on  average  1.1  year.  Besides,  the  company  has  financial
commitments  arising  from  long-term  rental  agreements.  This  commitment  amounts  to  approximately  €  7.4
million per annum and has an average remaining term of 4.0 years.
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As at balance sheet date, Accell Group has outstanding non-terminable operational lease and rental
commitments expiring as follows:

 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Within one year 4,913 1,020

Within two to five years 16,856 17,106

After five years 19,697 14,084

 41,466 32,210

26.      Transactions with related parties

Transactions and balances between Accell  Group and its  non-consolidated companies have not  been eliminated
for consolidation purposes.

Sale and purchase of goods
During the year group companies entered into the following transactions with related parties:

 Sales of goods Purchases of goods

 2015 2014 2015 2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Atala SpA 3,585 4,764 1,541 1,721

von Backhaus ApS 1,175 1,149 0 0

All sales and purchases are priced on an arm’s length basis.
 
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

 Amounts owed by Amounts owed to

 31-12-15 31-12-14 31-12-15 31-12-14
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Atala SpA 541 1,672 247 19

von Backhaus ApS 260 193 0 0

The  amounts  outstanding  are  not  provided  for  and  will  be  settled  in  cash  and  cash  equivalents.  No  guarantees
have been given or received. No expense has been recognised for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts
owed by related parties.
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Loans to related parties

 31-12-15 31-12-14
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Loans to related parties 828 2,308

During 2015, Accell Fitness B.V. accounted for an impairment of € 1.2 million on a loan to Jalaccell OÜ (refer to note
12. Subsidaries); the remaining € 0.8 million is expected to be collected in 2016.

Other
For explanatory notes on the total remuneration of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board amounting to €
2.7 million, reference is made to the notes on the company financial statements on page 164.

27.      Remuneration of auditors

The total costs for the services rendered by Deloitte Accountants B.V. consist of:

 

Deloitte
Accountants

B.V.

Other
Deloitte
network

Total
Deloitte

Deloitte
Accountants

B.V.

Other
Deloitte
network

Total
Deloitte

   2015   2014
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 
Audit of the financial statements 389 277 666 268 239 507

Other audit assignments 28 129 157 20 147 167

Tax services 0 14 14 0 14 14

Other non-audit services 0 0 0 0 0 0

 417 420 837 288 400 688
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Company balance sheet
Before profit appropriation (in thousands of euros)

 notes 31-12-15 31-12-14
     revised

ASSETS
 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  192  168  
Goodwill  4,342  3,321  
Other intangible assets  308  50  
Financial fixed assets a) 383,737  331,879  

 
Current assets
Amounts receivable from group companies  5,027  6,482  
Other receivables  18,047  17,371  
Cash and cash equivalents  123,688  75,760  

   146,762  99,613

 
Total assets   535,341  435,031

 
EQUITY & LIABILITIES
 

Shareholders' equity
Share capital b) 253  249  
Share premium reserve  44,264  44,384  
Hedging reserve  1,079  2,315  
Translation reserve  -2,473  -6,542  
Other statutory reserve  1,341  1,421  
Other reserves  229,191  212,780  
Net profit for the year  32,286  26,500  

   305,941  281,107

 
Long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing loans  71,388  83,119  
Loans from group companies  2,916  0  
Other provisions  792  0  

   75,096  83,119

Current liabilities
Amounts owed to group companies  3,858  2,155  
Interest-bearing loans and bank overdrafts  137,198  58,306  
Other current liabilities  13,248  10,344  

   154,304  70,805

 
Total equity & liabilities   535,341  435,031

The letters following the various items refer to the notes on pages 162 to 165.
 

http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=venn__balans_en_VenWA&tnote=notes
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=venn__balans_en_VenWA&tnote=a)
http://https://advancedreportingtool.com/docs-protected/accell/Accell_AR_2015/table-notes.php?tcode=venn__balans_en_VenWA&tnote=b)
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Company income statement
(in thousands of euros)

 2015 2014
  revised

 
Net profit from subsidiaries after taxes 38,967 29,769

Other results -6,681 -3,269
 

 32,286 26,500

Accounting policies relating to valuation principles and determination of the result
The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
In  accordance  with  article  2:362  (8)  of  the  Dutch  Civil  Code,  the  accounting  policies  for  the  parent  company  are
identical  to  the  policies  that  Accell  Group  N.V.  applies  with  regard  to  the  consolidated  financial  statements.
Information on the accounting policies is given in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 The  financial  data  of  Accell  Group  N.V.  are  incorporated  in  the  consolidated  financial  statements.  Therefore  an
abbreviated income statement is presented for the company under article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Subsidiaries
In accordance with article 2:362 (8) of the Dutch Civil Code, subsidiaries that are included in the consolidation are
stated at net asset value. The equity and results of the subsidiaries have been determined in accordance with the
accounting policies of Accell Group N.V.
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Notes to the company balance sheet

a) Financial fixed assets

The changes in the financial fixed assets are as follows:

 2015 2014
  revised

Subsidiaries
Balance as at 1 January 221,699 186,236

Net profit 38,967 29,769

Investments / divestments 43,225 0

Dividend payments -21,001 0

Translation differences -248 775

Other movements -1,818 4,919

Balance as at 31 December 280,824 221,699

Receivables from group companies
Balance as at 1 January 110,180 235,150

Loans provided 18,959 29,532

Loans repaid -26,226 -154,502

Balance as at 31 December 102,913 110,180
 

Total financial fixed assets 383,737 331,879

Financial fixed assets includes a liability of € 5.6 million which is equal to the negative equity of € 5.6 million of one
of Accell Group’s subsidaries. Accell Group N.V. is jointly and severally liable for this subsidiary, as intended in
article 403, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code. In 2016 Accell Group N.V. made a contribution to equity resolving the
negative equity balance of the respective subsidiary.

b) Shareholders' equity
The  authorised  capital  amounts  to  €  1,200,000,  divided  into  55,000,000  ordinary  shares,  5,000,000  preference
shares F and 60,000,000 preference shares B, each with a nominal value of € 0.01. Of these, 25,270,327 ordinary
shares have been issued and duly paid, as a result of which the issued and paid-up share capital amounts to
€ 252,703.27.
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Statement of movements in shareholders’ equity

I. Share capital
Balance as at 31 December 2014 249  

Stock dividend 4  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  253

II. Share premium reserve
The share premium reserve includes amounts paid in on the shares over and above the nominal value.   

Balance as at 31 December 2014 44,384  

Stock dividend -4  

Options exercised and stock option plan -116  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  44,264

III. Hedging reserve
The hedging reserves comprises of the effective part of the cumulative net movement in the fair value of the cash-flow
hedging instrument, after allowing for deferred taxes.   

Balance as at 31 December 2014 2,315  

Fair value adjustment of financial instruments -1,616  

Movement in deferred taxes 380  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  1,079

IV. Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises of foreign currency exchange differences on the translation of the foreign currency
balance in participations.   

Revised balance as at 31 December 2014 -6,542  

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 4,069  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  -2,473

V. Statutory reserve
The statutory reserve comprises of capitalised development expenditure and statutory reserve participations.   

Balance as at 31 December 2014 1,421  

Change in intangible assets -90  

Other movements 10  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  1,341

VI. Other reserves
Revised balance as at 31 December 2014 212,780  

Movement of profit 2014 26,500  

Dividend payment 2014 -8,654  

Recognition of share-based payments 355  

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations -1,858  

Movement in deferred taxes 622  

Change in intangible assets 90  

Other movements -644  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  229,191

VII. Profit for the year
Revised balance as at 31 December 2014 26,500  

Movement of profit 2014 -26,500  

Net profit 2015 32,286  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  32,286
 

Total equity as at 31 December 2015  305,941



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Financial statements 164

The statutory reserves, including the hedging reserve (Article 2:390 of the Dutch Civil Code), the translation
reserve (Article 2:389 paragraph 8 of the Dutch Civil Code) and other statutory reserves (capitalised development
costs, Article 2:365 lid 2 Dutch Civil Code and statutory reserve participations, Article 2:389 lid 6 Dutch Civil Code)
are regarded as other statutory reserves pursuant to Article 2:373 of the Dutch Civil Code and, consequently, are
therefore not available for distribution to shareholders.

Remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

Board of Directors
The remuneration of the individual members of the Board of Directors is as follows:

 Salary Bonus
Pension

contributions
Share-based

payments

 in € in € in € in €

 
R.J. Takens 466,000 178,944 143,367 118,841

H.H. Sybesma 358,000 137,114 62,226 91,232

J.M. Snijders Blok 294,000 115,542 65,256 74,969

J. Both 220,500 118,776 43,413 -
 

Total 1,338,500 550,376 314,262 285,042

The company’s remuneration policy is reflected in the remuneration report that has been presented to the General
Meeting of Shareholders for approval. The bonuses reflected in the financial statements relate to the financial year
and depend on the targets set by the Supervisory Board. For 2015 a bonus varying between 38% and 41% of the
salary has been paid out.

Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the individual members of the Supervisory Board is as follows:

 in €

 
A.J. Pasman 51,969

J. van den Belt 40,315

P.B. Ernsting 40,315

A. Kuiper 40,315
 

Total 172,914

Shares
At the end of 2015 Mr. Takens holds 105,860 shares, Mr. Sybesma holds 5,000 shares and Mr. Snijders Blok holds
26,164 shares.

Stock option plan and restricted shares
The company’s long term incentive plan for the Board of Directors comprises restricted shares and stock options.
In the event of full exercise of the option entitlements granted to date and the vesting of the conditional shares the
number of issued shares would increase by 0.5%. According to company policy, the options and shares granted are
not covered by the company’s purchase of its own shares. In case of equity-settlement new shares are issued by
the company at the moment options are exercised.
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The fair value of the employee share options has been measured using an option valuation model (Black-Scholes-
Merton).  Service  and  non-market  performance  conditions  attached  to  the  transactions  were  not  taken  into
account in measuring fair value. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payment plans were as follows:

 2015 2014
 

Expected volatility (weighted-average) 25.53% 25.40%

Expected life (weighted-average) 3.8 3.8

Expected dividends 4.50% 4.10%

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.42% 1.85%

Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the Accell Group N.V.’s share price,
particularly over the historical period commensurate with the expected term. The expected term of the
instruments has been based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour.

Below an overview is provided on the number and movement in stock option entitlements:

 
Number at
31-12-14

Number at
31-12-15

Granting
date Expiry date

Exercise
price

Fair value at
granting

date

Average
exercise

price
Options
Granted in 2010 25,640 0 19-02-10 3-5 year € 16.65 € 2.84 n/a

Granted in 2011 24,480 24,480 24-02-11 3-5 year € 19.39 € 3.57 n/a

Granted in 2014 7,950 7,950 26-2-2014 3-8 year € 14.13 € 2.13 n/a

Granted in 2015 0 28,150 4-3-2015 3-8 year € 15.92 € 1.90 n/a

Only the options granted in 2011 are exercisable at 31 December 2015.

The stock option entitlements that have been granted comprise of the following:

 
Number at

1-1-15
Issued in

2015
Expered in

2015
Number at
31-12-15

Average
exercise

price
beginning of

period

Average
exercise
price at

year-end

Weighted
average
term at

year-end

Directors
R.J. Takens 23,780 11,750 10,480 25,050 € 17.45 € 17.07 4.24

H.H. Sybesma 18,810 9,000 8,320 19,490 € 17.46 € 17.10 4.18

J.M.Snijders Blok 15,480 7,400 6,840 16,040 € 17.47 € 17.10 4.18

 58,070 28,150 25,640 60,580    

The Supervisory Board awards options to the directors based on the realisation of targets set in agreement with
the Board of Directors and the expected contribution that the members of the Board of Directors will make to the
further development of the company. After granting, the stock options are unconditional.
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Employees
Accell Group N.V. has an average of 26 employees in 2015 (2014: 25).

Wages and salaries, social security charges and pension contributions amounts to € 4.1 million, € 0.2 million and €
0.5 million in 2015 (2014: € 3.6 million, € 0.2 million and € 0.4 million).

Commitments
The legal entity is part of the “Accell Group N.V.” fiscal unity, and as such is jointly and severally liable for the tax
liability of the fiscal unity as a whole.

In accordance with article 2:403 (1f) of the Dutch Civil Code, the company has accepted joint and several liability for
the liabilities arising from acts with legal consequences of the Dutch subsidiaries. Notices to that effect have been
filed with the chamber of commerce where the legal entity on whose behalf the notice of liability has been given is
registered.

Supervisory Board
A.J. Pasman, chairman
J. van den Belt, vice-chairman
P.B. Ernsting
A. Kuiper

Board of Directors
R.J. Takens, CEO
H.H. Sybesma, CFO
J.M. Snijders Blok, COO
J.J. Both, CSCO

 Heerenveen, March 14, 2016
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Other information

Profit appropriation pursuant to the Articles of Association
Article 25 (partial)

Paragraph 4
The Board of Directors, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, is authorised to determine which part of
the profit shall be allocated to the reserves, after payment of dividends to the holders of both ‘B’ preference shares
and ‘F’ preference shares.

Paragraph 5
The  profit  then  remaining  shall  be  at  the  disposal  of  the  general  meeting  of  shareholders  for  the  holders  of
ordinary  shares.  Pursuant  to  a  proposal  of  the  Board  of  Directors  that  has  been  approved  by  the  Supervisory
Board, the general meeting of shareholders may resolve that all or part of a dividend distribution to the holders of
ordinary shares shall be made in shares in the share capital of the company instead of cash.

Dividend proposal

The Board of Directors proposes to pay shareholders a dividend of € 0.72 per share (2014: € 0.61),  to be paid in
cash or shares at the shareholder’s discretion.
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Independent auditor’s report

To: The shareholders and supervisory board of Accell Group N.V.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2015

Our opinion
We  have  audited  the  financial  statements  2015  of  Accell  Group  N.V.  (the  company),  based  in  Heerenveen.  The
financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.

In our opinion:

the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Accell Group N.V. as at■

December 31, 2015, and of its result and its cash flows for 2015, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code;
the company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Accell Group N.V. as at■

December 31, 2015, and of its result for 2015 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The scope of our audit
The consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2015;1.

the following statements for 2015:

the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity2.
and cash flows; and
the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.3.

The company financial statements comprise:

the company balance sheet as at December 31, 2015;1.
the company profit and loss account for 2015; and2.
the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.3.

BASIS FOR OUR OPINION

We  conducted  our  audit  in  accordance  with  Dutch  law,  including  the  Dutch  Standards  on  Auditing.  Our
responsibilities  under  those  standards  are  further  described  in  the  “Our  responsibilities  for  the  audit  of  the
financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of Accell Group N.V. in accordance with the Regulation on Auditor Independence in Assurance
Engagements  [“Verordening  inzake  de  onafhankelijkheid  van  accountants”  –  ViO]  and  other  relevant  independence
regulations  in  the  Netherlands.  Furthermore  we  have  complied  with  the  Regulation  on  Rules  of  Professional
Conduct and Practice of Accountants [“Verordening Gedrags- en Beroepsregels Accountants” – VGBA].

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Materiality
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,  individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of  users taken on the basis  of  these financial
statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

Based  on  our  professional  judgement  we  determined  the  materiality  for  the  financial  statements  as  a  whole  at
€ 3.5 million. The materiality is based on 7.5% of profit before tax. We have also taken into account misstatements
and/or  possible  misstatements  that  in  our  opinion  are  material  for  the  users  of  the  financial  statements  for
qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the supervisory board that misstatements in excess of € 175 thousand, which are identified during
the  audit,  would  be  reported  to  them,  as  well  as  smaller  misstatements  that  in  our  view  must  be  reported  on
qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit
Accell  Group  N.V.  is  at  the  head  of  a  group  of  entities.  The  financial  information  of  this  group  is  included  in  the
consolidated financial statements of Accell Group N.V.

Because  we  are  ultimately  responsible  for  the  opinion,  we  are  also  responsible  for  directing,  supervising  and
performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to
be performed for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations.
On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be performed on the complete set of
financial information or specific items.

Our  group  audit  mainly  focused  on  significant  group  entities.  The  significant  group  entities  are  Accell  Nederland
B.V., Accell North America Inc., Accell Germany GmbH, and Accell Asia Taiwan Co. Ltd. Full-scope audits have been
performed with the first  three group entities because these group entities have a significant  individual  size.  The
last  group  entity,  Accell  Asia  Taiwan  Co.  Ltd.,  is  significant  because  of  the  fraud  relating  to  the  payment
organization.  Agreed-upon  procedures  have  been  performed  in  respect  of  Accell  Asia  Taiwan  Co.  Ltd.,  with  the
support of forensic experts.
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In  addition,  three  group  entities  have  been  included  in  the  scope  of  the  group  audit  so  as  to  obtain  sufficient
coverage  for  the  audit  of  individual  items  of  the  consolidated  financial  statements,  i.e.,  Raleigh  UK  Ltd,  Cycle
Lapierre S.A.S. and Accell Bisiklet A.S. Agreed-upon audit procedures have been performed on financial statement
items at twelve group entities, in order to obtain sufficient coverage for the related financial statement as a whole.
In addition, local Deloitte auditors have performed review procedures at four group entities.

The total coverage obtained relating to the following the financial statement items is as follows:

None of the group entities falling outside the audit scope represent more than 2% of the consolidated turnover or
of  the  consolidated  balance  sheet  total.  The  procedures  we  have  performed  at  group  level  in  respect  of  the
financial information of these other group entities include risk-oriented analytical procedures. This should confirm
our estimation that these entities do not include significant risks of material misstatement.

We  have  engaged  Deloitte  Netherlands  and  foreign  Deloitte  offices  to  perform  audit  procedures  at  all  group
entities, based on the instructions of the group team.

Where  audit  procedures  have  been  performed  by  auditors  of  group  entities,  we  have  determined  the  extent  in
which our involvement was necessary to be able draw a conclusion as to whether sufficient audit information has
been obtained about these entities as a basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.
This  financial  year  we have visited the auditors  of  the group entities  in  the Netherlands and Germany.  We have
held several telephone meetings with the management and the auditors in the United Kingdom. Likewise, we have
consulted with our colleagues at several moments during the audit to agree the audit approach and audit findings
and we have examined the locally performed procedures for a number of specific audit components.

The group team has audited the consolidation of the group, the notes to the financial statements, and a number of
specific components. These components regard the valuation of goodwill, the valuation of brands, the valuation of
deferred tax assets, the recognition of the corrections of errors for pensions, acquisitions that took place in 2015,
and the share-based payments.

By  performing  the  procedures  mentioned  above  at  group  entities,  together  with  additional  procedures  at  group
level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s financial information
to issue an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Our key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial  statements.  We have communicated the key audit  matters to the supervisory board.  The key audit
matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. Our findings on
the individual key audit matters should be viewed from that perspective and not as separate opinions on these key
audit matters.
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Key audit matters Our audit of the key audit matters
Valuation of goodwill
Please refer to the financial statements, page 119 (Accounting policies) and
note 10 (Goodwill). As at December 31, 2015 the goodwill in the financial
statements was € 58.2 million (2014: € 55.6 million). The annual goodwill
impairment test is based on estimates and assumptions of the Board of
Directors. For the valuation of goodwill the realizable value has been
determined on the basis of the historically realized growth factors of the past
three years (see note 10 in the financial statements). These have been
calculated to arrive at the expected free cash flows for the years 2016
through 2020, taking into account an end value for the period afterwards.
Based on the goodwill impairment test the Board of Directors has concluded
that there is no impairment.

Our audit procedures have been aimed at items such as the correctness of
the calculations and the substantiation of the assumptions on which the
expected future cash flows are based. We have called in a Deloitte
valuation expert to examine the cost of capital and the method applied.
The historically realized growth factors have been tested for consistency
with the previous financial statements, and internal reports.

Valuation of deferred tax assets
Please refer to the financial statements page 119 (Accounting policies) and
note 19 (Deferred taxes). As at December 31, 2015 the deferred tax assets in
the financial statements amount to € 6.7 million (2014: € 7.4 million). The
company has recognized these deferred tax assets because it is likely they
will be able to realize these deferred tax assets as a result of the fiscal profits
to be expected in the future. These deferred tax assets particularly refer to
Accell North America. The expected realization of these deferred tax assets
are based on estimates and assumptions of the Board of Directors. The
valuation of the deferred tax assets has been one of our key audit matters,
as they are of material significance for the financial statements. They are
based on the hidden reserves for tax purposes, forecasts and assumptions
about the future profitability, which may deviate in reality.

Our audit has focused on the realizability of the deferred tax assets. We
have called in a Deloitte tax expert to assist us in our procedures. The
likelihood of the tax assets being realized is affected by uncertainties,
such as the expiry period of the deductible losses and the future tax
profits available. Our procedures included a test of the assumptions
applied.

Recognition of pensions
Please refer to the financial statements page 119 (Accounting policies) and
paragraph 18 (Pension provisions and receivables). Accell Group N.V. has a
defined benefit scheme in the United Kingdom. In response to a different
view of the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets, Accell has
recorded the full pension receivable of € 20.2 million in 2015. The
comparative figures have been adapted accordingly.

The recognition of and the notes to the pensions has been one of our key
audit matters, in particular the recognition of and notes to the surplus of
the pension fund in the United Kingdom, as well as the evaluation and
correct application of the corrections of errors in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 8.

Financial theft AAT
As reported in the press release of January 27, 2016, Accell Group N.V. has
been faced with a case of financial theft by one of its employees at Accell
Asia Taiwan Ltd. Co. (AAT). Following up on the financial theft, the Board of
Directors, supported by a forensic expert, has examined the cause of this
financial theft and prepared a recovery plan for AAT as well as for the group
as a whole.

In response to this occurrence in Taiwan, we have expanded the audit
scope and we have tested the internal control measures of Accell’s Asian
entities in respect of payments. Likewise, we had our internal forensic
experts perform test procedures on the payments in 2015. We have called
on an internal forensic expert to assess the procedures performed by the
forensic expert commissioned by Accell. What’s more, we have taken
notice of the recovery plan for both AAT and the group as a whole.

Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial statements
Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial  statements  in  accordance
with  EU-IFRS  and  Part  9  of  Book  2  of  the  Dutch  Civil  Code,  and  for  the  preparation  of  the  management  board
report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil  Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for
such  internal  control  as  management  determines  is  necessary  to  enable  the  preparation  of  the  financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. As part of the preparation of
the financial  statements,  management is  responsible  for  assessing the company’s  ability  to  continue as a  going
concern.  Based  on  the  financial  reporting  frameworks  mentioned,  management  should  prepare  the  financial
statements  using  the  going  concern  basis  of  accounting  unless  management  either  intends  to  liquidate  the
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our  objective  is  to  plan  and  perform  the  audit  assignment  in  a  manner  that  allows  us  to  obtain  sufficient  and
appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.
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Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have
detected all errors and fraud.
A complete description of our responsibilities is available on www.nba.nl/standaardteksten-controleverklaring.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Report on the management board report and the other information
Pursuant  to  legal  requirements  of  Part  9  of  Book  2  of  the  Dutch  Civil  Code  (concerning  our  obligation  to  report
about the management board report and other information):

We have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the management board report, to the■

extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and
whether the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code has been annexed.
We report that the management board report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial■

statements.

Appointment
We were appointed the auditor of Accell Group N.V. in 1998 and have been the auditor since then.

Utrecht, March 14, 2016

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

drs. A.J. Heitink RA
 

http://www.nba.nl/standaardteksten-controleverklaring




Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Other Information 175

8 Historical summary

(in millions of euro, unless stated otherwise)

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
 

Net turnover 986.4 882.4 849.0 772.5 628.5 577.2 572.6 538.0

Personnel costs 119.3 107.4 106.6 101.6 80.6 76.6 73.5 71.5

Operating profit (EBIT) 58.5 44.1 33.9 32.7 34.8 46.4 49.9 46.2

Financial income and expenses -9.1 -8.8 -11.7 -6.9 -7.8 -4.2 -5.5 -6.0

Taxes 16.2 9.3 3.7 2.6 3.1 5.8 11.8 11.8

Net profit 32.3 26.5 19.0 23.3 40.3 36.4 32.7 28.6

Depreciation 10.1 8.9 8.7 8.2 7.4 7.5 7.4 6.9

Free cash flow 1 -31.1 38.3 -30.9 -19.9 16.9 -1.1 27.1 12.2

Investments in property, plant and equipment 10.8 10.6 6.8 22.8 11.2 6.2 6.7 12.9

Balance sheet total 729.7 631.8 582.1 589.7 434.0 383.9 337.3 335.4

Property, plant and equipment 69.8 68.1 65.1 71.2 64.1 59.6 61.2 61.3

Capital employed 2 530.3 461.2 449.6 407.5 349.2 301.2 258.7 259.3

Group equity 305.9 281.1 240.0 239.8 214.6 180.4 151.8 132.1

Net debt 200.0 152.3 183.5 143.8 115.7 100.5 84.8 99.0

Provisions 31.2 34.0 32.7 27.9 22.5 23.3 33.1 31.3
 

Average number of employees (FTEs) 3,037 2,796 2,926 2,776 2,234 1,877 1,787 1,778

Number of issued shares at year-end 25,270,327 24,864,956 24,402,849 23,863,432 21,094,760 20,609,012 20,034,168 19,556,344

Weighted average number of issued shares 25,116,249 24,685,681 24,195,467 22,897,471 20,905,497 20,385,290 19,856,130 19,342,818

Market capitalization 532.4 338.2 327.0 317.6 297.4 389.5 292.2 176.0
Data per share 3(in euros)
Group equity 12.18 11.21 9.59 9.90 9.37 7.93 6.68 5.83

Free cash flow -1.24 1.53 -1.23 -0.82 0.74 -0.05 1.19 0.54

Net profit 1.29 1.06 0.76 0.96 1.76 1.60 1.44 1.26

Dividend 4) 0.72 0.60 0.53 0.71 0.84 0.77 0.69 0.61
Ratios (in %)
ROCE 11.0 9.6 7.5 8.0 10.0 15.4 19.3 17.8

ROE 10.6 9.4 7.9 9.7 18.8 20.2 21.6 21.6

Operating profit/turnover 5.9 5.0 4.0 4.2 5.5 8.0 8.7 8.6

Net profit/turnover 3.3 3.0 2.2 3.0 6.4 6.3 5.7 5.3

Free cash flow/turnover -3.2 4.3 -3.6 -2.6 2.7 7.6 7.0 7.0

Balance sheet total/turnover 74.0 71.6 68.6 76.3 69.1 66.5 58.9 62.3

Solvency (based on group capital) 41.9 44.5 41.2 40.7 49.4 47.0 45.0 39.4

Net debt/ EBITDA 5) 2.8 2.8 4.0 2.7 2.6 1.9 1.5 1.8

Pay-out ratio 56.0 56.8 70.0 74.1 47.8 47.9 47.9 48.1

Dividend yield (including dilution 3)) 3.4 4.4 4.0 5.3 6.0 4.1 4.7 6.7
 

Closing price of share 21.07 13.60 13.40 13.31 14.10 18.90 14.59 9.00
 1) Free cash flow is defined as the balance of the net cash flow from operating- and investment activities.

 2) Capital employed is the balance sheet total minus cash and cash equivalents and current non-interest bearing obligations (including current part of provisions).

 3) The data per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of issued shares. The data per share for the years 2008-2014 have been adjusted for the dilution
resulting from the issue of stock dividend charged to the share premium reserve in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS33). The adjustment factor
that was applied in the reporting year for 2014 and for previous years is 0.98422.

 4) The dividend per share relating to the financial year 2015 concerns the proposal to be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

 5) EBITDA is based on the operating profit adjusted with one-off items.
 



Accell Group • Annual Report 2015 • Other Information 176

9 Other Information

 Brands

 

Batavus (1904) has been around for more 110 years and is considered one of the strongest, best known and most
innovative  Dutch  brands.  Batavus  makes  extremely  comfortable  and  durable  high-quality  bicycles  for  a  broad
user-base, but also designs smart and useful innovations that make cycling safer and more fun. www.batavus.com

Sparta  (1917)  is  the  pioneer  in  electrically-assisted  bicycles  and  market  leader  in  e-bike  innovations  in  the
Netherlands.  Sparta  works  continuously  on  technology-driven  product  development,  while  simultaneously
exploring new target groups and new market segments for e-bikes. Sparta’s e-bikes are part of an eye-catching
city-bike collection targeting the mid and higher-range segment of the market. www.sparta.nl

Winora (1914) has been a household name in Germany for almost a century as a maker of bicycles for the whole
family, from the smallest children’s bike to a sporty trekking bike right through to the latest in electrically-assisted
models. Winora bikes are modern, top quality and durable. www.winora.de
 
 

http://www.batavus.com
http://www.sparta.nl
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Haibike (1995) produces sporty bikes, including a collection of e-performance models defined by ground-breaking
design and innovation. The product range varies from sports bikes for beginners to top-quality professional racing
bikes, together with special-purpose racing and mountain bikes for downhill,  free ride and cross-country cycling.
www.haibike.de
 
 

Koga (1974) is a Dutch brand that stands for top quality sporty bikes, with products aimed at passionate cyclists.
The  Koga  Research  &  Development  team  and  the  Quality  Center  are  the  driving  forces  behind  the  company’s
exceptional  dedication  to  innovation  and  quality.  All  Koga  bikes  are  hand-made  by  dedicated  specialists.
www.koga.com

Loekie (1980)  produces the best-looking and safest  bicycles for  children between three and seven years of  age.
Whether  we’re  talking  cool  bikes  for  boys  or  a  pink  bike  fit  for  a  princess,  we  always  provide  A-quality  at  a
reasonable price. www.loekie.nl

Staiger  (1898)  is  a  trendsetter  in  the  fast-growing  market  for  lightweight  bicycles  in  the  trekking  and  touring
segment.  The  well-known  Staiger  brand  is  aimed  primarily  at  demanding  consumers  who  set  great  store  by
comfort and top quality. www.staiger-fahrrad.de
 
 

http://www.koga.com
http://www.loekie.nl
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The trendsetting bicycles produced by Ghost (1993) stand out thanks to their  innovative technologies and come
complete with small but striking details. The German brand’s name recognition has been boosted by the successes
of the Ghost Factory Racing Team and the Ghost AMR competition. www.ghost-bikes.com

Lapierre  (1946)  stands  for  top  sporting  performances,  top  quality  and  ground-breaking  innovations  with  French
panache. The Pro Tour Road Team and a World Cup DH Team have been hugely successful riding Lapierre bicycles.
The Lapierre bike makers have proven their immense technical know-how with the development of the Overvolt
e-bike models. The Lapierre brand stands for a lifestyle driven by passion and performance, both on the road and
off-track. www.cycles-lapierre.fr

Juncker  Bike  Parts  (1912)  is  one  of  the  largest  suppliers  of  bicycle  parts  and  accessories  in  the  Benelux  region.
Juncker supplies over 12,000 products, including its own XLC brand, directly to the retailer sector via the ordering
system Accentry developed by Accell Group. www.junckerbikeparts.nl

Brasseur (1913) is the exclusive distributor of high-grade bicycle parts, accessories and bicycle brands in Belgium,
with a special focus on the Francophone part of the country. The company works closely with Juncker Bike Parts
and E. Wiener Bike Parts. www.cyclesdiamond.be / www.viper-sconcept.eu / www.brasseur-bicycles.com
 
 

http://www.ghost-bikes.com
http://www.cycles-lapierre.fr
http://www.junckerbikeparts.nl
http://www.cyclesdiamond.be
http://www.viper-sconcept.eu
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Torker  Bicycles  produces  bicycles  that  allow  average  intermediate  cyclists  of  all  ages  to  learn  to  cycle  and  gain
experience.  Torker  has a wide range of  models for  commuter traffic  and transport,  as well  as children’s  bicycles
and bikes designed for elderly people.  Torker is sold primarily via independent bicycle retailers in North America.
www.torkerusa.com

Redline  Bicycles  (1974)  is  a  leading  brand  in  the  off-road  sports  bikes  segment.  The  brand  manufactures
technically advanced models for the BMX, cyclo cross and mountain bike segments. Redline also has a large range
of  popular  parts  and  accessories  for  the  BMX  enthusiast.  The  brand  is  sold  primarily  via  independent  bicycle
retailers in North America. www.redlinebicycles.com

E.  Wiener  Bike  Parts  (1914)  is  a  household  name  in  Germany  and  France  as  a  supplier  of  bicycle  parts  and
accessories. Thanks to the company’s numerous exclusive distribution licences, E. Wiener Bike Parts is a one-stop
shop for the German retail sector. www.bike-parts.de

SBS  (1974)  supplies  bicycles,  bike  parts  and  accessories  to  specialist  retailers  across  North  America,  under  the
brand names Redline, Torker, Pryme Gear, SBS Wheel Works and XLC. The company has three distribution centers
in  North  America,  giving  it  access  to  virtually  all  specialist  bicycle  retailers  in  the  United  States.
www.seattlebikesupply.com
 
 

http://www.torkerusa.com
http://www.redlinebicycles.com
http://www.bike-parts.de
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XLC  (2001)  is  the  young,  global  premium  brand  for  Accell  Group’s  bicycle  parts  and  accessories.  The  company
supplies  a  complete  line  of  products  for  mountain  and  racing  bikes,  but  also  for  touring  and  city  bikes.
www.xlc-parts.com

Nishiki  (1965) produces trekking bikes,  ATBs and racing bikes for the top market segment.  The brand stands for
innovation, quality and performance. The Finnish design, ground-breaking in terms of ergonomics and colour use,
appeals  to  professionals  and  enthusiasts  looking  for  something  truly  extraordinary.  www.nishiki.com  /
www.nishiki.fi

Atala (1921) is a renowned Italian brand that stands for riding comfort and reliability. The company supplies a wide
range  of  sporty  bicycles,  children’s  bikes  and  city  bikes  for  a  broad  user  base.  Atala  has  its  own  distribution
network of independent dealers across Italy. www.atala.it

Tunturi (1922) is a well-known bicycle brand in the Scandinavian market, with a collection that clearly stands out
from  the  average  product  ranges  in  Finland  and  Sweden.  The  brand  produces  bicycles  as  well  as  parts  and
accessories. www.tunturi.fi
 
 

http://www.xlc-parts.com
http://www.nishiki.fi
http://www.atala.it
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Currie  Technologies  (1997)  designs  and  sells  high-grade,  technologically  advanced  electrically  assisted  bicycles.
Currie is one of the oldest and most experienced developers and distributors of e-bikes in the US, via its IZIP, eFlow
and  Haibike  Xduro  brands.  The  product  range  includes  models  that  meet  customers’  desire  for  an  inexpensive
alternative for mobility, leisure time, exercise and simple fun. www.currietech.com

Carraro  (1924)  is  a  classic  Italian  brand  in  the  top  segment  for  trekking  and  racing  bikes.  A  Carraro  bike  is  the
embodiment  of  excellence  in  technology,  the  best  performance  and  reliability  and  innovative  design.
www.carrarocicli.com

The Raleigh (1887) brand is a worldwide icon. Raleigh has its roots in Nottingham, United Kingdom and is now sold
in  many  countries  across  the  world.  The  timeless  British  image  and  the  company’s  rich  history  in  professional
cycling  are  a  constant  in  the  company’s  marketing  of  the  brand.  Raleigh  supplies  bicycles  for  a  wide  user  base,
from  children’s  bikes  to  professional  racing  bikes,  always  recognizable  thanks  to  their  by  quality  and  reliability.
www.raleigh.co.uk

The  Raleigh  brand  has  an  outstanding  track  record.  It  is  one  of  the  fastest  growing  brands  in  the  US  market.
Raleigh bicycles exude a sense of fun,  family,  fitness and community,  all  at attractive prices.  Good for users and
good for the environment. www.raleighusa.com

Diamondback  (1977)  is  one  of  the  pioneers  in  the  world  of  BMX.  Diamondback  now  offers  a  wide  range  of
innovative products for every bicycle segment and helps cyclists to explore and stretch their boundaries. The brand
is  known  for  the  value  and  quality  of  its  bikes  in  every  price  range  and  category.  The  Pro  Cycling  team  of
Diamondback was in 2014 the most successful team in North America. www.diamondback.com
 
 

http://www.currietech.com
http://www.carrarocicli.com
http://www.raleigh.co.uk
http://www.raleighusa.com
http://www.diamondback.com
http://www.diamondback.com
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Comet  (1886)  is  the  largest  provider  of  high  quality  bicycle  part  and  accessories  in  Spain  and  a  top  5  player  in
France.  Comet  has  an  impressive  number  of  exclusive  distribution  agreements  with  various  well  known brands.
www.comet.es

Van  Nicholas  (1999)  is  a  Dutch  brand  specialised  in  the  development  and  manufacture  of  highgrade  titanium
sports  bikes.  A  team  of  true  professionals  guarantees  a  very  special  collection  of  bicycles  and  accessories.  The
brand  stands  for  the  ultimate  cycling  experience  for  every  individual  user.  This  brand  is  all  about  passion,
dedication and a constant striving for perfection. www.vannicholas.com

Cycle Service Nordic ApS is the Nordic distributor of bike components from SRAM and other brands and the Nordic
SRAM Technical Centre. The company is represented with offices in Denmark, Sweden, Norway and Finland. The
customers  of  Cycle  Service  Nordic  are  professional  bike  dealers,  bike  manufactures  and  wholesale  dealers.
www.cycleservicenordic.com
 
 

http://www.comet.es
http://www.vannicholas.com
http://www.cycleservicenordic.com
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Addresses
 

Accell Group N.V.
Postbus 435, 8440 AK
Industrieweg 4
8444 AR Heerenveen
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)513 638 703
F +31 (0)513 638 709
accell-group.com

Accell Asia Taiwan Co., Ltd.
24F-3, No. 123, Sec. 3,Taichung
Port Road, Xitun Dist.,
Taichung City 40767 Taiwan
T + 886 4 23599500
F + 886 4 23595887

Accell Bisiklet A.S.
Oranize Sanayi Bolgesi 3. kisim
Ahmet Tütüncüoglu Caddesi No 1
Manisa, Turkey
T +90 (0) 236 213 00 45
F +90 (0) 236 213 00 50
accellbisiklet.com.tr

Accell Hunland Kft.
Parkólo tér 1
5091 Tószeg Hungary
T + 36 565 86481
F + 36 565 86484
accell-hunland.hu

Accell North America Inc
6004 South 190th Street, Suite 101
Kent, WA 98032
USA
T +1 253 395 1100
F +1 253 872 9490

Accell Suisse AG
Industriestrasse 21
6055 Alpnach Dorf Switzerland
T + 41 41 670 2190
F + 41 41 670 2191
accell-suisse.ch
Brasseur S.A.
Rue des Steppes 13 B-4000
Liege, Belgium
T +32 4 2 28 72 60
F +32 4 2 27 40 78
brasseur-bicycles.com

Comet Distribuciones Comerciales S.L.
Polígono Erratzu 440
20130 Urnieta (Gipuzkoa) Spain
T +34 (0) 943 331 393
F +34 (0) 943 555 658
comet.es

Currie Tech Corp.
3850A Royal Avenue Simi Valley, CA 93063
USA
T +1 805 915 49 00
F +1 805 915 43 21
currietech.com

Cycles Lapierre S.A.S.
Rue Edmond Voisenet, 21005
Dijon Cédex, France
T +33 3 80 525 186
F +33 3 80 520 851
cycles-lapierre.fr

Cycles France Loire S.A.S.
Avenue de l’Industrie, 42160
Saint Cyprien, France
T + 33 967406543

Cycles Service Nordic
Datavej 12, 5220
Odnse SØ, Denmark
T + 45 65992411
cycleservicenordic.com

http://www.accell-group.com/
http://www.accellbisiklet.com.tr/
http://www.accell-hunland.hu/
http://www.accell-suisse.ch/
http://www.brasseur-bicycles.com/
http://www.comet.es/
http://www.currietech.com/
http://www.cycles-lapierre.fr/
http://www.cycleservicenordic.com
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Ghost-Bikes GmbH
An der Tongrube 3
D-95652
Waldsassen, Germany
T +49 (0)9632 9255-0
F +49 (0)9632 9255-16
ghost-bikes.com

Raleigh UK Ltd
Church Street, Eastwood
Nottingham, NG16 3HT
Great Britain
T +44 1773 532 600
F +44 1773 532 601
raleigh.co.uk

Raleigh Canada Ltd
2124 London Lane
Oakville, Ontario L6H 5V8
Canada
T +1 905 829 5555
raleigh-canada.ca

Swissbike Vertriebs GmbH
Industriestrasse 21
6055 Alpnach Dorf Switzerland
T + 41 41 670 2190
F + 41 41 670 2191

Tunturi-Hellberg Oy Ltd
Varusmestarintie 26
FIN-20360
Turku, Finland
T +358 (0)10 27 33 200
F +358 (0)10 27 33 202
tunturi.fi

Vartex AB
Batterivägen 14
SE - 432 32
Varberg, Sweden
T +46 (0) 340 64 60 00
F +46 (0) 340 61 11 90
vartex.se

E. Wiener Bike Parts GmbH
Max-Planck-Straße 8 D-97526
Sennfeld, Germany
T +49 (0)9721 6501-0
F +49 (0)9721 6501-60
bike-parts.de

Winora-Staiger GmbH
Max-Planck-Straße 6
D-97526
Sennfeld, Germany
T +49 (0)9721 6594-0
F +49 (0)9721 6594-45
winora-group.de

 
 
 

 
 
 

http://www.ghost-bikes.com/
http://www.raleigh.co.uk/
http://www.raleigh-canada.ca/
http://www.tunturi.fi/
http://www.vartex.se/
http://www.bike-parts.de/
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Accell Nederland B.V.
Postbus 515, 8440 AM
Industrieweg 4
8444 AR Heerenveen,
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)513 638 999
F +31 (0)513 638 262

Batavus
Industrieweg 4
8444 AR Heerenveen
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)513 638 999
F +31 (0)513 638 262
batavus.com

Koga
Tinweg 9
8445 PD Heerenveen
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)513 630 111
F +31 (0)513 633 289
koga.com

Sparta
Wilmersdorf 37
7327 AD Apeldoorn
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)55 357 87 00
F +31 (0)55 357 87 05
sparta.nl

Juncker Bike Parts
Wilmersdorf 37,
7327AD Apeldoorn
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)318 553 030
F +31 (0)318 553 211
junckerbikeparts.nl

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

http://www.batavus.com/
http://www.koga.com/
http://www.sparta.nl/
http://www.junckerbikeparts.nl
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